# 博士論文

論文題目 Studies on singular Hermitian metrics and their applications in algebraic geometry (特異エルミート計量の研究と 代数幾何学への応用)

# 氏 名 岩井 雅崇

# Studies on singular Hermitian metrics and their applications in algebraic geometry

Masataka IWAI

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, THE UNIVERSITY OF TOKYO, 3-8-1 KOMABA, TOKYO, 153-8914, JAPAN. *E-mail address*: masataka@ms.u-tokyo.ac.jp, masataka.math@gmail.com

# Contents

| Preface                |   | 5  |
|------------------------|---|----|
| Acknowledgement        |   | 9  |
| Chapter 1. Preliminary |   | 11 |
| 1.1.                   | Notations   | 11 |
| 1.2.                   | Singular hermitian metrics on line bundles.                     | 11 |
| 1.3.                   | Algebraic positivity of line bundles                            | 12 |
| 1.4.                   | Singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles.                   | 12 |
| 1.5.                   | Algebraic positivity on vector bundles                          | 14 |
| 1.6.                   | MRC fibrations  | 17 |
| 1.7.                   | Singular Foliations   | 17 |
| Chapte                 | er 2. On the global generation of direct images                 |    |
|                        | of pluri-adjoint line bundles                                   | 19 |
| 2.1.                   | Introduction  | 19 |
| 2.2.                   | Preliminary   | 21 |
| 2.3.                   | Proof of main theorem   | 21 |
| 2.4.                   | On a log case   | 24 |
| Chapte                 | er 3. Nadel-Nakano vanishing theorems of vector bundles         |    |
|                        | with singular hermitian metrics                                 | 27 |
| 3.1.                   | Introduction  | 27 |
| 3.2.                   | Preliminaries   | 30 |
| 3.3.                   | Coherence of $E(h)$   | 31 |
| 3.4.                   | Vanishing theorems and injectivity theorems                     | 33 |
| 3.5.                   | Applications  | 36 |
| 3.6.                   | On Ohsawa's vanishing theorem                                   | 38 |
| Chapte                 | er 4. Characterization of pseudo-effective vector bundles       |    |
|                        | by singular hermitian metrics                                   | 41 |
| 4.1.                   | Introduction  | 41 |
| 4.2.                   | A singular hermitian metric on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$ | 42 |
| 4.3.                   | Proof of main theorems  | 45 |

# CONTENTS

| 4.4. On the case of torsion-free coherent sheaves   | 51 |
|---|----|
| Chapter 5. On projective manifolds with             |    |
| pseudo-effective tangent bundle                     | 53 |
| 5.1. Introduction                                   | 53 |
| 5.2. Proof of the main results                      | 55 |
| 5.3. Surfaces with pseudo-effective tangent bundle  | 65 |
| Chapter 6. Miscellanies                             | 79 |
| 6.1. Lelong number and non Kähler locus             | 79 |
| 6.2. An example of a rationally connected manifold. | 83 |
| 6.3. Higher Fujita's decomposition                  | 84 |
| Bibliography  |    |

4

# Preface

We study proper surjective morphisms by using singular Hermitian metrics and applications of singular Hermitian metrics of vector bundles.

In Chapter 2, we study the following Fujita-type conjecture proposed by Popa and Schnell.

CONJECTURE 0.0.1 ([**PS14**] Conjecture 1.3). Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties, with Y of dimension n, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. For any  $a \ge 1$ , the sheaf

$$f_*(K_X^{\otimes a}) \otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is globally generated for all  $b \ge a(n+1)$ .

We give a partial answer of this conjecture and we obtain an effective bound on the global generation of a direct image of a pluri-adjoint line bundle on the regular locus.

THEOREM 0.0.2. [Iwa17] Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties, with Y of dimension n, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. If y is a regular value of f, then for any  $a \ge 1$  the sheaf

$$f_*(K_X^{\otimes a}) \otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is generated by the global sections at y for all  $b \ge \frac{n(n-1)}{2} + a(n+1)$ .

We also obtain an effective bound on the generic global generation for a Kawamata log terminal Q-pair. We use analytic methods such as *m*-Bergman type metric on  $mK_{X/Y}$ , relative Ohsawa-Takegoshi type  $L^2$  extension theorem,  $L^2$  estimates, and injective theorems of cohomology groups.

In Chapter 3, we study a Nadel-Nakano type vanishing theorem of a vector bundle with a singular hermitian metric.

THEOREM 0.0.3. [Iwa18a] Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a compact Kähler manifold and (E, h) be a holomorphic vector bundle on X with a singular hermitian metric. We assume the following conditions.

- (1) There exists a proper analytic subset Z such that h is smooth on  $X \setminus Z$ .
- (2)  $he^{-\zeta}$  is a positively curved singular hermitian metric on E for some continuous function  $\zeta$  on X.

#### PREFACE

(3) There exists a positive number  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} - \epsilon\omega \otimes Id_E \ge 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano.

Then  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h)) = 0$  holds for any  $q \ge 1$ .

E(h) is a higher rank version of multiplier ideal sheaf. We also obtain a generalization of Griffiths' vanishing theorem and a generalization of Ohsawa's vanishing theorem.

In Chapter 4 we give complex geometric descriptions of the notions of algebraic geometric positivity of vector bundles and torsion-free coherent sheaves, such as nef, big, pseudo-effective and weakly positive, by using singular hermitian metrics.

THEOREM 0.0.4. [Iwa18b] Let X be a smooth projective variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle on X.

- (1) E is nef iff there exists an ample line bundle A on X such that  $\text{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive smooth hermitian metric for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .
- (2) E is big iff there exist an ample line bundle A and  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric.
- (3) E is pseudo-effective iff there exists an ample line bundle A such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .
- (4) E is weakly positive iff there exist an ample line bundle A and a proper Zariski closed set Z such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_k$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and the Lelong number of  $h_k$  at x is less than 2 for any  $x \in X \setminus Z$ .

As an applications, we obtain a generalization of Mori's result by using the result of [CMSB02].

COROLLARY 0.0.5. [Iwa18b] Let X be a smooth projective n-dimensional variety. If the tangent bundle  $T_X$  is big then X is biholommorphic to  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ .

In Chapter 5, we develop the theory of singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles. As an application, we give a structure theorem of a projective manifold X with pseudo-effective tangent bundle. This is a joint work with Genki Hosono and Shin-ichi Matsumura.

THEOREM 0.0.6. [**HIM19**] Let X be a projective manifold with pseudo-effective tangent bundle. Then X admits a (surjective) morphism  $\phi : X \to Y$  with connected fiber to a smooth manifold Y with the following properties:

- (1) The morphism  $\phi: X \to Y$  is smooth.
- (2) The image Y admits a finite étale cover  $A \to Y$  by an abelian variety A.
- (3) A general fiber F of  $\phi$  is rationally connected.
- (4) A general fiber F of  $\phi$  also has the pseudo-effective tangent bundle.

 $\mathbf{6}$ 

#### PREFACE

Moreover, if we further assume that  $T_X$  admits a positively curved singular hermitian metric, then we have:

(5) The standard exact sequence of tangent bundles

$$0 \longrightarrow T_{X/Y} \longrightarrow T_X \longrightarrow \phi^* T_Y \longrightarrow 0$$

splits.

(6) The morphism  $\phi : X \to Y$  is locally trivial (that is, all the fibers are smooth and isomorphic).

To summarize, it is as shown in this table.



In Chapter 6, we prove a few result. In 6.1, we study a Lelong number of singular hermitian metric on vector bundle and apply to augmented base locus. In 6.2 we give an example of a rationally connected manifold with a hermitian metric with negative scalar curvature. This is a counter-example in [NZ18, Conjecture 1.6]. In 6.3 we show an existence of a higher Fujita's decomposition of a direct image sheaf of relative pluri-canonical line bundle.

# Acknowledgement

まず初めに指導教官である高山茂晴先生に感謝いたします.高山先生には数学の研 究や論文・学振の文章の書き方などいろいろ教わりました.深く感謝しております,あ りがとうございました.かなり迷惑をかけた部分もあり,その点に関しては深くお詫び 申し上げます.申し訳ございませんでした.

2つ目に東北大学の松村慎一先生に感謝いたします. [HIM19]の結果は私が松村先 生に相談したことによりできた結果です. 松村先生との共同研究をしていく中で, 私は 修士博士で行っていた研究の仕方は全て間違いだと感じました. 今もなお, 松村先生に は感謝し尽くしてもしきれないぐらいお世話になっております. ありがとうございます.

3つ目に高山研究室の小池貴之様, 細野元気様, 稲山貴大様, 井上瑛二様に感謝いた します. 論文執筆の際にわからなかったところを教えていただきました. ありがとうご ざいます. また小池貴之様, 權業善範先生, 松村慎一先生には集会のオーガナイズを手 伝っていただき (そして今も手伝っていただき) ありがとうございます. 数少ない経験な ので, できて嬉しく思います. 2020 年 3 月までよろしくお願いいたします.

4つ目に家族に深く感謝いたします.両親には,私がよくわからない修士課程博士課 程に行くことを了承してくれました.おかげで私は自分がやりたいことを最大限できた と思います.ありがとうございます.姉(夫婦)に関しましては,家族旅行など企画して くれましてありがとうございます.またいつも暖かく見守ってくれてありがとうござい ます.

5つ目に高校の同級生に深く感謝いたします. 学部4年から博士課程の間, 長期休暇 のたびにあらゆる神社仏閣を旅行しました. 長時間電車に乗り続けた思い出は今でも忘 れらません. 博士課程では述べ2週間に及ぶゲーム合宿, 月一回のボードゲーム, 博論 提出2週間前に行くドイツ旅行など遊んだ思い出しかありません. 修士課程博士課程は 学部時代より遊んだ5年間でした. 私の人生がより一層面白くなったのは高校の同級生 たちのおかげです. ありがとうございます.

6つ目に数学科の人々に感謝いたします.特に院生室 318の皆様にはお世話になり ました.自分の院生室以上に院生室 318 には出入りしました.いろいろ遊んだり,プロ グラミングの勉強をしたりしました.ありがとうございます.

最後に, この謝辞に書いていない方々にもお世話になりました. 深くお礼申し上げ ます. ありがとうございました.

# CHAPTER 1

# Preliminary

# 1.1. Notations

- $\mathbb{N}_{>0}$  is a set of positive integers.
- For any compact Kähler manifold  $X, K_X := \det(T_X)^{\vee}$  is a canonical line bundle, where  $T_X$  is a holomorphic tangent bundle of Y.
- We regard Cartier (Weil) divisors as line bundles when the base space is a smooth projective manifold. In particular, a canonical divisor is regarded as a canonical line bundle. We regard locally free coherent sheaves as vector bundles.
- We denote  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{O}_X)$  by  $\mathcal{E}^{\vee}$  for any torsion-free coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$ .
- For any line bundle L, we also denote  $L^{\vee}$  by  $L^{\otimes -1}$ . For any integer m, we denote  $L^{\otimes m}$  by  $L^m$  or  $L^{\otimes m}$ .

## 1.2. Singular hermitian metrics on line bundles.

Let X be a connected complex manifold. A function  $\varphi : X \to [-\infty, +\infty)$  on X is said to be *quasi-plurisubharmonic* if  $\varphi$  is locally the sum of a plurisubharmonic function and of a smooth function. Let L be a line bundle on X. Fix some smooth metric  $h_0$ on L. h is a singular hermitian metric if  $h = h_0 e^{-\varphi}$  for some quasi-plurisubharmonic function  $\varphi$ .

For any quasi-plurisubharmonic function  $\varphi$  on X, the multiplier ideal sheaf  $\mathcal{J}(e^{-\varphi})$ is a coherent subsheaf of  $\mathcal{O}_X$  defined by

$$\mathcal{J}(e^{-\varphi})_x := \{ f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}; \exists U \ni x, \int_U |f|^2 e^{-\varphi} d\lambda < \infty \},\$$

where U is an open coordinate neighborhood of x, and  $d\lambda$  is the standard Lesbegue measure in the corresponding open chart of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and the Lelong number  $\nu(\varphi, x)$  at  $x \in X$ is defined by

$$\nu(\varphi, x) := \liminf_{z \to x} \frac{\varphi(z)}{\log |z - x|}$$

We define the *multiplier ideal sheaf*  $\mathcal{J}(h)$  of a singular hermitian metric h on L by  $\mathcal{J}(h) := \mathcal{J}(e^{\log(hh_0^{-1})})$  and the *Lelong number*  $\nu(h, x)$  of h at  $x \in X$  is defined by  $\nu(h, x) := \nu(-\log(hh_0^{-1}), x)$ . We point out  $\mathcal{J}(h)$  and  $\nu(h, x)$  do not depend on the choice of  $h_0$ . We define the *curvature current* of h by  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L,h} := \Theta_{L,h_0} + \sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi$ .

#### 1. PRELIMINARY

# 1.3. Algebraic positivity of line bundles

We define notions of algebraic positivity of line bundles.

DEFINITION 1.3.1. Let X be a smooth projective manifold and L be a line bundle.

(1) *L* is *ample* if there exist an  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and a basis  $s_0 \cdots s_N \in H^0(X, L^{\otimes m})$  such that

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Phi_{|L^{\otimes m}|} : & X & \to & \mathbb{CP}^N \\ & x & \mapsto & (s_0(x):\cdots:s_N(x)) \end{array}$$

is closed embedding.

- (2) L is nef if  $L.C \ge 0$  for any curve  $C \subset X$ .
- (3) L is big if  $\limsup_{m\to\infty} \dim H^0(X, L^{\otimes m})/m^{\dim X} > 0.$
- (4) L is pseudo-effective if there exists an ample line bundle A such that  $L^{\otimes m} \otimes A$  is big for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .

We have the following theorem by Kodaira and Demailly.

THEOREM 1.3.2. [Kod54] [Dem92] Let  $\omega$  be a Kähler form on X.

- (1) L is ample iff L has a smooth metric with positive curvature.
- (2) L is nef iff for any  $\epsilon > 0$  there exists a smooth metric  $h_{\epsilon}$  such that  $\sqrt{\Theta_{L,h_{\epsilon}}} \ge -\epsilon\omega$ .
- (3) L is big iff there exist an  $\epsilon > 0$  and a singular hermitian metric h such that  $\sqrt{\Theta}_{L,h} \ge \epsilon \omega$  in the sense of current.
- (4) L is pseudo-effective iff L has a singular hermitian metric with semipositive curvature current.

We have the following implications.



### 1.4. Singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles.

Next, we review the definitions of singular hermitian metrics. We adopt the definitions of singular hermitian metrics of vector bundles in [**HPS18**].

DEFINITION 1.4.1. [HPS18] A singular hermitian inner product on a finite dimensional complex vector space V is a function  $|-|_h: V \to [0, +\infty]$  with the following properties:

- (1)  $|\alpha \cdot v|_h = |\alpha| |v|_h$  for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus 0$  and any  $v \in V$ .
- (2)  $|0|_h = 0.$

- $\begin{array}{ll} (3) & |v+w|_h \leq |v|_h + |w|_h \text{ for any } v, w \in V. \\ (4) & |v+w|_h^2 + |v-w|_h^2 = 2|v|_h^2 + 2|w|_h^2 \text{ for any } v, w \in V. \end{array}$

DEFINITION 1.4.2. [BP08] [HPS18] Let X be a connected complex manifold and E be a vector bundle on X. A singular hermitian metric on E is a function h that associates to every point  $x \in X$  a singular hermitian inner product  $|-|_{h,x}: E_x \to [0, +\infty]$ on the complex vector space  $E_x$ , subject to the following two conditions:

- (1)  $|v|_{h,x} = 0 \Leftrightarrow v = 0$  for almost everywhere  $x \in X$ .
- (2)  $|v|_{h,x} < +\infty$  for any  $v \in E_x$  and almost everywhere  $x \in X$ .
- (3) For any open U and any  $s \in H^0(U, E)$ ,

$$|s|_h \colon U \to [0, +\infty] \quad ; \quad x \to |s(x)|_{h,x}$$

is measurable.

DEFINITION 1.4.3. [BP08] [PT18] [HPS18] Let h be a singular hermitian metric on a vector bundle E.

- (1) h is Griffiths seminegative or (semi)negatively curved if  $\log |u|_h^2$  is plurisubharmonic for any local holomorphic section u.
- (2) h is Griffiths semipositive or (semi)positively curved if a metric  $h^{\vee} := {}^{t}\!h^{-1}$  on  $E^{\vee}$  is Griffiths seminegative.

If h is smooth, h is Griffiths semipositive in above definition is same as usual one. These definitions are well-defined even if E is a line bundle. In particular, for any singular hermitian metric h on a line bundle L, h is Griffiths semipositive iff h has semipositive curvature current.

We recall the definition of a singular hermitian metric on a torsion-free coherent sheaf. Let  $\mathcal{E} \neq 0$  be a torsion-free coherent sheaf on X. We will denote by  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  the maximal Zariski open set where  $\mathcal{E}$  is locally free. We point out  $\mathcal{E}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}$  is a vector bundle on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  and  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_{\mathcal{E}}) \geq 2$ .

DEFINITION 1.4.4. [PT18, Definition 2.4.1] [HPS18]

- (1) The singular hermitian metric h on  $\mathcal{E}$  is a singular hermitian metric on the vector bundle  $\mathcal{E}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}$ .
- (2) A singular hermitian metric h on  $\mathcal{E}$  is Griffiths seminegative or (semi)negatively curved if  $h|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}$  is Griffiths seminegative.
- (3) A singular hermitian metric h on  $\mathcal{E}$  is Griffiths semipositive or (semi)positively *curved* if there exists a Griffiths seminegative metric g on  $\mathcal{E}^{\vee}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}$  such that  $h|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}} = (g|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}})^{\vee}.$

These are well-defined definitions (see [PT18, Remark 2.4.2]). About a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric, Păun and Takayama proved the following Theorem.

#### 1. PRELIMINARY

THEOREM 1.4.5. [**PT18**, Theorem 1.1] [**HPS18**, Theorem 21.1 and Corollary 21.2] Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a projective surjective morphism between connected complex manifolds and (L, h) be a holomorphic line bundle with a singular hermitian metric with semipositive curvature current on X. Then  $f_*(K_{X/Y} \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{J}(h))$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric.

Moreover if the inclusion morphism

$$f_*(K_{X/Y} \otimes L \otimes \mathcal{J}(h)) \to f_*(K_{X/Y} \otimes L)$$

is generically isomophism, then  $f_*(K_{X/Y} \otimes L)$  also has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric.

#### 1.5. Algebraic positivity on vector bundles

We summarize the notions of positivity of vector bundles and torsion free coherent sheaves. In this thesis, we will denote by  $\pi \colon \mathbb{P}(E) \to X$  the projective bundle of rank one quotients of E and by  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  the universal quotient of  $\pi^*E$  on  $\mathbb{P}(E)$ .

DEFINITION 1.5.1 ([**BDPP13**, Definition 7.1], [**DPS94**, Definition 1.17], [**DPS01**, Definition 6.4], [**Nak04**, Definition 3.20]). Let X be a smooth projective manifold.

- (1) A vector bundle E is ample if  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  is a ample line bundle on  $\mathbb{P}(E)$ .
- (2) A vector bundle E is nef if  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  is a nef line bundle on  $\mathbb{P}(E)$ .
- (3) A vector bundle E is numerically flat if E is nef and  $c_1(E) = 0$ .
- (4) A vector bundle E is almost nef if there exists a countable family of proper subvarieties  $Z_i$  of X such that  $E|_C$  is nef for any curve  $C \not\subset \cup_i Z_i$ .
- (5) A torsion free coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$  is weakly positive at  $x \in X$  if, for any  $a \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and for any ample line bundle A on X, there exists  $b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{ab}(\mathcal{E})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A^b$  is globally generated at x.
- (6) A torsion free coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$  is *pseudo-effective* (weakly positive in the sense of Nakayama) if  $\mathcal{E}$  is weakly positive at some  $x \in X$ .
- (7) A torsion free coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$  is weakly positive (weakly positive in the sense of Viehweg) if there exist a non empty Zariski open set U such that  $\mathcal{E}$  is weakly positive at any  $x \in U$ .
- (8) A torsion free coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$  is big (V-big, dd-ample, ample modulo double duals) if there exist  $a \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and an ample line bundle A on X such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{a}(\mathcal{E})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A^{-1}$  is pseudo-effective.
- (9) A torsion free coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$  is generically globally generated if  $\mathcal{E}$  is globally generated at a general point in X.

The definition of ample (resp. nef, big, or pseudo-effective) vector bundles coincides with the usual one in the case E being a line bundle. Relationships among them can be summarized by the following table:



Even if E is a line bundle, the converse of (1) is unknown.<sup>1</sup> When E is a line bundle, the converses of (2) hold by [**BDPP13**, Theorem 0.2]. However, in a higher rank case, the converse of (2) is unknown.

Example 1.5.2.

- (1)  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^1}$  is nef (pseudo-effective) but not ample (big).
- (2) We put  $E = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^1}(2) \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^1}(-1)$ . By Cutkosky criterion ([Laz04a]),  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$ is big (pseudo-effective) line bundle on  $\mathbb{P}(E)$ . However E is not nef (almost nef) vector bundle on  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  since the quotient sheaf  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^1}(-1)$  of E does not have semipositive degree.
- (3) For any  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we put  $E_n = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^1} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{CP}^1}(n)$ . The Hirzebruch surface is defined by  $\mathbb{F}_n := \mathbb{P}(E_n)$ . We put ruling  $\pi : \mathbb{F}_n \to \mathbb{CP}^1$ , a general fiber F of  $\pi$ , and  $L := \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{F}_n}(1)$ . By [Bea96] and [Laz04a], we have the followings for any integers a, b.
  - $L^a \otimes F^b$  is pseudo-effective iff  $a \ge 0$  and  $na + b \ge 0$ .
  - $L^a \otimes F^b$  is nef iff  $a \ge 0$  and  $b \ge 0$ .
  - Therefore  $L^2 \otimes F^{-n}$  is big but not nef. F is nef but not big.
- (4) Let C be an elliptic surface. For any  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  we put  $S_n := \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_C \oplus \mathcal{O}_C(np))$ , where p is a prime divisor of C. The tangent bundle of  $S_n$  is pseudo-effective by Proposition 5.3.2. But by computations,  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_{S_n})$  is not generically globally generated for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>John-Lesiutre [Les14] proved that there exists a pseudo-effective  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisor D such that D is not weakly positive. However D is not  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor.

#### 1. PRELIMINARY

(5) Let C be an elliptic curve. E is defined by the nontrivial exact sequence of vector bundles:

 $0 \to \mathcal{O}_C \to E \to \mathcal{O}_C \to 0.$ 

E is nef (pseudo-effective) vector bundle by [**DPS94**, Example 1.7]. By [**Hos17**, Example 5.4], E does not have a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric.

We review some of the standard facts of augmented base locus and restiricted base locus of vector bundles.

DEFINITION 1.5.3. [**BKK+15**, Section 2] Let X be a smooth projective variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle. The *base locus* of E is defined by

$$Bs(E) := \{ x \in X \colon H^0(X, E) \to E_x \text{ is not surjective} \},\$$

and the stable base locus of E is defined by

$$\mathbb{B}(E) := \bigcap_{m>0} \operatorname{Bs}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E)).$$

Let A be an ample line bundle. We define the *augmented base locus* of E by

$$\mathbb{B}_{+}(E) = \bigcap_{p,q \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}} \mathbb{B}(\operatorname{Sym}^{q}(E) \otimes A^{\otimes -p})$$

and the *restricted base locus* of E by

$$\mathbb{B}_{-}(E) = \bigcup_{p,q \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}} \mathbb{B}(\operatorname{Sym}^{q}(E) \otimes A^{\otimes p}).$$

We point out  $\mathbb{B}_+(E)$  and  $\mathbb{B}_-(E)$  do not depend on the choice of the ample line bundle A by [**BKK+15**, Remark 2.7]. By [**BKK+15**], we have  $\pi(\mathbb{B}_-(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1))) = \mathbb{B}_-(E)$ and  $\pi(\mathbb{B}_+(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1))) = \mathbb{B}_+(E)$ 

We point out the relationship between algebraic positivity and base loci.

THEOREM 1.5.4. [BDPP13, Proposition 7.2.] [BKK+15, Definition 5.1] The following are equivalent.

- (1) E is pseudo-effective.
- (2)  $\mathbb{B}_{-}(E) \neq X$ .
- (3)  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  is pseudo-effective on  $\mathbb{P}(E)$  and  $\pi\Big(\mathbb{B}_{-}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1))\Big) \neq X$

THEOREM 1.5.5. [BKK+15, Definition 5.1] The following are equivalent.

- (1) E is weakly positive.
- (2)  $\mathbb{B}_{-}(E) \neq X.$

THEOREM 1.5.6. [**BKK+15**, Theorem 6.4] The following are equivalent. (1) E is big.

16

- (2) there exist  $b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and an ample line bundle A on X such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{b}(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  is globally generated at a general point.
- (3)  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  is big on  $\mathbb{P}(E)$  and  $\pi \left( \mathbb{B}_{+}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)) \right) \neq X$
- (4)  $\mathbb{B}_+(E) \neq X$ .

## 1.6. MRC fibrations

THEOREM 1.6.1. [Cam92][KoMM92] Let X be a smooth projective manifold. Then there exists a dominant rational map  $\varphi : X \dashrightarrow Y$  onto a smooth projective manifold Y with the following properties:

- (1) There exists a Zariski open set  $Y_0 \subset Y$  such that  $\varphi|_{X_0} : X_0 \to Y_0$  is proper holomorphic map, where  $X_0 := \varphi^{-1}(Y_0)$ .
- (2) A general fiber F of  $\varphi$  is an irreducible rationally connected manifold.
- (3) If a rational curve R meets a general fiber F, then we have  $R \subset F$ .

This rational map  $\varphi$  is called *MRC* (*Maximally rationally connected*) fibration. An MRC fibration is unique up to birational map.

By Greb-Harris-Starr's result [GHS03] and Boucksom-Demailly-Păun-Peternell's result [BDPP13], we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 1.6.2. [GHS03][BDPP13] For any MRC fibration  $\varphi : X \dashrightarrow Y$ , the canonical bundle  $K_Y$  of Y is pseudo-effective.

# 1.7. Singular Foliations

DEFINITION 1.7.1. [Lazi, Chapter 4] Let X be a smooth projective manifold and  $\mathcal{E} \subset T_X$  be a coherent sheaf on X.

- (1)  $\mathcal{E}$  is a singular foliation if  $\mathcal{E}$  is saturated (i.e.  $\mathcal{E}$  and  $T_X/\mathcal{E}$  are torsionfree) and  $\mathcal{E}$  is closed by Lie bracket.
- (2) A subset F is a *leaf* if F is a maximally connected locally closed set such that  $T_F = \mathcal{E}|_F$

For any morphism  $f : X \to Y$  between smooth projective manifolds, the kernel ker  $df \subset T_X$  of the differential  $df : T_X \to f^*(T_Y)$  is a singular foliation. A general fiber F or f is a leaf of ker df.

The following theorems is used in Chapter 5.

THEOREM 1.7.2. [Hör07, Corollary 2.11] Let  $\mathcal{E} \subset T_X$  be a singular foliation. If  $\mathcal{E}$  is locally free and a leaf of  $\mathcal{E}$  is compact and rationally connected, then there exists a smooth morphism  $f: X \to Y$  onto a smooth projective manifold Y such that  $\mathcal{E} = \ker df$ . Moreover all fiber F of f is compact and rationally connected.

#### 1. PRELIMINARY

THEOREM 1.7.3. [Hör07, Lemma 3.19] Let  $\varphi : X \to Y$  be a smooth morphism between smooth projective manifolds. If there exists a vector bundle  $V \subset T_X$  such that  $T_X = V \oplus T_{X/Y}$ , then  $\varphi$  is locally trivial (analytic fiber bundle), i.e. for any  $y \in Y$ , there exist Euclid open set  $y \in V \subset Y$  such that  $\varphi^{-1}(V) \cong V \times F$ , where F is a fiber of  $\varphi$ .

# CHAPTER 2

# On the global generation of direct images of pluri-adjoint line bundles

ABSTRACT. We study the Fujita-type conjecture proposed by Popa and Schnell. We obtain an effective bound on the global generation of direct images of pluri-adjoint line bundles on the regular locus. We also obtain an effective bound on the generic global generation for a Kawamata log terminal Q-pair. We use analytic methods such as  $L^2$  estimates,  $L^2$  extensions and injective theorems of cohomology groups.

## 2.1. Introduction

The aim of this paper is to give a partial answer to the following conjecture by Popa and Schnell. This conjecture is a version of Fujita's conjecture.

CONJECTURE 2.1.1 ([**PS14**] Conjecture 1.3). Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties, with Y of dimension n, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. For any  $a \ge 1$ , the sheaf

$$f_*(K_X^{\otimes a}) \otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is globally generated for all  $b \ge a(n+1)$ .

In  $[\mathbf{PS14}]$ , Popa and Schnell proved this conjecture in the case when L is ample and globally generated. After that, Dutta removed the global generation assumption on L making a statement about generic global generation.

THEOREM 2.1.2 ([Dut17] Theorem A). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a Kawamata log terminal  $\mathbb{Q}$ -pair of a normal projective variety and an effective divisor, and Y be a smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. For any a > 1 such that  $a(K_X + \Delta)$  is an integral Cartier divisor, the sheaf

$$f_*\left(\mathcal{O}_X(a(K_X+\Delta))\right)\otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is generated by the global sections at a general point  $y \in Y$  either

- (1) for all  $b \ge a\left(\frac{n(n+1)}{2} + 1\right)$ , or (2) for all  $b \ge a(n+1)$  when  $n \le 4$ .

On the other hand, Deng obtained a linear bound for b when a is large by using analytic methods.

## 20. ON THE GLOBAL GENERATION OF DIRECT IMAGES OF PLURI-ADJOINT LINE BUNDLES

THEOREM 2.1.3 ([Deng17] Theorem C). With the above notation and in the setting of Theorem 2.1.2, for any  $a \ge 1$  such that  $a(K_X + \Delta)$  is an integral Cartier divisor, the sheaf

$$f_*\Big(\mathcal{O}_X\big(a(K_X+\Delta)\big)\Big)\otimes L^{\otimes l}$$

is generated by the global sections at a general point  $y \in Y$  either

- (1) for all  $b \ge n^2 n + a(n+1)$ , or
- (2) for all  $b \ge n^2 + 2$  when  $K_Y$  is pseudo-effective.

Now we state our results. First, we treat the case when X is smooth and  $\Delta = 0$ . In [Dut17], Dutta proved that if  $K_X^{\otimes a}$  is relatively free on the regular locus of f,  $f_*(K_X^{\otimes a}) \otimes L^{\otimes b}$  is generated by the global sections at any regular value of f for all  $b \ge a(\frac{n(n+1)}{2} + 1)$ . In this paper, we can remove this assumption and obtain a better bound for b.

THEOREM 2.1.4. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties, with Y of dimension n, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. If y is a regular value of f, then for any  $a \ge 1$  the sheaf

$$f_*(K_X^{\otimes a}) \otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is generated by the global sections at y for all  $b \ge \frac{n(n-1)}{2} + a(n+1)$ .

In this paper,  $X_y$  is a smooth connected variety for any regular value  $y \in Y$ . In particular, if f is smooth,  $f_*(K_X^{\otimes a}) \otimes L^{\otimes b}$  is globally generated for all  $b \ge \frac{n(n-1)}{2} + a(n+1)$ . We give a partial answer to Conjecture 2.1.1.

Second, we treat a log case. In this case, we obtain the same bound as Theorem 2.1.4 about generic global generation even when X is a complex analytic variety.

THEOREM 2.1.5. Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a Kawamata log terminal Q-pair of a normal complex analytic variety in Fujiki's class  $\mathcal{C}$  and an effective divisor, and Y be a smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. For any  $a \ge 1$  such that  $a(K_X + \Delta)$  is an integral Cartier divisor, the sheaf

$$f_*\left(\mathcal{O}_X\left(a(K_X+\Delta)\right)\right)\otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is generated by the global sections at a general point  $y \in Y$  either

- (1) for all  $b \ge \frac{n(n-1)}{2} + a(n+1)$ , or (2) for all  $b \ge \frac{n(n-1)}{2} + 2$  when  $K_Y$  is pseudo-effective.

REMARK 2.1.6. After the author submitted this paper to arXiv, Dutta told the author that she and Murayama obtained the same bounds as in Theorem 2.1.5 (1) in  $[\mathbf{DM17}, \text{Theorem B}]$  by using the algebraic geometric methods when X is a normal projective variety. Also, in [DM17, Theorem B], they obtained the linear bound when  $(X, \Delta)$  is a log canonical Q-pair. For more details, we refer the reader to [DM17].

### 2.2. Preliminary

In this paper we will denote  $N := \frac{n(n+1)}{2}$ . Angehrn and Siu proved the existence of a quasi-psh function whose multiplier ideal sheaf has isolated zero set at y when we pick one point  $y \in Y$ .

THEOREM 2.2.1. [AS95] Let Y be a smooth projective n-dimensional variety, and We fix  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that m(N+1)L is very ample. We choose a Kähler form  $\omega_Y$ on Y and a smooth positive metric  $h_L$  on L such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L,h_L} = \frac{1}{m(N+1)}\omega_Y$ , where  $N = \frac{n(n+1)}{2}$ . Then for any point  $y \in Y$ , there exist a quasi-psh function  $\varphi$  with neat analytic singularities on Y and a positive number  $0 < \varepsilon_0 < 1$ , such that

(1) 
$$\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L^{\otimes N+1}h_r^{N+1}} + \sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi \ge \frac{1-\varepsilon_0}{m(N+1)}\omega_Y$$

(2) y is an isolated point in the zero variety  $V(\mathcal{J}(e^{-\varphi}))$ .

By the following theorem, a relative pluricanonical line bundle  $K_{X/Y}^{\otimes a}$  has a semipositive singular hermitian metric which is equal to the fiberwise Bergman kernel metric.

THEOREM 2.2.2 ([**BP08**] Theorem 4.2, [**PT18**] Collary 4.3.2). Let  $f: X \to Y$ be a surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties. Assume that there exists a regular value  $y \in Y$  such that  $H^0(X_y, K_{X_y}^{\otimes a}) \neq 0$ . Then the bundle  $K_{X/Y}^{\otimes a}$  admits a singular hermitian metric  $h_a$  with semipositive curvature current such that for any regular value  $w \in Y$  and any section  $s \in H^0(X_w, K_{X_w}^{\otimes a})$  we have

$$|s|_{h_a}^{\frac{2}{a}}(z) \le \int_{X_w} |s|^{\frac{2}{a}}$$

for any  $z \in X_w$  up to the identification of  $K_{X/Y}|_{X_w}$  with  $K_{X_w}$ . We regard  $|s|^{\frac{2}{a}}$  as a semipositive continuous (m, m) form where  $m = \dim X_w$ .

# 2.3. Proof of main theorem

In this section, we prove Theorem 2.1.4.

THEOREM 2.3.1 (= Theorem 2.1.4). Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties, with Y of dimension n, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. If y is a regular value of f, then for any  $a \ge 1$  the sheaf

$$f_*(K_X^{\otimes a}) \otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is generated by the global sections at y for all  $b \ge \frac{n(n-1)}{2} + a(n+1)$ .

Let us first outline the proof. It is enough to show that for any regular value  $y \in Y$ , any section  $s \in H^0(X_y, K_{X_y}^{\otimes a} \otimes f^*(L)^{\otimes b}|_{X_y})$  can be extended to X. By taking an appropriate singular hermitian metric on  $K_X^{\otimes a-1} \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes b})$ , we can prove there exists a section  $S_U$  near  $X_y$  such that  $S_U|_{X_y} = s$  by an  $L^2$  extension theorem. To extend  $S_U$  to X, we solve a  $\overline{\partial}$ -equation with some weight.

**2.3.1.** Set up. We fix a regular value  $y \in Y$  and a section  $s \in H^0(X_y, K_{X_y}^{\otimes a} \otimes f^*(L)^{\otimes b}|_{X_y})$ . We may assume  $s \neq 0$ .

Let  $\omega_X$  be a Kähler form on X. We will denote by  $h_L$  the smooth positive metric on L and denote by  $\omega_Y$  the Kähler form on Y as in Theorem 2.2.1. Since  $K_Y \otimes L^{\otimes n+1}$ is semiample by Mori theory and Kawamata's basepoint free theorem (see [**KM98**, Theorem 1.13 and Theorem 3.3]), there exists a smooth semipositive metric  $h_s$  on  $K_Y \otimes L^{\otimes n+1}$ . We take the singular hermitian metric  $h_a$  on  $K_{X/Y}^{\otimes a}$  as in Theorem 2.2.2.

We will denote by  $\overline{L} := K_{X/Y}^{\otimes (a-1)} \otimes f^*(K_Y \otimes L^{\otimes n+1})^{\otimes a-1} \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes N+1+\overline{b}})$  and  $\overline{b} := b - \frac{n(n-1)}{2} - a(n+1) \ge 0$ . Define  $h_{\overline{L}} := h_a^{\frac{a-1}{a}} f^*(h_s^{a-1}h_L^{N+1+\overline{b}})$ , which is a singular hermitian metric on  $\overline{L}$  with semipositive curvature current. Note that  $K_X \otimes \overline{L} = K_X^{\otimes a} \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes b})$ .

**2.3.2. Local Extension.** We choose a coordinate neighborhood V near y and we set  $U := f^{-1}(V)$ . We may regard V as an open ball in  $\mathbb{C}^n$  and y as an origin in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Since  $|s|_{h_a}^2$  is bounded above on  $X_y$  by Theorem 2.2.2, we obtain

$$(2.3.1)$$

$$\|s\|_{h_{\overline{L}},\omega_{X}}^{2} = \int_{X_{y}} |s|_{h_{\overline{L}},\omega_{X}}^{2} dV_{X_{y},\omega_{X}}$$

$$= C \int_{X_{y}} |s|_{h_{a}}^{\frac{2(a-1)}{a}} |s|_{\omega_{X}}^{\frac{2}{a}} dV_{X_{y},\omega_{X}}$$

$$\leq C' \int_{X_{y}} |s|_{\omega_{X}}^{\frac{2}{a}} dV_{X_{y},\omega_{X}}$$

$$< +\infty,$$

where C and C' are some positive constants. Therefore by the  $L^2$  extension theorem in [**HPS18**, Theorem 14.4], there exists  $S_U \in H^0(U, K_X \otimes \overline{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(h_{\overline{L}}))$  such that  $S_U|_{X_y} = s$ .

**2.3.3. Global Extension.** We denote by  $\varphi$  the quasi-psh function on Y as in Theorem 2.2.1 and denote by  $\psi := \varphi \circ f$ . By Theorem 2.2.1, we can take a cut-off function  $\rho$  near y such that

- (1)  $\operatorname{supp}(\rho) \subset \subset V$ ,
- (2)  $\operatorname{supp}(\overline{\partial}\rho) \not\ni y$ ,
- (3)  $\int_{\operatorname{supp}(\overline{\partial} a)} e^{-\varphi} dV_{Y,\omega_Y} < +\infty,$

and put  $\tilde{\rho} := \rho \circ f$ . We solve the global  $\overline{\partial}$ -equation  $\overline{\partial}F = \overline{\partial}(\tilde{\rho}S_U)$  on X with the weight of  $h_{\overline{L}}e^{-\psi}$ .

It is easy to check  $\|\widetilde{\rho}S_U\|_{h_{\overline{L}},\omega_X}^2 < +\infty$  and  $\|\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)\|_{h_{\overline{L}},\omega_X}^2 < +\infty$ . Therefore  $\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)$  gives rise to a cohomology class  $[\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)]$  which is  $[\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)] = 0$  in  $H^1(X, K_X \otimes \overline{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(h_{\overline{L}}))$ . Since  $|S_U|_{h_{\overline{L}}}^2$  is bounded above on U by Theorem 2.2.2 ( if necessary we take

U small enough ), we obtain

$$(2.3.2) \qquad \|\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)\|_{h_{\overline{L}}e^{-\psi},\omega_X}^2 = \int_U |\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)|_{h_{\overline{L}}e^{-\psi}}^2 dV_{X,\omega_X}$$
$$\leq C \int_{f^{-1}(\operatorname{supp}(\overline{\partial}\rho))} |S_U|_{h_{\overline{L}}}^2 e^{-\psi} dV_{X,\omega_X}$$
$$\leq C' \int_{f^{-1}(\operatorname{supp}(\overline{\partial}\rho))} e^{-\psi} dV_{X,\omega_X}$$
$$< +\infty,$$

where C and C' are some positive constants. Therefore  $\overline{\partial}(\rho S_U)$  is a  $\overline{\partial}$ -closed (d, 1) form with  $\overline{L}$  value which is square integrable with the weight of  $h_{\overline{L}}e^{-\psi}$ , where  $d = \dim X$ .

We put  $\delta := \frac{1-\epsilon_0}{2(N+\epsilon_0)}$ . Then we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{-1}\Theta_{h_{\overline{L}},h_{\overline{L}}} + (1+\alpha\delta)\sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\psi \\ &= \frac{a-1}{a}\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{K_{X/Y},h_a} + (a-1)f^*(\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{K_Y\otimes L^{\otimes n+1},h_s}) \\ &+ (N+1+\overline{b})f^*(\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L,h_L}) + (1+\alpha\delta)\sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\psi \\ \end{split} (2.3.3) &\geq f^*\Big((N+1)\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L,h_L} + (1+\alpha\delta)\sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi\Big) \\ &= f^*\Big((1+\alpha\delta)(\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L^{\otimes N+1},h_L^{N+1}} + \sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi) - \alpha\delta\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L^{\otimes N+1},h_L^{N+1}}\Big) \\ &\geq \frac{(2-\alpha)(1-\epsilon_0)}{2m(N+1)}f^*(\omega_Y) \\ &\geq 0 \end{split}$$

in the sense of current for any  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ . Therefore by the injectivity theorem in **[CDM17**, Theorem 1.1], the natural morphism

$$H^1(X, K_X \otimes \overline{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(h_{\overline{L}} e^{-\psi})) \to H^1(X, K_X \otimes \overline{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(h_{\overline{L}}))$$

is injective. Since  $[\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)] = 0$  in  $H^1(X, K_X \otimes \overline{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(h_{\overline{L}}))$ , we obtain  $[\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)] = 0$ in  $H^1(X, K_X \otimes \overline{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(h_{\overline{L}}e^{-\psi}))$ . Hence we obtain a (d, 0) form F with  $\overline{L}$  value which is square integrable with the weight of  $h_{\overline{L}}e^{-\psi}$  such that  $\overline{\partial}F = \overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}S_U)$ , that is we can solve  $\overline{\partial}$  equation.

Now we show that  $F|_{X_y} \equiv 0$ . To obtain a contradiction, suppose that  $F(x) \neq 0$  for some  $x \in X_y$ . We may assume there exists an open set W near x such that  $F(z) \neq 0$ for any  $z \in W$  and  $\int_W e^{-\psi} dV_{X,\omega_X} = +\infty$  since y is an isolated point in the zero variety  $V(\mathcal{J}(e^{-\varphi}))$  by Theorem 2.2.1. Since there exists a positive constant C such

$$(2.3.4) +\infty > ||F||^{2}_{h_{\overline{L}}e^{-\psi}} = \int_{X} |F|^{2}_{h_{\overline{L}}}e^{-\psi}dV_{X,\omega_{X}} \ge \int_{W} |F|^{2}_{h_{\overline{L}}}e^{-\psi}dV_{X,\omega_{X}}$$
$$\ge C \int_{W} e^{-\psi}dV_{X,\omega_{X}}$$
$$= +\infty.$$

which is impossible.

Hence we put  $S := \tilde{\rho}S_U - F \in H^0(X, K_X \otimes \overline{L})$ , then  $S|_{X_y} = (\tilde{\rho}S_U - F)|_{X_y} = s$ , which completes the proof.

REMARK 2.3.2. In [Fuj19], Fujino proved the following theorem.

THEOREM 2.3.3. [Fuj19, Theorem 1.5] Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties, with Y of dimension n, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. For any  $a, s \ge 1$  and any  $b \ge n^2 + min(2, a)$  the sheaf

$$(\otimes^s f_*(K_{X/Y}^{\otimes a}))^{\vee\vee} \otimes K_Y \otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is generic globally generated.

As stated in [Fuj19, Remark 1.6], we proved above theorem by same method in the case of s = 1. More precisely we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 2.3.4. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism of smooth projective varieties, with Y of dimension n, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. If y is a regular value of f, then for any  $a \ge 1$  and any  $b \ge \frac{n(n+1)}{2} + 1$  the sheaf

$$f_*(K_{X/Y}^{\otimes a}) \otimes K_Y \otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is globally generated at y.

PROOF. We will denote by  $\overline{L} := K_{X/Y}^{\otimes (a-1)} \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes b})$ . Note that  $K_X \otimes \overline{L} = K_{X/Y}^{\otimes a} \otimes f^*(K_Y \otimes L^{\otimes b})$ . Define  $h_{\overline{L}} := h_a^{\frac{a-1}{a}} f^*(h_L^b)$ , which is a singular hermitian metric on  $\overline{L}$  with semipositive curvature current. The rest proof of Theorem 2.3.4 is similar to the proof of Theorem 2.1.4.

# 2.4. On a log case

In this section, we prove Theorem 2.1.5.

THEOREM 2.4.1 (= Theorem 2.1.5). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a Kawamata log terminal  $\mathbb{Q}$ -pair of a normal complex analytic variety in Fujiki's class  $\mathcal{C}$  and an effective divisor, and Y be a smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective

morphism, and L be an ample line bundle on Y. For any  $a \ge 1$  such that  $a(K_X + \Delta)$ is an integral Cartier divisor, the sheaf

$$f_*\left(\mathcal{O}_X(a(K_X+\Delta))\right)\otimes L^{\otimes b}$$

is generated by the global sections at a general point  $y \in Y$  either

- (1) for all  $b \ge \frac{n(n-1)}{2} + a(n+1)$ , or (2) for all  $b \ge \frac{n(n-1)}{2} + 2$  when  $K_Y$  is pseudo-effective.

**PROOF.** The proof is similar to Theorem 2.1.4 and [**Deng17**, Theorem C]. Take a log resolution  $\mu: X' \to X$  of  $(X, \Delta)$  we have a compact Kähler manifold X' such that

$$aK_{X'} = \mu^*(a(K_X + \Delta)) + \sum a\alpha_i E_i - \sum a\beta_j F_j,$$

where  $a\alpha_i, a\beta_j \in \mathbb{N}_+$  and  $\sum_i E_i + \sum_j F_j$  has simple normal crossing supports. Since  $(X, \Delta)$  is a Kawamata log terminal Q-pair and  $\Delta$  is effective,  $E_i$  is an exceptional divisor and  $0 < \beta_j < 1$ . We denote by  $f' := f \circ \mu$ , which is a surjective morphism between compact Kähler manifolds. Since  $E_i$  is an exceptional divisor, the natural morphism

$$(2.4.1) \qquad H^0(X', \mu^* (\mathcal{O}_X(a(K_X + \Delta)) \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes b}))) \\ \to H^0(X', \mu^* (\mathcal{O}_X(a(K_X + \Delta)) \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes b})) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\alpha_i E_i)) \\ = H^0(X', K_{X'}^{\otimes a} \otimes f'^*(L)^{\otimes b} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\beta_j F_j))$$

is isomorphism. Thus it is enough to show that for any general point  $y \in Y$ , the restriction map

$$\pi_y \colon H^0\big(X', K_{X'}^{\otimes a} \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes b}) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\beta_j F_j)\big) \to H^0\big(X'_y, K_{X'_y}^{\otimes a} \otimes f^*(L)^{\otimes b}|_{X'_y} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\beta_j F_j)|_{X'_y}\big)$$
  
is surjective.

In case (1), we choose the canonical singular hermitian metric  $h_F$  on  $\mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\beta_i F_i)$ as in [**Dem12**, Example 3.13]. We obtain  $\mathcal{J}(h_F^{\frac{1}{a}}) = \mathcal{O}_{X'}$  since  $\sum_i E_i + \sum_j F_j$  has simple normal crossing supports and  $0 < \beta_j < 1$ . By [**Cao17**, Theorem 3.5], there exists an *a*-th Bergman type metric  $h_{a,B}$  on  $K_{X'/Y}^{\otimes a} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\beta_j F_j)$ . We note that for any general point y of f such that  $\mathcal{J}(h_F^{\frac{1}{a}}|_{X'_y}) = \mathcal{O}_{X'_y}$ , and for any section  $s' \in$  $H^{0}(X'_{y}, K^{\otimes a}_{X'_{y}} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\beta_{j}F_{j})|_{X'_{y}})$ , we have  $|s'|^{\frac{2}{a}}_{h_{a,B}} \leq \int_{X'_{y}} |s'|^{\frac{2}{a}}_{h_{F}} < +\infty$  on  $X'_{y}$  by [Cao17, Theorem 3.5].

We will denote by  $\overline{L} := K_{X'/Y}^{\otimes a-1} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\beta_j F_j) \otimes f^*(K_Y \otimes L^{\otimes n+1})^{\otimes a-1} \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes \overline{b}})$  and  $\overline{b} := b - \frac{n(n-1)}{2} - a(n+1) \ge 0. \text{ Define a singlar hermitian metric } h_{\overline{L}} := h_{a,B}^{\frac{a-1}{a}} h_F^{\frac{1}{a}} f^*(h_s^{a-1} h_{\overline{L}}^{\overline{b}})$ on  $\overline{L}$ . If y is a general point in Y such that  $\mathcal{J}(h_F^{\frac{1}{a}}|_{X'_y}) = \mathcal{O}_{X'_y}$ , the restriction map  $\pi_y$ 

is surjective since the same proof works as in Section 3. By [Laz04b, section 9.5.D],  $\mathcal{J}(h_F^{\frac{1}{a}}|_{X'_y}) = \mathcal{J}(h_F^{\frac{1}{a}})|_{X'_y} = \mathcal{O}_{X'_y}$  for any general point  $y \in Y$ . Therefore  $\pi_y$  is surjective for any general point  $y \in Y$ , which completes the proof.

In case (2), since  $K_Y$  is pseudo-effective,  $K_Y^{\otimes a-1} \otimes L$  is a big line bundle. Therefore, there exists a singular hermitian metric  $h_Y$  on  $K_Y^{\otimes a-1} \otimes L$  with neat analytic singularities such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{K_Y^{\otimes a-1} \otimes L, h_Y} > 0$  in the sense of current.

We will denote by  $\overline{L} := K_{X'/Y}^{\otimes a-1} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X'}(\sum a\beta_j F_j) \otimes f^*(K_Y^{\otimes a-1} \otimes L) \otimes f^*(L^{\otimes \overline{b}})$  and  $\overline{b} := b - N - 2 \ge 0$ . Define a singular hermitian metric  $h_{\overline{L}} := h_{a,B}^{\frac{a-1}{a}} h_F^{\frac{1}{a}} f^*(h_Y h_{\overline{L}}^{\overline{b}})$  on  $\overline{L}$ . If y is a general point in Y such that  $y \notin \{z \in Y : h_Y(z) = +\infty\}$  and  $\mathcal{J}(h_F^{\frac{1}{a}}|_{X'_y}) = \mathcal{O}_{X'_y}$ , the restriction map  $\pi_y$  is surjective since the same proof works as in Section 3. Since the set  $\{z \in Y : h_Y(z) = +\infty\}$  is Zariski closed, then  $\pi_y$  is surjective for any general point  $y \in Y$ , which completes the proof.

# CHAPTER 3

# Nadel-Nakano vanishing theorems of vector bundles with singular hermitian metrics

ABSTRACT. We study a singular hermitian metric of a vector bundle. First, we prove that the sheaf of locally square integrable holomorphic sections of a vector bundle with a singular hermitian metric, which is a higher rank analog of a multiplier ideal sheaf, is coherent under some assumptions. Second, we prove a Nadel-Nakano type vanishing theorem of a vector bundle with a singular hermitian metric. We do not use an approximation technique of a singular hermitian metric. We apply these theorems to a singular hermitian metric induced by holomorphic sections and a big vector bundle, and we obtain a generalization of Griffiths' vanishing theorem. Finally, we show a generalization of Ohsawa's vanishing theorem.

### 3.1. Introduction

The aim of this paper is to study the vanishing theorem of a vector bundle with a singular hermitian metric. Here is a brief history of a singular hermitian metric of a vector bundle is a higher rank analog of a singular hermitian metric of a line bundle. The singular hermitian metric was originated by de Cataldo [deC98], and was later defined in a different way by Berndtsson and Păun [BP08]. We adopt the definition of a singular hermitian metric of a vector bundle in [BP08]. They also defined the notion of a singular hermitian metric with positive curvature, called *positively curved*. In [PT18], Păun and Takayama proved that a direct image sheaf of an *m*-th relative canonical line bundle  $f_*(mK_{X/Y})$  can be endowed with a positively curved singular hermitian metric for any fibration  $f: X \to Y$ . Recently Cao and Păun [CP17] used this result to prove Iitaka's conjecture when the base space is an Abelian variety. For more details, we refer the reader to [Pau16].

Although a singular hermitian metric of a vector bundle has been investigated in many papers (for example [**BP08**], [**PT18**], [**Hos17**], [**HPS18**], [**Rau15**], etc.), there exist few results on vanishing theorems for vector bundles with singular hermitian metrics. We explain the details of the investigations of a singular hermitian metric of a vector bundle below. Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a compact Kähler manifold and (E, h) be a vector bundle with a singular hermitian metric. In [**deC98**], the sheaf of locally square integrable holomorphic sections of E with respect to h, denoted by E(h), is defined as

$$E(h)_x = \{ f_x \in \mathcal{O}(E)_x \colon |f_x|_h^2 \in L^1_{loc} \} \ x \in X,$$

## 28 3. NADEL-NAKANO VANISHING THEOREMS WITH SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

which is a higher rank analog of a multiplier ideal sheaf. In this paper, we will denote by  $\mathcal{O}(E)_x$  the stalk of E at x, defined by  $\varinjlim_{x \in U} H^0(U, E)$ . We consider the following

problems.

PROBLEM 3.1.1. (1) Is E(h) a coherent sheaf?

(2) Does there exist a Nadel-Nakano type vanishing theorem, that is, the vanishing of the cohomology group  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h))$  for any  $q \ge 1$  if h has some positivity?

We do not know if E(h), unlike a multiplier ideal sheaf, is coherent, In [deC98], de Cataldo proved that E(h) is coherent and a Nadel-Nakano type vanishing theorem if h has an approximate sequence of smooth hermitian metrics  $\{h_{\mu}\}$  satisfying  $h_{\mu} \uparrow h$ pointwise and  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h_{\mu}} - \eta\omega \otimes Id_{E} \geq 0$  in the sense of Nakano for some positive and continuous function  $\eta$ . However, h does not always have such an approximate sequence (see [Hos17, Example 4.4]). Therefore these problems are open.

Nonetheless, we can provide a partial answer to Problem 3.1.1. First we prove the coherence of E(h) under some assumptions.

THEOREM 3.1.2. Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a Kähler manifold and (E, h) be a holomorphic vector bundle on X with a singular hermitian metric. We assume the following conditions.

- (1) There exists a proper analytic subset Z such that h is smooth on  $X \setminus Z$ .
- (2)  $he^{-\zeta}$  is a positively curved singular hermitian metric on E for some continuous function  $\zeta$  on X.
- (3) There exists a real number C such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} C\omega \otimes Id_E \geq 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano.

Then the sheaf E(h) is coherent.

Next we study the cohomology group  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h))$  for any  $q \ge 1$ . We prove a vanishing theorem and an injectivity theorem for vector bundles with singular hermitian metrics under some assumptions.

THEOREM 3.1.3. Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a compact Kähler manifold and (E, h) be a holomorphic vector bundle on X with a singular hermitian metric. We assume the following conditions.

- (1) There exists a proper analytic subset Z such that h is smooth on  $X \setminus Z$ .
- (2)  $he^{-\zeta}$  is a positively curved singular hermitian metric on E for some continuous function  $\zeta$  on X.
- (3) There exists a positive number  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} \epsilon\omega \otimes Id_E \ge 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano.

Then  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h)) = 0$  holds for any  $q \ge 1$ .

#### 3.1. INTRODUCTION

THEOREM 3.1.4. Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a compact Kähler manifold, (E, h) be a holomorphic vector bundle on X with a singular hermitian metric and  $(L, h_L)$  be a holomorphic line bundle with a smooth metric. We assume the following conditions.

- (1) There exists a proper analytic subset Z such that h is smooth on  $X \setminus Z$ .
- (2)  $he^{-\zeta}$  is a positively curved singular hermitian metric on E for some continuous function  $\zeta$  on X.
- (3)  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} \ge 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano.
- (4) There exists a positive number  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} \epsilon \sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L,h_L} \otimes Id_E \ge 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano.

Let s be a non zero section of L. Then for any  $q \ge 0$ , the multiplication homomorphism

$$\times s: H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h)) \to H^q(X, K_X \otimes L \otimes E(h))$$

is injective.

Therefore we proved a Nadel-Nakano type vanishing theorem with some assumptions. If E is a holomorphic line bundle, these theorems were proved in [Fuj12]. We point out we do not use an approximation sequence of a singular hermitian metric to show these theorems.

Some applications are indicated as follows. First, we treat a singular hermitian metric induced by holomorphic sections, as proposed by Hosono [Hos17, Chapter 4]. By calculating the curvature of this metric, we prove that we can apply Theorem 3.1.3 to Hosono's example. Therefore we can apply a Nadel-Nakano type vanishing theorem even if h does not have an approximate sequence such as [deC98]. Second, we generalize Griffiths' vanishing theorem. That is,  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes \text{Sym}^m(E) \otimes \det E) = 0$  holds for any  $m \ge 0$  and  $q \ge 1$  if E is an ample vector bundle. We treat the case when E is a big vector bundle. If E is a big vector bundle with some assumptions,  $\text{Sym}^m(E) \otimes \det E$  can be endowed with a singular hermitian metric  $h_m$  satisfying assumptions such as those in Theorem 3.1.3 (see Section 5.2). Therefore  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes (\text{Sym}^m(E) \otimes \det E)(h_m)) = 0$  holds for any  $m \ge 0$  and  $q \ge 1$ .

Finally, we generalize Ohsawa's vanishing theorem.

THEOREM 3.1.5. Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a compact Kähler manifold and (E, h) be a holomorphic vector bundle on X with a singular hermitian metric. Let  $\pi: X \to W$  be a proper surjective holomorphic map to an analytic space with a Kähler form  $\sigma$ . We assume the following conditions.

- (1) There exists a proper analytic subset Z such that h is smooth on  $X \setminus Z$ .
- (2)  $he^{-\zeta}$  is a positively curved singular hermitian metric on E for some continuous function  $\zeta$  on X.
- (3)  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} \pi^* \sigma \otimes Id_E \geq 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano.

Then  $H^q(W, \pi_*(K_X \otimes E(h))) = 0$  holds for any  $q \ge 1$ .

If h is smooth, this theorem was proved by Ohsawa [Ohs84].

# **3.2.** Preliminaries

**3.2.1. hermitian metrics on vector bundles.** We briefly explain definitions and notations of smooth hermitian metrics of vector bundles.

We will denote by  $(X, \omega)$  a compact Kähler manifold and denote by E a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X. For any point  $x \in X$ , we take a system of local coordinates  $(V; z_1, \ldots, z_n)$  near x. Let h be a smooth metric on E and let  $e_1, \ldots, e_r$  be a local orthogonal frame of E near x. We denote by

$$\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} = \sqrt{-1} \sum_{1 \le j,k \le n, \ 1 \le \lambda, \mu \le r} c_{jk\lambda\mu} \, dz_j \wedge d\bar{z}_k \otimes e_\lambda^{\vee} \otimes e_\mu$$

the Chern curvature tensor. For any  $u = \sum_{1 \leq j \leq n, 1 \leq \lambda \leq r} u_{j\lambda} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j} \otimes e_{\lambda} \in T_x X \otimes E_x$ , we denote by

$$\theta_{E,h}(u) = \sum_{1 \le j,k \le n, \ 1 \le \lambda, \mu \le r} c_{jk\lambda\mu} u_{j\lambda} \bar{u}_{k\mu}$$

and

$$\theta_{\omega \otimes id_E}(u) = \sum_{1 \le j,k \le n, \ 1 \le \lambda \le r} \omega_{jk} u_{j\lambda} \bar{u}_{k\lambda},$$

where  $\omega = \sqrt{-1} \sum_{1 \le j,k \le n} \omega_{jk} dz_j \wedge d\overline{z}_k$ .

DEFINITION 3.2.1. [**Dembook**, Chapter 7 §6] For any real number C, we write  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} \geq C\omega \otimes id_E$  in the sense of Nakano if  $\theta_{E,h}(u) - C\theta_{\omega \otimes id_E}(u) \geq 0$  for any  $u \in TX \otimes E$ .

We prove the following lemma of a positively curved singular hermitian metric.

LEMMA 3.2.2. For any point  $x \in X$ , we take a system of local coordinate  $(V; z_1, \ldots, z_n)$  near x and take a local holomorphic frame  $e_1, \ldots, e_r$  of E on V. Let  $U \in V$  be an open set near x. We assume there exists a continuous function  $\zeta$  on X such that  $he^{-\zeta}$  is a positively curved singular hermitian metric on E. Then there exists a positive number  $M_U$  such that for any  $u \in H^0(V, E)$ 

$$|u|_h^2 \ge M_U \sum_{1 \le i \le r} |u_i|^2$$

holds on U, where  $u = \sum_{1 \le i \le r} u_i e_i$ .

**PROOF.** We may assume  $u = u_1 e_1$ . By [**HPS18**, Chapter 16], we obtain

$$|u|_{he^{-\zeta}}(z) = \sup_{f \in E_z^{\vee}} \frac{|f(u)|(z)}{|f|_{(he^{-\zeta})^{\vee}}} \ge \frac{|e_1^{\vee}(u)|(z)}{|e_1^{\vee}|_{(he^{-\zeta})^{\vee}}} = \frac{|u_1|(z)}{|e_1^{\vee}|_{(he^{-\zeta})^{\vee}}}$$

for any  $z \in V$ . Since  $he^{-\zeta}$  is positively curved,  $|e_1^{\vee}|_{(he^{-\zeta})^{\vee}}$  is a plurisubharmonic function on V. Therefore  $|e_1^{\vee}|_{(he^{-\zeta})^{\vee}}$  is bounded above on U. We take a positive number  $M_1$ such that  $|e_1^{\vee}|_{(he^{-\zeta})^{\vee}} \leq M_1$ , then we have  $|u|_{he^{-\zeta}} \geq \frac{|u_1|}{M_1}$ . Since  $e^{\zeta}$  is a positive continuous function, we can take a positive number M such that  $e^{\zeta} \geq M$  on X. We set  $M_U := \frac{M^2}{M_1^2}$ and we obtain

$$|u|_{h}^{2} = |u|_{he^{-\zeta}}^{2} e^{2\zeta} \ge M_{U}|u_{1}|^{2},$$

which completes the proof.

**3.2.2.**  $L^2$  estimates and harmonic integrals on complete Kähler manifolds. We need an  $L^2$  estimate on a complete Kähler manifold. Let Y be a complete Kähler manifold,  $\omega'$  be a (not necessarily complete) Kähler form and (E, h) be a vector bundle with a smooth hermitian metric. The  $L^2$  space  $L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\omega',h}$  is defined by the set of E-valued (n, q) forms with measurable coefficients on Y such that  $\int_Y |f|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'} < +\infty$ , where  $dV_{\omega'} := \omega'^n/n!$  is a volume form on Y.

THEOREM 3.2.3. [**Dembook**, Chapter 7 §7 and Chapter 8 §6] [**Dem82**, Lemme 3.2 and Théorème 4.1] Under the conditions stated above, we also assume that there exists a positive number  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} \ge \epsilon\omega' \otimes Id_E$  in the sense of Nakano. Then for any  $q \ge 1$  and any  $g \in L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\omega',h}$  such that  $\bar{\partial}g = 0$ , there exists  $f \in L^2_{n,q-1}(Y, E)_{\omega',h}$  such that  $\bar{\partial}f = g$  and

$$\int_{Y} |f|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'} \le \frac{1}{q\epsilon} \int_{Y} |g|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'}.$$

We use a fact of harmonic integrals to prove Theorem 3.1.4. For more details, we refer the reader to [Fuj12, Section 2] or [Dembook, Chapter 8]. The maximal closed extension of the  $\bar{\partial}$  operator determines a densely defined closed operator  $\bar{\partial}: L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\omega',h} \to L^2_{n,q+1}(Y, E)_{\omega',h}$ . Then we obtain the following orthogonal decomposition.

THEOREM 3.2.4. [Fuj12, Section 3], [Dembook, Chapter 8].

$$L^2_{n,q}(Y,E)_{\omega',h} = \overline{\mathrm{Im}}\overline{\bar{\partial}} \oplus \mathcal{H}^{n,q}(Y,E) \oplus \overline{\mathrm{Im}}\overline{\bar{\partial}}_{\omega',h}^*$$

holds, where  $\bar{\partial}^*_{\omega',h}$  is the Hilbert space adjoint of  $\bar{\partial}$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{n,q}(Y, E)$  is the set of harmonic forms defined by

$$\mathcal{H}^{n,q}(Y,E) := \{ f \in L^2_{n,q}(Y,E)_{\omega',h} \colon \bar{\partial}f = \bar{\partial}^*_{\omega',h}f = 0 \}.$$

# **3.3. Coherence of** E(h)

We prove Theorem 3.1.2.

#### 32 3. NADEL-NAKANO VANISHING THEOREMS WITH SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

PROOF. We may assume that X is a unit ball in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $E = X \times \mathbb{C}^r$ , and  $\omega$  is a standard Euclidean metric. Let  $e_1, \ldots, e_r$  be a local holomorphic frame of E on X. We take an open ball  $U \subset X$ . It is enough to show that there exists a coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  on U such that  $E(h)_x = \mathcal{F}_x$  for any  $x \in U$ .

We will denote by  $\mathcal{G}$  the space of holomorphic sections  $g \in H^0(U, E)$  such that  $\int_U |g|_h^2 dV_\omega < \infty$ . We consider the evaluation map  $\pi : \mathcal{G} \otimes_{\mathbf{C}} \mathcal{O}_U \to E|_U$ . We define  $\mathcal{F} := \operatorname{Im}(\pi)$ . By Noether's Lemma (see [**GR84**, Chapter 5 §6]),  $\mathcal{F}$  is a coherent sheaf on U.

CLAIM 3.3.1. For any  $x \in U$  and any positive integer k,

$$\mathcal{F}_x + E(h)_x \cap m_x^k \cdot E_{(x)} = E(h)_x$$

holds, where  $m_x$  is a maximal ideal of  $\mathcal{O}_x$ .

We postpone the proof of Claim 3.3.1 and conclude the proof of Theorem 3.1.2. We fix  $x \in U$ . By the Artin-Rees lemma, there exists a positive integer l such that

$$E(h)_x \cap m_x^k \cdot E_{(x)} = m_x^{k-l} (E(h)_x \cap m_x^l \cdot E_{(x)})$$

holds for any k > l. Therefore by Claim 3.3.1, we have

$$E(h)_x = \mathcal{F}_x + E(h)_x \cap m_x^k \cdot E_{(x)} \subset \mathcal{F}_x + m_x \cdot E(h)_x \subset E(h)_x.$$

By Nakayama's lemma, we obtain  $E(h)_x = \mathcal{F}_x$ , which completes the proof.

We now prove Claim 3.3.1.

PROOF. It is easy to check that  $\mathcal{F}_x + E(h)_x \cap m_x^k \cdot E_{(x)} \subset E(h)_x$ ; therefore, we show that  $E(h)_x \subset \mathcal{F}_x + E(h)_x \cap m_x^k \cdot E_{(x)}$ .

We take  $f = \sum_i f_i e_i \in E(h)_x$ . Then there exists an open neighborhood  $W \subset U$ near x such that  $f_i$  is a holomorphic function on W and  $\int_W |f|_h^2 dV_\omega < +\infty$ . Let  $\rho$ be a cut-off function on W. We note that  $\bar{\partial}(\rho f)$  is an E-valued (0,1) smooth form such that  $\int_X |\rho f|_{\omega,h}^2 dV_\omega < +\infty$ . We define the plurisubharmonic function  $\varphi_k$  to be  $\varphi_k(z) = (n+k) \log |z-x|^2 + C|z|^2$  such that

$$\sqrt{-1\Theta_{E,h}} + \sqrt{-1\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi_k} \otimes Id_E \ge \omega \otimes Id_E$$
 on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano,

where C is some positive constant. Since  $\rho$  is a cut-off function, we obtain

$$\int_X |\bar{\partial}(\rho f)|^2_{\omega,h} e^{-\varphi_k} dV_\omega < +\infty$$

Since  $X \setminus Z$  is complete by [**Dem82**, Théorème 0.2], there exists an *E*-valued (0,0) form  $F = \sum_{i} F_{i}e_{i}$  on  $X \setminus Z$  such that

$$\int_{X\setminus Z} |F|_h^2 e^{-\varphi_k} dV_\omega \le \int_X |\bar{\partial}(\rho f)|_{\omega,h}^2 e^{-\varphi_k} dV_\omega < +\infty \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{\partial}F = \bar{\partial}(\rho f)$$

by Theorem 3.2.3. Here we may regard  $\bar{\partial}(\rho f)$  as an (n,1) form  $\bar{\partial}(\rho f)dz^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dz^n$  on X with values in  $-K_X$ .

Let  $G := \rho f - F = \sum_{i} G_{i} e_{i}$ , which is an *E*-valued (0,0) form on  $X \setminus Z$ . We obtain  $\int_{X \setminus Z} |G|_{h}^{2} dV_{\omega} < +\infty \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{\partial}G = 0.$ 

By Lemma 3.2.2 we have  $\sum_i \int_{U \setminus Z} |G_i|^2 dV_\omega < +\infty$ , and therefore  $G_i$  extends to the whole of U and  $G_i$  is holomorphic on U by the Riemann extension theorem. Hence we obtain  $G \in \mathcal{G}$  and  $G_x \in \mathcal{F}_x$ .

Let W' be the set of interior points in  $\{z \in U : \rho(z) = 1\}$ ; then we have F = f - Gon  $W' \setminus Z$ . Then F extends on W' and F is holomorphic on W'. It is obvious that  $F_x \in E(h)_x$  from  $f_x \in E(h)$  and  $G_x \in \mathcal{F}_x \subset E(h)_x$ . By  $\int_{X \setminus Z} |F|_h^2 e^{-\varphi_k} dV_\omega < +\infty$  and Lemma 3.2.2, we have

$$\sum_{i} \int_{W'} |F_i|^2 e^{-(n+k)\log|z-x|^2} dV_{\omega} < +\infty.$$

Therefore we obtain  $(F_i)_x \in m_x^k$  and  $F_x \in m_x^k \cdot E_{(x)}$ .

Thus we have  $f_x = G_x + F_x \in \mathcal{F}_x + E(h)_x \cap m_x^k \cdot E_{(x)}$ , which completes the proof of Claim 3.3.1.

# 3.4. Vanishing theorems and injectivity theorems

Let  $(X, \omega)$  be a compact Kähler manifold and (E, h) be a holomorphic vector bundle with a singular hermitian metric on X. We assume the conditions (1) - (3) in Theorem 3.1.2. We will denote  $Y := X \setminus Z$ . By [**Fuj12**, Section 3], there exists a complete Kähler form  $\omega'$  on Y such that  $\omega' \geq \omega$  on Y. We study the cohomology group  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h))$ .

THEOREM 3.4.1. Under the conditions stated above, we obtain the following isomorphism:

$$H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h)) \cong \frac{L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\omega',h} \cap \operatorname{Ker}\partial}{\operatorname{Im}\bar{\partial}}$$

for any  $q \ge 0$ .

**PROOF.** The proof will be divided into three steps.

Step 1 Setup.

Let  $\mathcal{U} = \{U_j\}_{j \in \Lambda}$  be a finite Stein cover of X. By Theorem 3.1.2, the sheaf cohomology  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h))$  is isomorphic to the Čech cohomology  $H^q(\mathcal{U}, K_X \otimes E(h))$ . If necessary we take  $U_j$  small enough, we may assume that there exists a Stein open set  $V_j$ , a smooth plurisubharmonic function  $\varphi_j$  on  $V_j$  and a positive number  $C_j > 0$  such that

(1) 
$$U_j \subset \subset V_j$$
,

## 34 3. NADEL-NAKANO VANISHING THEOREMS WITH SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

(2)  $C_j^{-1} < e^{-\varphi_j} < C_j$  on  $V_j$ , and (3)  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} + \sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi_j \ge \omega' \otimes Id_E$  on  $V_j \setminus Z$ 

for any  $j \in \Lambda$ . We set  $U_{i_0 i_1 \dots i_q} := U_{i_0} \cap U_{i_1} \cap \dots \cap U_{i_q}$ , which is a Stein open set. With the conditions above, it is easy to check the following two claims.

CLAIM 3.4.2. [Fuj12, Remark 2.19] For any *E*-valued (n, q) form u on Y with measurable coefficients,  $|u|^2_{\omega',h}dV_{\omega'} \leq |u|^2_{\omega,h}dV_{\omega}$  holds. If q = 0,  $|u|^2_{\omega',h}dV_{\omega'} = |u|^2_{\omega,h}dV_{\omega}$  holds.

CLAIM 3.4.3. For any  $q \geq 1$  and any  $g \in L^2_{n,q}(U_{i_0i_1...i_q} \setminus Z, E)_{\omega',h}$  such that  $\bar{\partial}g = 0$ , there exists  $f \in L^2_{n,q-1}(U_{i_0i_1...i_q} \setminus Z, E)_{\omega',h}$  such that  $\bar{\partial}f = g$  and

$$\int_{U_{i_0i_1\ldots i_q}\setminus Z} |f|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'} \le C'^2 \int_{U_{i_0i_1\ldots i_q}\setminus Z} |g|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'},$$

where  $C' := max_{i \in \Lambda} C_i$ .

Since  $U_{i_0i_1...i_q} \setminus Z$  is a complete Kähler manifold and  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} + \sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi_{i_0} \geq \omega' \otimes Id_E$ holds on  $U_{i_0i_1...i_q} \setminus Z$ , we can prove Claim 3.4.3 by Theorem 3.2.3.

Step 2 Construction of a homomorphism from Čech cohomology to Dolbeault cohomology.

We fix  $c = \{c_{i_0 i_1 \dots i_q}\} \in H^q(\mathcal{U}, K_X \otimes E(h))$ . By the definition of Čech cohomology, we have

(1)  $c_{i_0i_1...i_q} \in H^0(U_{i_0i_1...i_q}, K_X \otimes E(h))$  and (2)  $\delta c := \sum_{k=0}^{q+1} (-1)^k c_{i_0i_1...i_k...i_{q+1}}|_{U_{i_0i_1...i_{q+1}}} = 0.$ 

Let  $\{\rho_i\}_{i\in\Lambda}$  be a partition of unity subordinate to  $\mathcal{U}$ . For each  $k \in \{0, 1, \ldots, q-1\}$ , we define an *E*-valued form  $b_{i_0i_1\ldots i_k}$  by

$$b_{i_0i_1\dots i_k} := \begin{cases} \sum_{j \in \Lambda} \rho_j c_{ji_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}} & \text{if } k = q-1\\ \sum_{j \in \Lambda} \rho_j \bar{\partial} b_{ji_0i_1\dots i_k} & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Then, we have

$$\delta\{b_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}}\}_{i_0i_1\dots i_q} = \sum_{k=0}^q (-1)^k b_{i_0i_1\dots \check{i_k}\dots i_q} = \sum_{k=0}^q \sum_{j\in\Lambda} (-1)^k \rho_j c_{ji_0i_1\dots \check{i_k}\dots i_q} = \sum_{j\in\Lambda} \rho_j \sum_{k=0}^q (-1)^k c_{ji_0i_1\dots \check{i_k}\dots i_q}$$

From  $\delta c = 0$ , we have

$$\sum_{j \in \Lambda} \rho_j \sum_{k=0}^{q} (-1)^k c_{ji_0 i_1 \dots \check{i_k} \dots i_q} = \sum_{j \in \Lambda} \rho_j c_{i_0 i_1 \dots i_q} = c_{i_0 i_1 \dots i_q}.$$

Therefore, we obtain  $\delta\{b_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}}\} = c$ . Similarly we obtain  $\delta\{b_{i_0i_1\dots i_k}\} = \{\bar{\partial}b_{i_0i_1\dots i_{k+1}}\}$  for each  $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, q-2\}$ .

Therefore we obtain  $\bar{\partial}b_{i_0}|_{U_{i_0}\setminus Z}$ , which is an *E*-valued (n,q)  $\bar{\partial}$ -closed form on  $U_{i_0}\setminus Z$ . Since we have

$$\delta\{\bar{\partial}b_{i_0}\} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{U_{i_0}\setminus Z} |\bar{\partial}b_{i_0}|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'} \le \int_{U_{i_0}} |\bar{\partial}b_{i_0}|^2_{\omega,h} dV_{\omega} < +\infty$$

by Claim 3.4.2, we can define  $\alpha(c) := \{\overline{\partial}b_{i_0}\} \in L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\omega',h} \cap \operatorname{Ker}\overline{\partial}$ . By the above construction, we obtain the homomorphism

$$\alpha \colon H^q(\mathcal{U}, K_X \otimes E(h)) \to \frac{L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\omega',h} \cap \mathrm{Ker}\bar{\partial}}{\mathrm{Im}\bar{\partial}}.$$

Step 3 Construction of a homomorphism from Dolbeault cohomology to Cech cohomology.

We fix  $u \in L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\omega',h} \cap \operatorname{Ker}\bar{\partial}$  and define  $D := \int_Y |u|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'} < +\infty$ . By Claim 3.4.3, there exists  $v_{i_0} \in L^2_{n,q-1}(U_{i_0} \setminus Z, E)_{\omega',h}$  such that

$$\bar{\partial}v_{i_0} = u|_{U_{i_0}\setminus Z}$$
 and  $\int_{U_{i_0}\setminus Z} |v_{i_0}|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'} \le C'^2 D.$ 

We set  $u^1 := \delta\{v_{i_0}\}$ . From  $\bar{\partial}u^1 = 0$ , there exists  $v_{i_0i_1} \in L^2_{n,q-2}(U_{i_0i_1} \setminus Z, E)_{\omega',h}$  such that

$$\bar{\partial}v_{i_0i_1} = u_{i_0i_1}^1$$
 and  $\int_{U_{i_0i_1}\setminus Z} |v_{i_0i_1}|^2_{\omega',h} dV_{\omega'} \le 2C'^2 D$ 

by Claim 3.4.3. We set  $u^2 := \delta\{v_{i_0i_1}\}$  and we have  $\bar{\partial}u^2 = 0$ .

By repeating this procedure, we obtain  $v_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}} \in L^2_{n,0}(U_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}} \setminus Z, E)_{\omega',h}$  and  $u^q = \delta\{v_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}}\}$ . By  $\bar{\partial}u^q_{i_0i_1...i_q} = 0$ ,  $u^q_{i_0i_1...i_q}$  is a holomorphic *E*-valued (n, 0) form on  $U_{i_0i_1...i_q} \setminus Z$ . Since we obtain

$$\int_{U_{i_0i_1\dots i_q}\setminus Z} |u_{i_0i_1\dots i_q}^q|_{\omega,h}^2 dV_\omega = \int_{U_{i_0i_1\dots i_q}\setminus Z} |u_{i_0i_1\dots i_q}^q|_{\omega',h}^2 dV_{\omega'} \le q! C'^2 D < +\infty$$

by Claim 3.4.2,  $u_{i_0i_1...i_q}^q|_{U_{i_0i_1...i_q}\setminus Z}$  extends on  $U_{i_0i_1...i_q}$  and  $u_{i_0i_1...i_q}^q|_{U_{i_0i_1...i_q}\setminus Z}$  is a holomorphic *E*-valued (n, 0) form on  $U_{i_0i_1...i_q}$  by the Riemann extension theorem and Lemma 3.2.2. Therefore we can define  $\beta(u) := \{u_{i_0i_1...i_q}^q|_{U_{i_0i_1...i_q}\setminus Z}\} \in H^q(\mathcal{U}, K_X \otimes E(h))$ . By the above construction, we obtain the homomorphism

$$\beta \colon \frac{L^2_{n,q}(Y,E)_{\omega',h} \cap \operatorname{Ker}\bar{\partial}}{\operatorname{Im}\bar{\partial}} \to H^q(\mathcal{U}, K_X \otimes E(h)).$$

It is easy to check whether  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  induce the isomorphism in Theorem 3.4.1.

We finish this section by proving Theorem 3.1.3 and 3.1.4.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.3. By Theorem 3.4.1, we have  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h)) \cong \frac{L^2_{n,q}(Y,E)_{\omega',h} \cap \operatorname{Ker}\bar{\partial}}{\operatorname{Im}\bar{\partial}}$ . By Theorem 3.2.3, we have  $\frac{L^2_{n,q}(Y,E)_{\omega',h} \cap \operatorname{Ker}\bar{\partial}}{\operatorname{Im}\bar{\partial}} = 0$ , which completes the proof.
#### 36 3. NADEL-NAKANO VANISHING THEOREMS WITH SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

Proof of Theorem 3.1.4. By Theorem 3.1.2,  $K_X \otimes E(h)$  is a coherent sheaf on X. Therefore, by the argument of [**Fuj12**, Claim 1], Theorem 3.2.4 and Theorem 3.4.1, we obtain  $\overline{\text{Im}\bar{\partial}} = \text{Im}\bar{\partial}, \overline{\text{Im}\bar{\partial}_{\omega',h}^*} = \text{Im}\bar{\partial}_{\omega',h}^*$  and  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes E(h)) \cong \mathcal{H}^{n,q}(Y, E)$ . Similarly, we obtain  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes L \otimes E(h)) \cong \mathcal{H}^{n,q}(Y, L \otimes E)$ . By [**Fuj12**, Claim 2], the multiplication homomorphism  $\times s \colon \mathcal{H}^{n,q}(Y, E) \to \mathcal{H}^{n,q}(Y, L \otimes E)$  is well-defined and injective, which completes the proof.

## 3.5. Applications

**3.5.1.** Hosono's example. In this subsection, we study a singular hermitian metric induced by holomorphic sections, proposed by Hosono [Hos17, Chapter 4].

In this section, we assume that E has holomorphic sections  $s_1, \ldots, s_N \in H^0(X, E)$ such that  $E_y$  is generated by  $s_1(y), \ldots, s_N(y)$  for a general point y. For any point  $x \in X$ , we take a local coordinate  $(U; z_1, \ldots, z_n)$  near x and take a local holomorphic frame  $e_1, \ldots, e_r$  of E on U. Write  $s_i = \sum_{1 \le j \le r} f_{ij}e_j$ , where  $f_{ij}$  are holomorphic functions on U. A singular hermitian metric h induced by  $s_1, \ldots, s_N$  is given by

$$h_{jk}^{-1} := \sum_{1 \le i \le N} \bar{f}_{ij} f_{ik}.$$

By [Hos17, Example 3.6 and Proposition 4.1], h is positively curved and E(h) is a coherent sheaf. Hosono pointed out that we can easily calculate the curvature of h in the case N = r.

LEMMA 3.5.1. In the case N = r, there exists a proper analytic subset Z such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} = 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$ . In particular we obtain  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} \ge 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano.

PROOF. We take a finite Stein open covering  $\{U_i\}_{i \in \Lambda}$ . Under the conditions stated above, an  $r \times r$  matrix  $A^{(i)}$  on  $U_i$  is defined by

$$A_{jk}^{(i)} = f_{jk}.$$

Set  $Z_i := \{z \in U_i: \operatorname{rank} A^{(i)}(z) < r\}$  and  $W = \{z \in X: h \text{ is not smooth at } z\}$ . We have  $h = (h^{-1})^{-1} = \frac{\widetilde{h^{-1}}}{\det h^{-1}}$ , where  $\widetilde{h^{-1}}$  is a cofactor matrix of  $h^{-1}$ . Since the (i, j) element of  $\widetilde{h^{-1}}$  is a smooth function on X for any  $1 \leq i, j \leq r$ , we have  $W = \{z \in X: \det h^{-1}(z) = 0\}$ . By [Hos17, Lemma 4.3], we have

$$\det h^{-1} = \sum_{1 \le i_1 < i_2 < \dots < i_r \le N} |\det(s_{i_1}, s_{i_2}, \dots, s_{i_r})|,$$

and therefore W is a proper analytic subset. We write  $Z := \bigcup_{i \in \Lambda} Z_i \cup W$ , which is a proper analytic subset.

By an easy computation, we have

$$\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} = \sqrt{-1}\bar{\partial}(\bar{h}^{-1}\partial\bar{h}) = \sqrt{-1}(\partial\bar{\partial}\bar{h}^{-1} - \partial\bar{h}^{-1}\bar{h}\bar{\partial}\bar{h}^{-1})\bar{h}.$$

For any  $z \in X \setminus Z$ , we may assume  $f_{ij}(z) = \delta_{ij}$ . From  $\bar{h}_{jk}^{-1} = \sum_{1 \leq i \leq r} f_{ij} \bar{f}_{ik}$ , we have

$$\partial \bar{h}_{jk}^{-1}(z) = \partial f_{kj}(z) \text{ and } \bar{\partial} \bar{h}_{jk}^{-1}(z) = \bar{\partial} \bar{f}_{jk}(z).$$

Thus, we obtain

$$(\partial \bar{h}^{-1}\bar{h}\bar{\partial}\bar{h}^{-1})_{jk}(z) = \sum_{1 \le i \le r} \partial f_{ij}\bar{\partial}\bar{f}_{ik}(z) = \partial \bar{\partial}\bar{h}_{jk}^{-1}(z),$$

which completes the proof.

By Lemma 3.5.1 and Theorem 3.1.3, we obtain the following corollary.

COROLLARY 3.5.2. Let  $(L, h_L)$  be a holomorphic line bundle with a singular hermitian metric. We assume there exist a proper analytic subset Z and a positive number  $\epsilon > 0$  such that  $h_L$  is smooth on  $X \setminus Z$  and  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L,h_L} \ge \epsilon \omega$  on X.

Then,  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes L \otimes E(hh_L)) = 0$  holds for all  $q \ge 1$  for any holomorphic vector bundle E and a singular hermitian metric h induced by  $s_1 \cdots s_r \in H^0(X, E)$ .

In particular  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes L \otimes E(h)) = 0$  holds for all  $q \ge 1$  if L is ample.

We point out that such a metric  $h_L$  on L as in Corollary 3.5.2 always exists if L is big.

Now, we introduce Hosono's example [Hos17, Example 4.4]. Set  $X = \mathbb{C}^2$  and let  $E = X \times \mathbb{C}^2$  be the trivial rank-two bundle. We choose sections  $s_1 = e_1$  and  $s_2 = ze_1 + we_2$ . Then the singular hermitian metric  $h_E$  induced by  $s_1, s_2$  can be written by

$$h_E = \frac{1}{|w|^2} \begin{pmatrix} |w|^2 & -w\bar{z} \\ -z\bar{w} & |z|^2 + 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hosono proved the following theorem by calculating the standard approximation by convolution of  $h_E$ .

THEOREM 3.5.3. [Hos17, Theorem 1.2] The standard approximation defined by convolution of  $h_E$  does not have a uniformly bounded curvature from below in the sense of Nakano.

Therefore, we can not apply the vanishing theorem of [deC98] to this example. However, we can apply Corollary 3.5.2 to this example. Thus our results are new results.

REMARK 3.5.4. We ask whether there exists a proper analytic subset Z such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} \ge 0$  on  $X \setminus Z$  in the sense of Nakano for any singular hermitian metric h induced by  $s_1 \cdots s_N \in H^0(X, E)$  in the case N > r. This calculation is very complicated and this question is open, but it is likely that the answer is "No".

#### 38 3. NADEL-NAKANO VANISHING THEOREMS WITH SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

**3.5.2.** Big vector bundles. Let  $\tilde{\omega}$  be a Kähler form on  $\mathbb{P}(E)$ . Inayama communicated to the author the following lemma.

LEMMA 3.5.5. Let E be a vector bundle and h be a singular hermitian metric on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$ . We assume that there exist a positive number  $\epsilon > 0$  and a proper analytic subset  $\tilde{Z} \subset \mathbb{P}(E)$  such that  $\tilde{h}$  is smooth on  $\mathbb{P}(E) \setminus \tilde{Z}$ ,  $\pi(\tilde{Z}) \neq X$ , and  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1),\tilde{h}} \geq \epsilon \tilde{\omega} \otimes id_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)}$ .

Then h induces a singular hermitian metric  $h_m$  on  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes \det E$  such that

- (1)  $h_m$  is smooth on  $X \setminus \pi(\tilde{Z})$ ,
- (2)  $h_m$  is a positively curved singular hermitian metric, and
- (3)  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{\operatorname{Sym}^m(E)\otimes \det E,h_m} \geq \epsilon \omega \otimes Id_{\operatorname{Sym}^m(E)\otimes \det E}$  on  $X \setminus \pi(\tilde{Z})$  in the sense of Nakano.

PROOF. From  $\operatorname{Sym}^{m}(E) \otimes \det E = \pi_{*}(K_{\mathbb{P}(E)/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m+r))$ ,  $\operatorname{Sym}^{m}(E) \otimes \det E$ can be endowed with the  $L^{2}$  metric  $h_{m}$  with respect to  $\tilde{h}$ . Therefore by the argument of [**Ber09**, Theorem 1.2, Theorem 1.3, and Section 4], (1) and (3) are proved. By [**HPS18**] and [**PT18**], (2) is proved.  $\Box$ 

REMARK 3.5.6. If E is big, such a metric  $\tilde{h}$  on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  as in the assumption of Lemma 3.5.5 always exists.

Thus, we can apply Theorem 3.1.3 to  $(\text{Sym}^m(E) \otimes \det E, h_m)$  and we have the following corollary.

COROLLARY 3.5.7. Under the conditions stated in Lemma 3.5.5,  $H^q(X, K_X \otimes (\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes \det E)(h_m)) = 0$  holds for any  $m \ge 0$  and  $q \ge 1$ .

This corollary is a generalization of Griffiths' vanishing theorem in [Gri69].

## 3.6. On Ohsawa's vanishing theorem

We use the results of [**Ohs84**]. Let Y be a complete Kähler manifold,  $\omega'$  be a Kähler form and (E, h) be a vector bundle with a smooth hermitian metric. Let  $\tau$  be a smooth semipositive (1, 1) form on Y. Write

$$L^2_{n,q}(Y,E)_{\tau,h} := \{ f \in L^2_{n,q}(Y,E)_{\omega'+\tau,h} ; \lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \int_Y |f|^2_{\epsilon \omega'+\tau,h} dV_{\epsilon \omega'+\tau} < +\infty \}$$

By [**Ohs84**, Proposition 2.4],  $\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{Y} |f|^2_{\epsilon \omega' + \tau, h} dV_{\epsilon \omega' + \tau}$  and  $L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\tau,h}$  do not depend on the choice of the metric  $\omega'$ . We use Ohsawa's  $L^2$  estimate.

THEOREM 3.6.1. [Ohs84, Theorem 2.8] Under the conditions stated above, we also assume that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{E,h} - \tau \otimes Id_E \geq 0$  on Y. For any  $q \geq 1$  and  $f \in L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\tau,h}$  such that  $\bar{\partial}f = 0$ , there exists  $g \in L^2_{n,q-1}(Y, E)_{\tau,h}$  such that  $\bar{\partial}g = f$  and

$$\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{Y} |g|^{2}_{\epsilon \omega' + \tau, h} dV_{\epsilon \omega' + \tau} \leq q \lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{Y} |f|^{2}_{\epsilon \omega' + \tau, h} dV_{\epsilon \omega' + \tau}.$$

Now we prove Theorem 3.1.5.

PROOF. We take a complete Kähler form  $\omega'$  on  $Y := X \setminus Z$  as in Section 4. The proof of Theorem 3.1.5 is similar to those of [**Ohs84**, Theorem 3.1] and Theorem 3.4.1 with a slight modification.

Let  $\mathcal{U} = \{U_j\}_{j \in \Lambda}$  be a finite Stein cover of W. By Theorem 3.1.2 and the Grauert direct image theorem,  $\pi_*(K_X \otimes E(h))$  is coherent. Therefore the sheaf cohomology  $H^q(W, \pi_*(K_X \otimes E(h)))$  is isomorphic to the Čech cohomology  $H^q(\mathcal{U}, \pi_*(K_X \otimes E(h)))$ . We point out the following claim.

CLAIM 3.6.2. [Ohs84, Lemma 3.2] For any form g on W,  $|\pi^*g(x)|_{\omega+\pi^*\sigma} \leq |g(\pi(x))|_{\sigma}$  holds at any  $x \in X$ .

We fix  $c = \{c_{i_0 i_1 \dots i_q}\} \in H^q(\mathcal{U}, \pi_*(K_X \otimes E(h)))$ . By the definition of Čech cohomology, we have

- (1)  $c_{i_0i_1...i_q} \in H^0(U_{i_0i_1...i_q}, \pi_*(K_X \otimes E(h))) = H^0(\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1...i_q}), K_X \otimes E(h))$  and
- (2)  $\delta c := \sum_{k=0}^{q+1} (-1)^k c_{i_0 i_1 \dots i_k \dots i_{q+1}} |_{\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0 i_1 \dots i_{q+1}})} = 0.$

Let  $\{\rho_j\}_{j\in\Lambda}$  be a partition of unity of  $\mathcal{U}$ . Based on Section 4, for each  $k \in \{0, 1, \ldots, q-1\}$ , we define an *E*-valued form  $b_{i_0i_1\ldots i_k}$  by

$$b_{i_0i_1\dots i_k} := \begin{cases} \sum_{j\in\Lambda} \pi^*(\rho_j) c_{ji_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}} & \text{if } k = q-1\\ \sum_{j\in\Lambda} \pi^*(\rho_j) \bar{\partial} b_{ji_0i_1\dots i_k} & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

As in Step 2 in the proof of Theorem 3.4.1, we obtain

$$\delta\{b_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}}\} = c, \text{ and } \delta\{b_{i_0i_1\dots i_k}\} = \{\bar{\partial}b_{i_0i_1\dots i_{k+1}}\}$$

for each  $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, q - 2\}$ .

Therefore we obtain  $\bar{\partial} b_{i_0}|_{\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0})\setminus Z}$ , which is an *E*-valued (n,q)  $\bar{\partial}$ -closed form on  $\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0})\setminus Z$ . By Claim 3.6.2,  $|\bar{\partial}(\pi^*\rho_j)|_{\epsilon\omega+\pi^*\sigma}$  are bounded above by  $|\bar{\partial}(\rho_j)|_{\sigma}$  for any  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $|c_{i_0i_1...i_q}|_{\epsilon\omega+\pi^*\sigma}^2 dV_{\epsilon\omega+\pi^*\sigma}$  are independent of  $\epsilon$  by Claim 3.4.2. Therefore we have  $\delta\{\bar{\partial} b_{i_0}\} = 0$  and

$$\int_{\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0})\backslash Z} |\bar{\partial}b_{i_0}|^2_{\epsilon\omega'+\pi^*\sigma,h} dV_{\epsilon\omega'+\pi^*\sigma} \leq \int_{\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0})} |\bar{\partial}b_{i_0}|^2_{\epsilon\omega+\pi^*\sigma,h} dV_{\epsilon\omega+\pi^*\sigma}$$
$$\leq \lim_{\epsilon\downarrow 0} \int_{\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0})} |\bar{\partial}b_{i_0}|^2_{\epsilon\omega+\pi^*\sigma,h} dV_{\epsilon\omega+\pi^*\sigma}$$
$$< +\infty$$

for any  $\epsilon > 0$  by Claim 3.4.2. Thus, we may regard  $\{\bar{\partial}b_{i_0}\}$  as an element of  $L^2_{n,q}(Y, E)_{\sigma,h}$ and denote by  $b := \bar{\partial}b_{i_0}$ . By Theorem 3.6.1, there exists  $a \in L^2_{n,q-1}(Y, E)_{\sigma,h}$  such that

$$\bar{\partial}a = b$$
 and  $\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{Y \setminus Z} |a|^2_{\epsilon \omega' + \pi^* \sigma, h} dV_{\epsilon \omega' + \pi^* \sigma} < +\infty.$ 

Write  $d_{i_0}^1 := b_{i_0} - a \in L^2_{n,q-1}(\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0}) \setminus Z, E)_{\sigma,h}$  and  $d^1 := \{d_{i_0}^1\}$ . We point out  $\delta d^1 = \delta\{b_{i_0}\} = \{\bar{\partial}b_{i_0i_1}\}$  and  $\bar{\partial}d^1 = 0$ .

By Theorem 3.6.1, there exists  $a_{i_0} \in L^2_{n,q-2}(\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0}) \setminus Z, E)_{\sigma,h}$  such that

$$\bar{\partial}a_{i_0} = d^1_{i_0}$$
 and  $\lim_{\epsilon \downarrow 0} \int_{U_{i_0} \backslash Z} |a_i|^2_{\epsilon \omega' + \pi^* \sigma, h} dV_{\epsilon \omega' + \pi^* \sigma} < +\infty.$ 

We write  $d_{i_0i_1}^2 := b_{i_0i_1} - a_{i_0} + a_{i_1} \in L^2_{n,q-2}(\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1}) \setminus Z, E)_{\sigma,h}$  and  $d^2 := \{d_{i_0i_1}^2\}$ . We point out that

 $\delta d^2 = \delta \{ b_{i_0 i_1} \} = \{ \bar{\partial} b_{i_0 i_1 i_2} \}$  and  $\bar{\partial} d^2 = 0.$ 

By repeating this procedure, we obtain  $d_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}}^{q-1} \in L^2_{n,0}(\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}}) \setminus Z, E)_{\sigma,h}$  and  $d^{q-1} := \{d_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}}^{q-1}\}$  such that

$$\delta d^{q-1} = \delta \{ b_{i_0 i_1 \dots i_{q-1}} \} = c \text{ and } \bar{\partial} d^{q-1} = 0.$$

We have

$$\int_{\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}})\backslash Z} |d_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}}^{q-1}|_{\omega,h}^2 dV_\omega = \int_{\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}})\backslash Z} |d_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}}^{q-1}|_{\omega'+\pi^*\sigma,h}^2 dV_{\omega'+\pi^*\sigma}$$
$$= \lim_{\epsilon\downarrow 0} \int_{\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}})\backslash Z} |d_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}}^{q-1}|_{\epsilon\omega'+\pi^*\sigma,h}^2 dV_{\epsilon\omega'+\pi^*\sigma}$$
$$< +\infty.$$

By Lemma 3.2.2 and the Riemann extension theorem,  $d_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}}^{q-1}$  extends on  $\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}})$ and  $d_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}}^{q-1}$  is holomorphic on  $\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1...i_{q-1}})$ . Therefore we obtain

$$d_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}}^{q-1} \in H^0(\pi^{-1}(U_{i_0i_1\dots i_{q-1}}), K_X \otimes E(h)) \text{ and } \delta d^{q-1} = c,$$

which completes the proof.

REMARK 3.6.3. We ask whether, under the assumptions of singular hermitian metrics as in Theorems 3.1.3 - 3.1.5, we can show higher rank analogies of a generalization of the Kollár-Ohsawa type vanishing theorem by Matsumura [Mat16], an injectivity theorem of higher direct images by Fujino [Fuj13], an injectivity theorem of pseudoeffective line bundles by Fujino and Matsumura [FujM16] and so on. It is likely the answer is "Yes" and the proof may be similar to the original proof with a slight modification.

## CHAPTER 4

# Characterization of pseudo-effective vector bundles by singular hermitian metrics

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we give complex geometric descriptions of the notions of algebraic geometric positivity of vector bundles and torsion-free coherent sheaves, such as nef, big, pseudo-effective and weakly positive, by using singular hermitian metrics. As an applications, we obtain a generalization of Mori's result.

## 4.1. Introduction

In [Kod54], Kodaira proved that a line bundle L is ample if and only if L has a smooth hermitian metric with positive curvature. After that, Demailly [Dem92] gave complex geometric descriptions of nef, big and pseudo-effective line bundles. For example, he proved that a line bundle L is pseudo-effective if and only if L has a singular hermitian metric with semipositive curvature current. Ample, nef, big and pseudo-effective are notions of algebraic geometric positivity. Thus, their works related algebraic geometry to complex geometry.

The aim of this paper is to give complex geometric descriptions of notions of algebraic geometric positivity of vector bundles and torsion-free coherent sheaves. Griffiths [Gri69] proved that if a vector bundle E has a Griffiths positive metric, then E is ample (i.e.  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  is ample ). The inverse implication is unknown. We do not know whether an ample vector bundle has a Griffiths positive metric. This is so-called Griffiths' conjecture, which is one of longstanding open problems. In recent years, Liu, Sun and Yang [LSY13] gave a partial answer to this conjecture.

THEOREM 4.1.1. [LSY13, Theorem 1.2 and Corollary 4.6] Let X be a smooth projective variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle on X. If E is ample, then there exists  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\text{Sym}^k(E)$  has a Griffiths (Nakano) positive smooth hermitian metric.

Throughout this paper, we will denote by  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E)$  the k-th symmetric power of E and denote by  $\mathbb{N}_{>0}$  the set of positive integers. Inspired by the works of Liu, Sun and Yang, we study notions of algebraic geometric positivity of vector bundles by using smooth and singular hermitian metrics.

THEOREM 4.1.2. Let X be a smooth projective variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle on X.

### 42 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE BY SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

- (1) E is nef iff there exists an ample line bundle A on X such that  $\text{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive smooth hermitian metric for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .
- (2) E is big iff there exist an ample line bundle A and  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric.
- (3) E is pseudo-effective iff there exists an ample line bundle A such that  $\text{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .
- (4) E is weakly positive iff there exist an ample line bundle A and a proper Zariski closed set Z such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_k$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and the Lelong number of  $h_k$  at x is less than 2 for any  $x \in X \setminus Z$ .

We will explain the definitions of big, pseudo-effective and weakly positive in Section 2. Further, we obtain similar results in case of torsion-free coherent sheaves. We will discuss about torsion-free coherent sheaves in Section 5.

Nef, big, pseudo-effective and weakly positive are notions of algebraic geometric positivity of vector bundles and torsion-free coherent sheaves. In particular, Viehweg [**Vie83a**] proved that a direct image sheaf of an *m*-th relative canonical line bundle  $f_*(mK_{X/Y})$  is weakly positive for any fibration  $f: X \to Y$ . By using this result, he studied Iitaka's conjecture. A Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric, which is a analogy of a singular hermitian metric of a line bundle and a Griffiths semipositive metric, was investigated in many papers. By using Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metrics, Cao and Păun [**CP17**] proved Iitaka's conjecture when the base space is an Abelian variety. Therefore, our results also relate algebraic geometry to complex geometry.

We have some applications about our results.

COROLLARY 4.1.3. Let X be a smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety. If the tangent bundle  $T_X$  is big then X is biholommorphic to  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ .

This corollary is a generalization of Mori's result: "If the tangent bundle  $T_X$  is ample then X is biholomorphic to  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ " since an ample vector bundle is big. This Corollary was proved by Fulger and Murayama [FulM19, Corollary 7.8] by using Seshadri constants of vector bundles. We give an another proof by using singular hermitian metrics.

## 4.2. A singular hermitian metric on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$

We study a singular hermitian metric on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  induced by a singular hermitian metric on E.

LEMMA 4.2.1. Let X be a smooth projective n-dimensional variety, E be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X, and A be a line bundle on X. Assume that there exists  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_m$ . Then  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m) \otimes \pi^* A$  has a singular hermitian metric  $g_m$  with semipositive curvature current. Moreover for any  $x \in X$ , there exist an open set  $x \in V$  and a positive constant  $C_V$  such that  $g_m \leq C_V \pi^*(\det h_m)$  on  $\pi^{-1}(V)$ .

PROOF. We will denote by  $\pi_m \colon \mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A) \to X$ . We have  $\mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E)) = \mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A)$  and  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E))}(1) \otimes \pi_m^*(A) = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A)}(1)$ . Let  $\mu_m \colon \mathbb{P}(E) \to \mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E))$  be a standard *m*-th Veronese embedding. Then we have  $\pi = \pi_m \circ \mu_m$  and

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m) \otimes \pi^* A = \mu_m^*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E))}(1)) \otimes \pi^*(A) = \mu_m^*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\operatorname{Sym}^m(E)\otimes A)}(1)).$$

By [**PT18**, Proposition 2.3.5],  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\text{Sym}^m(E)\otimes A)}(1)$  can be endowed a singular hermitian metric  $\widetilde{g_m}$  with semipositive curvature current. Therefore, we put  $g_m := \pi_m^* \widetilde{g_m}$ , which is a singular hermitian metric with semipositive curvature current on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m) \otimes \pi^* A$ .

We fix a point  $x \in X$ . Since  $\pi_m^{-1}(x)$  is compact, there exist an open set  $x \in V$  and a positive constant  $C_V$  such that  $\widehat{g}_m \leq C_V \pi_m^*(\det h_m)$  on  $\pi_m^{-1}(V)$  by [**PT18**, Proposition 2.3.5]. Therefore, we have  $g_m \leq C_V \pi^*(\det h_m)$  on  $\pi^{-1}(V)$ .

LEMMA 4.2.2. Let X be a smooth projective n-dimensional variety, E be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X and A be a line bundle on X. Assume there exist  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and a point  $x \in X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A$  is globally generated at x. Then there exist a singular hermitian metric g with semipositive curvature current on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m) \otimes \pi^* A$  and a proper Zariski closed set  $Z \subset X$  such that g is smooth outside  $\pi^{-1}(Z)$ .

Moreover if there exists a Zariski open set  $U \subset X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A$  is globally generated at x for any  $x \in U$ , we can take Z such that  $Z \cap U = \emptyset$ .

PROOF. Let  $\{U_i\}$  be a finite open cover of X such that  $U_i$  is a coordinate neighborhood and  $\pi^{-1}(U_i)$  is biholomorphic to  $U_i \times \mathbb{P}^{r-1}$ . We take a local holomorphic frame  $e_1, \ldots, e_r$  of E on  $U_i$  and a local holomorphic frame  $e_A$  of A on  $U_i$ . Let  $s_1, \ldots, s_N$  be a basis on  $H^0(X, \operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A)$ . We put  $M := \binom{m+r-1}{r}$ . Write

$$s_j = \sum_{\alpha} f_{j\alpha} e_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots e_r^{\alpha_r} e_A,$$

where  $f_{j\alpha}$  are holomorphic function on  $U_i$  and the sum is taken over  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_r) \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}^r$  such that  $\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_r = m$ . The  $N \times M$  matrix  $B^{(i)}$  is defined by  $B^{(i)} = f_{j\alpha}$ . Set  $Z_i := \{z \in U_i : \text{rank } B^{(i)}(z) < M\}$  and  $Z := \bigcup Z_i$ . Since  $\text{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A$  is globally generated at x, we have  $N \ge M$  and Z is a proper Zariski closed set of X.

We define the singular hermitian metric g with semipositive curvature current on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m)\otimes\pi^*A$ , induced by the global sections  $\pi^*(s_1), \cdots, \pi^*(s_N) \in H^0(\mathbb{P}(E), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m)\otimes\pi^*A)$  (see [**Dem12**, Example 3.14]). We will show that g is smooth outside  $\pi^{-1}(Z)$ .

We will denote by  $e_1^{\vee}, \ldots, e_r^{\vee}$  the dual frame on  $E^{\vee}$ . The corresponding holomorphic coordinate on  $E^{\vee}$  are denoted by  $(W_1, \cdots, W_r)$ . We may regard  $\pi^{-1}(U_i)$  as  $U_i \times \mathbb{P}^{r-1}$ . We take the chart  $\{[W_1 : \cdots : W_r] \in \mathbb{P}^{r-1} : W_r \neq 0\}$ . We will define the isomorphism

### 44 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE BY SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

by

$$U_i \times \{W_r \neq 0\} \rightarrow U_i \times \mathbb{C}^{r-1}$$
  
(z, [W\_1 : \dots : W\_r]) \rightarrow (z,  $\frac{W_1}{W_r}, \dots, \frac{W_{r-1}}{W_r})$ 

and we may regard  $U_i \times \{W_r \neq 0\}$  as  $U_i \times \mathbb{C}^{r-1}$ . Put  $\eta_l := \frac{W_l}{W_r}$  for  $1 \leq l \leq r-1$  and  $\eta_r := 1$ . In this setting, we have

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(-1)|_{U_i \times \mathbb{C}^{r-1}} = \{(z,\eta,\xi) \in U_i \times \mathbb{C}^{r-1} \times \mathbb{C}^r \colon \eta_i \xi_j = \eta_j \xi_i\}$$

and the local section

$$e_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(-1)}(z,(\eta_1,\cdots,\eta_{r-1})) := (z,(\eta_1,\cdots,\eta_{r-1}),(\eta_1,\cdots,\eta_{r-1},1)).$$

The local section  $e_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)}$  of  $\mathbb{P}(E)(1)$  is defined by the dual of  $e_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(-1)}$ . Then we have

$$\pi^{*}(s_{j})|_{U_{i}\times\mathbb{C}^{r-1}} = \sum_{\alpha} f_{j\alpha}(z)\eta_{1}^{\alpha_{1}}\cdots\eta_{r-1}^{\alpha_{r-1}}1^{\alpha_{r}}e_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)}^{m}\pi^{*}(e_{A})$$

by using the isomorphism  $H^0(X, \operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A) \simeq H^0(\mathbb{P}(E), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m) \otimes \pi^*(A)).$ Since g is defined by  $1/(\sum_{1 \leq j \leq N} |\pi^*(s_j)|^2)$ , g is described on  $U_i \times \mathbb{C}^{r-1}$  by

$$H := \left(\sum_{1 \le j \le N} |\sum_{\alpha} f_{j\alpha}(z)\eta_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots \eta_{r-1}^{\alpha_{r-1}} 1^{\alpha_r}|^2\right)^{-1}.$$

Therefore it is enough to show that  $H^{-1}(z, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_{r-1}) \neq 0$  for any  $(z, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_{r-1}) \in (U_i \setminus W) \times \mathbb{C}^{r-1}$ . It is easily to check by the definition of Z and the standard linear algebra.

The second statement is also easily proved by the definition of Z.

COROLLARY 4.2.3. Let X be a smooth projective n-dimensional variety, E be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X and A be a line bundle on X. Assume there exist  $m, b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and a point  $x \in X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{(m+r)b}(E) \otimes (A \otimes \det E^{\vee})^b$  is globally generated at x. Then there exist a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h on  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A$  and a proper Zariski closed set  $Z \subset X$  such that h is smooth outside Z.

Moreover if there exists a Zariski open set  $U \subset X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{(m+r)b}(E) \otimes (A \otimes \det E^{\vee})^{b}$  is globally generated at x for any  $x \in U$ , we can take Z such that  $Z \cap U = \emptyset$ .

PROOF. By Lemma 4.2.2 and dividing by b, there exist a singular hermitian metric g with semipositive curvature current on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m+r) \otimes \pi^*(A \otimes \det E^{\vee})$  and a proper Zariski closed set  $Z \subset X$  such that g is smooth outside  $\pi^{-1}(Z)$ . From det  $E \simeq \pi_*(K_{\mathbb{P}(E)/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(r))$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{m}(E) \otimes A \simeq \pi_{*}(K_{\mathbb{P}(E)/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m+r) \otimes \pi^{*}(A \otimes \det E^{\vee}))$$

and the inclusion morphism

$$\pi_*(K_{\mathbb{P}(E)/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m+r) \otimes \pi^*(A \otimes \det E^{\vee}) \otimes \mathcal{J}(g)) \to \pi_*(K_{\mathbb{P}(E)/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(m+r) \otimes \pi^*(A \otimes \det E^{\vee}))$$

is generically isomorphism. By Theorem 1.4.5,  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h such that h is smooth outside Z (see [HPS18, Chapter 22]).

The proof of the second statement is same as above.

## 4.3. Proof of main theorems

In this section, we prove Theorem 4.1.2. First, we study a pseudo-effective vector bundle .

THEOREM 4.3.1. Let X be a smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X. The following are equivalent.

- (A) E is pseudo-effective.
- (B) There exists an ample line bundle A such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_{k}$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ . Moreover, for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , there exists a proper Zariski closed set  $Z_{k} \subset X$  such that  $h_{k}$  is smooth outside  $Z_{k}$ .
- (C) There exists an ample line bundle A such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_{k}$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .

Moreover if E satisfies the condition (C), then E is weakly positive at any  $x \in X \setminus \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}} \{z \in X : \nu(\det h_k, z) \ge 2)\}.$ 

PROOF. (A)  $\Rightarrow$  (B). We take a point  $x \in X$  such that E is weakly positive at x and take an ample line bundle A such that  $A \otimes \det E^{\vee}$  is ample. For any  $a \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , there exists  $b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{(a+r)b}(E) \otimes (A \otimes \det E^{\vee})^b$  is globally generated at x. By Corollary 4.2.3, the proof is complete.

(B)  $\Rightarrow$  (C). Clear.

(C)  $\Rightarrow$  (A). The proof will be divided into 3 steps.

Step 1. **Preliminary** We fix an ample line bundle H. By Siu's Theorem [**Dem12**, Corollary 13.3], the set  $Z_k := \{z \in X : \nu(\det h_k, z) \ge 2\}$  is a proper Zariski closed set. We fix a point  $x \in X \setminus \bigcup_k Z_k$ . We take a local coordinate  $(U; z_1, \dots, z_n)$  near x. Let  $\varphi = \eta(n+1) \log |z-x|^2$ , where  $\eta$  is a cut-off function such that  $\eta \equiv 1$  near x. Let  $h_H$ be a positive smooth hermitian metric on H. We take  $b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that

(1)  $A^{-1} \otimes K_X^{-1} \otimes \det E^{\vee} \otimes H^b$  is ample, and

(2)  $b\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{H,g_H} + \sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\varphi \ge 0$  in the sense of current.

From  $\operatorname{Sym}^{2ab}(E) \otimes H^{2b} \simeq \pi_*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2ab) \otimes \pi^*H^{2b})$ , it is enough to show that the restriction map

$$H^{0}(\mathbb{P}(E), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2ab) \otimes \pi^{*}H^{2b}) \to H^{0}(\pi^{-1}(x), \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2ab) \otimes \pi^{*}H^{2b}|_{\pi^{-1}(x)})$$

is surjective for any  $a \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .

Step 2. Taking a singular hermitian metric From  $\pi^*(\det E) \simeq K_{\mathbb{P}(E)/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(r)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2ab) \otimes \pi^* H^{2b} \simeq K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes (\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2ab+r) \otimes \pi^* A) \otimes \pi^* (A^{-1} \otimes K_X^{-1} \otimes \det E^{\vee} \otimes H^b) \otimes \pi^* (H^b).$$

Since  $\operatorname{Sym}^{2ab+r}(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_{2ab+r}$ , by Lemma 4.2.1,  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2ab+r) \otimes \pi^*A$  has a singular hermitian metric  $g_{2ab+r}$  with semipositive curvature current. By Skoda's theorem [**Dem12**, Lemma 5.6] and Lemma 4.2.1, there exist an open set  $x \in V \subset X$  and a positive constant C such that

- (1)  $g_{2ab+r} \leq C\pi^*(\det h_{2ab+r})$  holds on  $\pi^{-1}(V)$ ,
- (2) det  $h_{2ab+r} \in L^1(V)$ , and
- (3)  $\varphi = (n+1)\log|z-x|^2$  holds on V.

Since  $A^{-1} \otimes K_X^{-1} \otimes \det E^{\vee} \otimes H^b$  is ample, there exists a smooth positive metric  $g_1$  on  $A^{-1} \otimes K_X^{-1} \otimes \det E^{\vee} \otimes H^b$ .

We put  $\widetilde{L} := (\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2ab+r) \otimes \pi^*A) \otimes \pi^*(A^{-1} \otimes K_X^{-1} \otimes \det E^{\vee} \otimes H^b) \otimes \pi^*(H^b),$  $\widetilde{g} := g_{2ab+r}\pi^*(g_1g_H^b), \text{ and } \psi := \frac{n}{n+1}\pi^*\varphi.$  Then the following conditions hold.

- (1)  $K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L} \simeq \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2ab) \otimes \pi^* H^{2b}$ .
- (2)  $\widetilde{g}$  is a singular hermitian metric with semipositive curvature current on  $\widetilde{L}$ .
- (3) For any  $\alpha \in [0,1]$ , we have  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{\tilde{L},\tilde{g}} + (1+\frac{\alpha}{n})\sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\psi \geq 0$  in the sense of current.

Step 3. Global extension by an  $L^2$  estimate Fix a Kähler form  $\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}$  on  $\mathbb{P}(E)$ . If necessarily we take V small enough, we may assume  $\pi^{-1}(V)$  is biholomorphic on  $V \times \mathbb{P}^{r-1}$ . Therefore, there exists  $s_V \in H^0(\pi^{-1}(V), K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L})$  such that  $s_V|_{\pi^{-1}(x)} = s$ . We take a cut-off function  $\rho$  on V such that

- (1)  $\rho = 1$  near x, and
- (2)  $\inf_{supp(\overline{\partial}\rho)} \varphi > -\infty.$

We put  $\tilde{\rho} := \pi^* \rho$ . We solve the global  $\overline{\partial}$ -equation  $\overline{\partial} F = \overline{\partial}(\tilde{\rho} s_V)$  with the weight  $\tilde{g}e^{-\psi}$ . First, we have

$$\|\widetilde{\rho}s_V\|_{\widetilde{g},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}}^2 = \int_{\pi^{-1}(V)} |\widetilde{\rho}s_V|_{\widetilde{g},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}}^2 dV_{\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)},\mathbb{P}(E)} \le C_1 \int_{\pi^{-1}(V)} |\pi^* \det h| dV_{\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)},\mathbb{P}(E)} < +\infty,$$

where  $C_1$  is some positive constant. Similarly, it is easy to check  $\|\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_V)\|_{\widetilde{g},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}}^2 < +\infty$ . Therefore  $\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_V)$  gives rise to a cohomology class  $[\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_V)]$  which is  $[\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_V)] = 0$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{P}(E), K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(\widetilde{g}))$ . Second, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_{V})\|_{\widetilde{g}e^{-\psi},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}}^{2} &= \int_{\pi^{-1}(V)} |\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_{V})|_{\widetilde{g}e^{-\psi},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}}^{2} dV_{\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)},\mathbb{P}(E)} \\ &\leq C_{2} \int_{\pi^{-1}(supp(\overline{\partial}\rho))} |\pi^{*}(\det h)| e^{-\psi} dV_{\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)},\mathbb{P}(E)} \\ &< +\infty, \end{aligned}$$

where  $C_2$  is some positive constant. Therefore  $\overline{\partial}(\rho s_V)$  is a  $\overline{\partial}$ -closed (n+r-1,1) form with  $\widetilde{L}$  value which is square integrable the weight of  $\widetilde{g}e^{-\psi}$ .

By the injectivity theorem in [CDM17, Theorem 1.5], the natural morphism

$$H^{1}(\mathbb{P}(E), K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(\widetilde{g}e^{-\psi})) \to H^{1}(\mathbb{P}(E), K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(\widetilde{g}))$$

is injective. Since  $[\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_V)] = 0$  in  $H^1(\mathbb{P}(E), K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(\widetilde{g}))$ , we have  $[\overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_V)] = 0$ in  $H^1(\mathbb{P}(E), K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L} \otimes \mathcal{J}(\widetilde{g}e^{-\psi}))$ . Hence we obtain a (n + r - 1, 1) form F with  $\widetilde{L}$ value which is square integrable with the weight  $\widetilde{g}e^{-\psi}$  such that  $\overline{\partial}F = \overline{\partial}(\widetilde{\rho}s_V)$ .

We will show that  $F|_{\pi^{-1}(x)} \equiv 0$ . To obtain a contradiction, we assume  $F(z) \neq 0$  for some point  $z \in \pi^{-1}(x)$ . We take an open set  $x \in W \subset C V$ , an open set  $W' \subset \mathbb{P}^{r-1}$  and a positive constant  $C_3$  such that  $W \times W' \subset C \pi^{-1}(V)$  and  $|F|_{\widetilde{g}}^2 \geq C_3$  on W. Thus we have

$$||F||_{\tilde{g}e^{-\psi},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{P}(E)} |F|_{\tilde{g}e^{-\psi},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}}^{2} dV_{\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)},\mathbb{P}(E)} \ge \int_{W\times W'} |F|_{\tilde{g}e^{-\psi},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}}^{2} dV_{\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)},\mathbb{P}(E)}$$
$$\ge C_{4} \int_{W\times W'} e^{-\psi} dV_{\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)},\mathbb{P}(E)}$$
$$\ge C_{5} \int_{W\times W'} e^{-n\log|z-x|^{2}} dV_{\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)},\mathbb{P}(E)}$$
$$= +\infty,$$

where  $C_4$  and  $C_5$  are some positive constant. This is a contradiction from  $||F||^2_{\tilde{g}e^{-\psi},\omega_{\mathbb{P}(E)}} < +\infty$ .

Therefore we put  $S := \widetilde{\rho}s_V - F \in H^0(\mathbb{P}(E), K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L})$ , then  $S|_{\pi^{-1}(x)} = (\widetilde{\rho}s_V - F)|_{\pi^{-1}(x)} = s$ , which completes the proof. Therefore, E is weakly positive at any  $x \in X \setminus \bigcup_k Z_k$ .

By the same argument, we have the following Corollary.

COROLLARY 4.3.2. Let X be a smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X. The following are equivalent.

(A) E is weakly positive.

### 48 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE BY SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

- (B) There exist an ample line bundle A and a proper Zariski closed set  $Z \subset X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_k$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and  $h_k$  is smooth outside Z.
- (C) There exist an ample line bundle A and a proper Zariski closed set  $Z \subset X$ such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_{k}$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and  $\bigcup_{k} \{z \in X : \nu(\det h_{k}, z) \geq 2\} \subset Z$ .

PROOF. (B)  $\Rightarrow$  (C) is clear. By Theorem 4.3.1, we obtain (C)  $\Rightarrow$  (A). We give a proof of (A)  $\Rightarrow$  (B). By the definition, there exists a Zariski open set U such that E is a weakly positive at any  $x \in U$ . We take an ample line bundle A such that  $A \otimes \det E^{\vee}$ is ample. Fix  $a \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ . For any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we define  $Z_m$  by the Zariski closed set of points  $x \in X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{(a+r)m} E \otimes (A \otimes \det E^{\vee})^m$  is not globally generated at x. Then we obtain  $b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $Z_b = \bigcap_{m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}} Z_m$ . Thus,  $\operatorname{Sym}^{(a+r)b} E \otimes (A \otimes \det E^{\vee})^b$ is globally generated at any  $x \in X \setminus U$  by  $Z_b \subset X \setminus U$ . By Corollary 4.2.3,  $\operatorname{Sym}^a E \otimes A$ has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h and h is smooth on U, the proof is complete.

The following corollary was already proved in **[PT18]**. We give an another proof.

## COROLLARY 4.3.3. [PT18, Proposition 2.3.5]

Let X be a smooth projective variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle on X. If E has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h, then E is weakly positive at any  $x \in \{z \in X : \nu(\det h, z) = 0\}$ . In particular, E is pseudo-effective.

PROOF. Since E has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric,  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E)$  also has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(h)$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  induced by h. Therefore, for any ample line bundle,  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(h)h_{A}$ , where  $h_{A}$  is a smooth metric with positive curvature on A. Since we have

$$\bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}} \{ z \in X : \nu(\det \operatorname{Sym}^{k}(h)h_{A}, z) \ge 2) \} = \{ z \in X : \nu(\det h, z) > 0 \},\$$

*E* is weakly positive at any  $x \in \{z \in X : \nu(\det h, z) = 0\}$  by Theorem 4.3.1.

REMARK 4.3.4. By Hosono [Hos17, Example 5.4], there exists a nef vector bundle  $E_H$  such that  $E_H$  does not have a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric. Therefore, pseudo-effective (weakly positive) does not always imply the existence of a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric.

Next, we treat big vector bundles.

COROLLARY 4.3.5. Let X be a smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X. The following are equivalent.

(A) E is big.

- (B) There exist  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , an ample line bundle A and a proper Zariski closed set  $Z \subset X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h and h is smooth outside Z.
- (C) There exist an ample line bundle A and  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h.

PROOF. (A)  $\Rightarrow$  (B). There exist an ample line bundle A and  $b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{b}(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  is pseudo-effective. By Theorem 4.3.1, there exists an ample line bundle H such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{kb}(E) \otimes A^{-k} \otimes H$  has Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_k$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ . Moreover, there exists a proper Zariski closed set  $Z_k$  such that  $h_k$  is smooth outside  $Z_k$ . Therefore we take  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $A^k \otimes H^{-1}$  is ample, which completes the proof.

(B)  $\Rightarrow$  (C). Clear.

(C)  $\Rightarrow$  (A). For any  $a \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we have  $\operatorname{Sym}^{a}(\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A^{-1}) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric. By Theorem 4.3.1,  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  is pseudo-effective, which completes the proof.

Proof of Corollary 4.1.3. By Corollary 4.3.5, there exist  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , an ample line bundle A and a proper Zariski closed set  $Z \subset X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^k(T_X) \otimes A^{-1}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h and h is smooth on  $X \setminus Z$ . it is enough to show that  $K_X^{-1} C \ge n + 1$  for any  $x \in X \setminus Z$  and for any rational curve C through x by [CMSB02, Cor 0.4] since X is uniruled.

Fix  $x \in X \setminus Z$  and a rational curve C through x. First we will show that  $T_X|_C$  is ample. By [**Laz04b**, Theorem 6.4.15], it is enough to show that any quotient bundle of  $T_X|_C$  has positive degree. Fix a quotient bundle G of  $T_X|_C$  and a smooth positive metric  $h_A$  on A. Sym<sup>k</sup> G has a quotient metric  $h_{\text{Sym}^k G}$  induced by  $(hh_A)|_C$  on Sym<sup>k</sup> $(T_X|_C)$ . Therefore det G has a singular hermitian metric  $h_{\text{det }G}$  with positive curvature current by some root of det  $h_{\text{Sym}^k G}$ . We have

$$\deg G = \int_C c_1(G) = \int_C c_1(\det G, h_{\det G}) = \int_C \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2\pi} \Theta_{\det G, h_{\det G}} > 0,$$

thus  $T_X|_C$  is ample. Since C is a rational curve, we obtain

$$T_X|_C \cong \mathcal{O}_C(a_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{O}_C(a_n),$$

where  $a_i$  is integer for any  $1 \le i \le n$ ,  $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \cdots \ge a_n$  and  $a_1 \ge 2$ . Since  $T_X|_C$  is ample, we have  $a_n \ge 1$ , therefore  $K_X^{-1} \cdot C = a_1 + \cdots + a_n \ge n + 1$ , which completes the proof.

Finally, we study a nef vector bundle.

PROPOSITION 4.3.6 (cf. [**DPS94**] Theorem 1.12). Let X be a smooth projective variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X. E is nef (i.e.  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$ 

### 50 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE BY SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

is nef ) iff there exists an ample line bundle A on X such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes A$  has a Griffiths positive smooth hermitian metric for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .

PROOF. ( $\Rightarrow$ ) We assume E is nef. We take an ample line bundle H on X such that  $H \otimes \det E^{\vee}$  is ample. There exists  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $E \otimes (H \otimes \det E^{\vee})^N$  is ample, that is,  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1) \otimes \pi^*(H \otimes \det E^{\vee})^N$  is ample. For any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes H \otimes (H \otimes \det E^{\vee})^{N-1} \simeq \pi_{*}(K_{\mathbb{P}(E)/X} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(k+r) \otimes \pi^{*}(H \otimes \det E^{\vee})^{N}).$$

Since  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  is nef,  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(k+r) \otimes \pi^*(H \otimes \det E^{\vee})^N$  is ample. Therefore,  $\operatorname{Sym}^k(E) \otimes H \otimes (H \otimes \det E^{\vee})^{N-1}$  has a Griffiths semipositive smooth hermitian metric for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ . We put  $A := H^2 \otimes (H \otimes \det E^{\vee})^{N-1}$ , the proof is complete.

 $(\Leftarrow) \text{ Let } \mu_k \colon \mathbb{P}(E) \to \mathbb{P}(\text{Sym}^k(E)) = \mathbb{P}(\text{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A) \text{ be a standard } k\text{-th Veronese} \\ \text{embedding. Since } \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\text{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A)}(1) \text{ is ample and } \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(k) \otimes \pi^* A = \mu_k^*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(\text{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A)}(1)), \\ \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(k) \otimes \pi^* A \text{ is ample for any } k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}. \text{ Therefore } \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1) \text{ is nef.} \qquad \Box$ 

EXAMPLE 4.3.7 (Cutkosky's criterion). Let X be a smooth projective variety and  $L_1, \ldots, L_r$  be holomorphic line bundles. The vector bundle E is defined by  $E := \bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} L_i$ . By [Laz04a, Chapter 2.3.B], we have the following criterions.

- (1) E is ample if and only if any  $L_i$  is ample.
- (2) E is nef if and only if any  $L_i$  is nef.

We give a generalization of Cutkosky's criterion of big and pseudo-effective.

LEMMA 4.3.8. (1) E is big if and only if any  $L_i$  is big.

(2) E is pseudo-effective if and only if any  $L_i$  is pseudo-effective. Moreover E is pseudo-effective if and only if E has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric.

PROOF. (1) ( $\Rightarrow$ ) If E is big, then there exist an ample line bundle  $A, c \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ and a Zariski open set U such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{c}(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  is globally generated at any  $x \in U$ . For any  $1 \leq i \leq r, L_{i}^{\otimes c} \otimes A^{-1}$  is globally generated at any  $x \in U$ . Therefore  $L_{i}$  is big.

(1) ( $\Leftarrow$ ) Let A be an ample line bundle and  $h_A$  be a smooth metric with positive curvature on A such that  $\omega = \sqrt{-1}\Theta_{A,h_A}$  is a Kähler form on X. Since  $L_i$  is big, there exist a singular hermitian metric  $h_i$  and positive number  $\epsilon_i$  such that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{L_i,h_i} \ge \epsilon_i \omega$ . We define a singular hermitian metric h on E by  $h = \bigoplus_{i=1}^r h_i$ . We take  $c \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\min_{1 \le i \le r} \epsilon_i > 2/c$ . Then  $\operatorname{Sym}^c(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric Sym<sup>c</sup>(h) $h_A^{-1}$ , which completes the proof.

(2) ( $\Rightarrow$ ) We fix  $x \in X$  such that E is weakly positive at x. For any ample line bundle A and  $a \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  there exists  $b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{ab}(E) \otimes A^{\otimes b}$  is globally generated at x, and consequently  $L_i^{\otimes ab} \otimes A^b$  is globally generated at x for any  $1 \leq i \leq r$ , . Therefore  $L_i$  is pseudo-effective.

(2) ( $\Leftarrow$ ) Since  $L_i$  is pseudo-effective,  $L_i$  has a singular hermitian metric  $h_i$  with semipositive curvature current. We put  $h = \bigoplus_{i=1}^r h_i$ , which is a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric on E. Therefore by Corollary 4.3.3, E is pseudo-effective.  $\Box$ 

# 4.4. On the case of torsion-free coherent sheaves

THEOREM 4.4.1. Let X be a smooth projective variety and  $\mathcal{F} \neq 0$  be a torsion-free coherent sheaf on X.

- (1)  $\mathcal{F}$  is pseudo-effective iff there exists an ample line bundle A such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .
- (2)  $\mathcal{F}$  is weakly positive iff there exist an ample line bundle A and a Zariski open set  $U \subset X$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^k(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_k$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and the Lelong number of  $h_k$  at x is less than 2 for any  $x \in U$  and any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ .
- (3)  $\mathcal{F}$  is big iff there exist an ample line bundle A and  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A^{-1}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric.

PROOF. We put  $E := \mathcal{F}|_{X_{\mathcal{F}}}$ , which is a vector bundle on  $X_{\mathcal{F}}$ . Since  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A$  is reflexive for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we have

(4.4.1) 
$$H^0(X_{\mathcal{F}}, \operatorname{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A) \simeq H^0(X, \operatorname{Sym}^k(\mathcal{F})^{\vee \vee} \otimes A).$$

 $(1)(\Rightarrow)$ . We assume that  $\mathcal{F}$  is pseudo-effective We take a point  $x \in X_{\mathcal{F}}$  such that  $\mathcal{F}$  is weakly positive at x and take an ample line bundle A such that  $A \otimes (\det \mathcal{F})^{\vee}$  is ample. For any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , there exists  $b \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{kb}(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes (A \otimes (\det \mathcal{F})^{\vee})^b$  is globally generated at x. Therefore by 4.4.1, the vector bundle  $\operatorname{Sym}^{kb}(E) \otimes (A \otimes \det E^{\vee})^b$  on  $X_{\mathcal{F}}$  is globally generated at x.

By the argument of Corollary 4.2.3, there exists a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h on  $(\operatorname{Sym}^k(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A)|_{X_{\mathcal{F}}} = \operatorname{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A$  (h is smooth outside a countable union of proper Zariski closed sets). From  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_{\mathcal{F}}) \ge 2$ , h extends to  $X_{(\operatorname{Sym}^k(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A)}$ . Therefore  $\operatorname{Sym}^k(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h.

(1)( $\Leftarrow$ ). From  $X_{\mathcal{F}} \subset X_{(\text{Sym}^k(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee}\otimes A)}$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , the vector bundle  $\text{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A$ on  $X_{\mathcal{F}}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric on for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ . By using the argument of the proof of (C)  $\Rightarrow$  (A) in Theorem 4.3.1, there exists a point  $x \in X_{\mathcal{F}}$  such that E is weakly positive at x. (We use Demailly's  $L^2$  estimate on a complete Kähler manifold [**Dem82**, Theorem 5.1 ] instead of the injectivity theorem in [**CDM17**] since  $X_{\mathcal{F}}$  may not be a weakly 1-complete. See also [**PT18**, Theorem 2.5.3]). Hence  $\mathcal{F}$  is pseudo-effective.

(2) The proof is similar to (1) and the proof of Theorem 4.3.2. (We can take  $h_k$  such that  $h_k$  is smooth on  $U \cap X_{\mathcal{F}}$  if  $\mathcal{F}$  is weakly positive at any point  $x \in U$ .)

 $(3)(\Rightarrow)$ . The proof is similar to the proof of  $(\Rightarrow)$  in (1).

(⇐). By the Corollary 4.3.3 and (1),  $\operatorname{Sym}^{2k}(\mathcal{F})^{\vee\vee} \otimes A^{-1}$  is pseudo-effective.

#### 52 4. CHARACTERIZATION OF PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE BY SINGULAR HERMITIAN METRICS

We give an application of Theorem 4.4.1. If a torsion-free coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h, then  $\mathcal{F}$  is pseudo-effective. Moreover if there exists a Zariski open set U such that h is continuous on  $U \cap X_{\mathcal{F}}$ , then  $\mathcal{F}$  is weakly positive at any  $x \in U \cap X_{\mathcal{F}}$ . Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a surjective morphism between smooth projective varieties. Then for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ ,  $f_*(mK_{X/Y})$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric  $h_{mNS}$  such that  $h_{mNS}$  is continuous over the regular locus of f by [**PT18**, Theorem 1.1] or [**HPS18**, Theorem 27.1]. Therefore,  $f_*(mK_{X/Y})$  is weakly positive at any point in the regular locus of f. This fact was already proved in [**PT18**, Theorem 5.1.2].

## CHAPTER 5

# On projective manifolds with pseudo-effective tangent bundle

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we develop the theory of singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles. As an application, we give a structure theorem of a projective manifold X with pseudo-effective tangent bundle: X admits a smooth fibration  $X \to Y$  to a flat projective manifold Y such that its general fiber is rationally connected. Moreover, by applying this structure theorem, we classify all the minimal surfaces with pseudo-effective tangent bundle and study general non-minimal surfaces, which provide examples of (possibly singular) positively curved tangent bundles. This is a joint work with Genki Hosono and Shin-ichi Matsumura.

## 5.1. Introduction

The structure theorem for compact Kähler manifolds with semi-positive bisectional curvature was established by Howard-Smyth-Wu and Mok in [HSW81] and [Mok88] after the Frankel conjecture (resp. the Hartshorne conjecture) had been solved by Siu-Yau (resp. Mori) in [SY80] (resp. [Mor79]). As an algebraic analog of semi-positive bisectional curvature, Campana-Peternell and Demailly-Peternell-Schneider generalized the structure theorem of Howard-Smyth-Wu to nef tangent bundles in [CP91] and [DPS94], and further they classified the surfaces and the 3-folds with nef tangent bundle. (see [CP91] and [MOS+15] for the Campana-Peternell conjecture).

It is of interest to consider pseudo-effective tangent bundles as a natural generalization of the above structure results. The theory of singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles, which has been rapidly developed, is a crucial tool to understand pseudoeffective vector bundles. Therefore, in this paper, we first develop the theory of singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles (more generally torsion free sheaves). As one of the main applications, we obtain the following structure theorem for projective manifolds with pseudo-effective tangent bundle (and also for compact Kähler manifolds, see Theorem 5.2.12).

THEOREM 5.1.1. Let X be a projective manifold with pseudo-effective tangent bundle. Then X admits a (surjective) morphism  $\phi : X \to Y$  with connected fiber to a smooth manifold Y with the following properties:

(1) The morphism  $\phi: X \to Y$  is smooth (that is, all the fibers are smooth).

## 54 5. ON PROJECTIVE MANIFOLDS WITH PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE TANGENT BUNDLE

- (2) The image Y admits a finite étale cover  $A \to Y$  by an abelian variety A.
- (3) A general fiber F of  $\phi$  is rationally connected.
- (4) A general fiber F of  $\phi$  also has the pseudo-effective tangent bundle.

Moreover, if we further assume that  $T_X$  admits a positively curved singular hermitian metric, then we have:

(5) The standard exact sequence of tangent bundles

$$0 \longrightarrow T_{X/Y} \longrightarrow T_X \longrightarrow \phi^* T_Y \longrightarrow 0$$

splits.

(6) The morphism  $\phi: X \to Y$  is locally trivial (that is, all the fibers are smooth and isomorphic).

Theorem 5.1.1 is based on the argument in [Mat18b] and the theory of singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles developed in this paper. In particular, Theorem 5.1.2, Theorem 5.1.3, and Theorem 5.1.4 play an important role in the proof. Theorem 5.1.2, which can be seen as a generalization of [CM], gives a characterization of numerically flat vector bundles in terms of pseudo-effectivity. The proof depends on the theory of admissible hermitian-Einstein metrics in [BS94]. Theorem 5.1.3 and Theorem 5.1.4 were proved in [HPS18] under the stronger assumption of the minimal extension property. Our contribution is to remove this assumption, which enables us to use the notion of singular hermitian metrics flexibly.

THEOREM 5.1.2. Let X be a projective manifold and let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a reflexive coherent sheaf on X. If  $\mathcal{E}$  is pseudo-effective and the first Chen class  $c_1(\mathcal{E})$  is zero, then  $\mathcal{E}$  is locally free on X and numerically flat.

THEOREM 5.1.3. Let E be a vector bundle with positively curved (singular) hermitian metric on a (not necessarily compact) complex manifold X. Let

$$0 \to S \to E \to Q \to 0$$

be an exact sequence by vector bundles S and Q on X. If the first Chern class  $c_1(Q)$  is zero, the above exact sequence splits.

THEOREM 5.1.4. Let X be a compact Kähler manifold and let

$$0 \to \mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q} \to 0$$

be an exact sequence of reflexive coherent sheaves S,  $\mathcal{E}$ , and  $\mathcal{Q}$  on X. If  $\mathcal{E}$  admits a positively curved (singular) hermitian metric and the first Chen class  $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$ , then we have:

- (1)  $\mathcal{Q}$  is locally free and hermitian flat.
- (2)  $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q}$  is a surjective bundle morphism on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$ .
- (3) The above exact sequence splits on X.

Here  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  is the maximal Zariski open set where  $\mathcal{E}$  is locally free.

It is natural to attempt to classify all the surfaces X with pseudo-effective tangent bundle, as an application of Theorem 5.1.1. In the case of the tangent bundle being nef, a surface X has no curve with negative self-intersection, and thus X is always minimal. However, a surface X with pseudo-effective tangent bundle may not be minimal, which is one of the difficulties to classify them. In this paper, we classify all the minimal surfaces (see subsection 5.3.1 for more detail):

THEOREM 5.1.5. We have:

- (1) If a (not necessarily minimal) ruled surface  $X \to C$  has the pseudo-effective tangent bundle  $T_X$ , then the base C is the projective line  $\mathbb{P}^1$  or an elliptic curve.
- (2) Further, in the case of C being an elliptic curve, the surface X is a minimal ruled surface (that is, the ruling  $X \to C$  is a smooth morphism).
- (3) Conversely, any minimal ruled surfaces  $X \to C$  over an elliptic curve and over the projective line  $C = \mathbb{P}^1$  have the pseudo-effective tangent bundle  $T_X$ .

Moreover, we study the remaining problem (that is, the classification for blow-ups of Hirzebruch surfaces) in detail. These studies provide interesting examples of pseudoeffective or singular positively curved vector bundles.

## 5.2. Proof of the main results

DEFINITION 5.2.1. A torsion free coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{E}$  on a compact complex manifold X is said to be *pseudo-effective* if for any integer m > 0 there exists a singular hermitian metric  $h_m$  on Sym<sup>m</sup>  $\mathcal{E}$  such that

$$\sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\log|u|_{h_m^\vee}^2 \ge -\omega \text{ on } X_{\mathcal{E}}$$

for any local holomorphic section u of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m \mathcal{E}$ . Here  $\omega$  is a fixed hermitian form on X.

The above definition is equivalent to the definition (5) below when X is a projective manifold (see [Iwa18b, Theorem 1.3]). This section is devoted to the proof of the main results.

**5.2.1.** Numerically flat vector bundles. In this subsection, we give a proof for Theorem 5.1.2 after we prove Lemma 5.2.2 and Lemma 5.2.4 for preparation. Lemma 5.2.2, which easily follows from the result of [**DPS94**, Proposition 1.16], is quite useful and often used in this paper.

LEMMA 5.2.2. Let X be a projective manifold and let  $\mathcal{E}$  be an almost nef torsion free coherent sheaf on X.

- (1) Any non-zero section  $\tau \in H^0(X, \mathcal{E}^{\vee})$  is non-vanishing on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$ .
- (2) Let  $\mathcal{S}$  be a reflexive coherent sheaf such that det  $\mathcal{S}$  is pseudo-effective and let  $0 \to \mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$  be an injective sheaf morphism. Then  $\mathcal{S}$  is locally free on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  and the above morphism is an injective bundle morphism on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$ .

#### 56 5. ON PROJECTIVE MANIFOLDS WITH PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE TANGENT BUNDLE

PROOF. In [**DPS94**], the same conclusion was proved for nef vector bundles. We denote by Z a countable union of proper subvarieties of X satisfying the definition of almost nef sheaves. We may assume that  $X \setminus X_{\mathcal{E}} \subset Z$  by adding the subvariety  $X \setminus X_{\mathcal{E}}$  into Z.

(1) Let  $\tau \in H^0(X, \mathcal{E}^{\vee})$  be a non-zero section. For an arbitrary point  $p \in X_{\mathcal{E}}$ , by taking a complete intersection of ample hypersurfaces, we construct a curve C passing through p such that  $C \not\subset Z$ . We may assume that  $C \subset X_{\mathcal{E}}$  by  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_{\mathcal{E}}) \geq 2$ . Then  $\mathcal{E}|_C$ is a nef vector bundle thanks to  $C \subset X_{\mathcal{E}}$ , and thus it follows that the non-zero section  $\tau|_C$  is non-vanishing from [**DPS94**, Proposition 1.16]. In particular, the section  $\tau$  is non-vanishing at p.

(2) Following the argument in [DPS94], we obtain the non-zero section

$$\tau \in H^0(X, \Lambda^p \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes \det \mathcal{S}^{\vee})$$

from the induced morphism det  $S \to \Lambda^p \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$ . Here  $p := \operatorname{rank} S$ . We remark that  $\Lambda^p \mathcal{E} \otimes \det S$  is also almost nef by the assumption on S. Hence, by applying the first conclusion and [**DPS94**, Lemma 1.20] to  $\tau$ , we can obtain the desired conclusion.

LEMMA 5.2.3. Let X be a compact complex manifold and let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a pseudoeffective torsion free coherent sheaf on X. Then the same conclusion as in Lemma 5.2.2 holds.

PROOF OF LEMMA 5.2.3. We will prove only the conclusion (1). For the metric  $h_m$  on  $\operatorname{Sym}^m \mathcal{E}$  satisfying the property in Definition 5.2.1, we consider the function  $f_m$  on X defined by

$$f_m := \frac{1}{m} \log |\tau^m|_{h_m^{\vee}}.$$

By the construction of  $h_m$ , we have

$$\sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}f_m \ge -\frac{1}{m}\omega,$$

and thus its weak limit (after we take a subsequence) should be zero. On the other hand, when we assume  $\tau$  has the zero point at some point  $p \in X_{\mathcal{E}}$ , it can be shown that the Lelong number of  $f_m$  is greater than or equal to one. This is a contradiction to the fact that the weak limit is zero. Indeed, the section  $\tau^m$  can be locally written as  $\tau^m = \sum_I \tau_I e_I$ . Here  $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^r$  is a local frame of  $\mathcal{E}$ , I is a multi-index of degree m, and  $e_I := \prod_{i \in I} e_i$ . It follows that the holomorphic function  $\tau_I$  has the multiplicity  $\geq m$  at p from  $\tau = 0$  at  $p \in X_{\mathcal{E}}$ . It can be seen that  $|\langle e_I, e_J \rangle_{h_m^{\vee}}|$  is bounded since  $\log |u|_{h_m^{\vee}}$  is almost psh for any local section u (for example see [**PT18**, Lemma 2.2.4]). Hence we can easily check that

$$|\tau^m|_{h_m^{\vee}} \le C \sum_I |\tau_I|.$$

This implies that the Lelong number of  $f_m$  is greater than or equal to one.

LEMMA 5.2.4. Let X be a projective manifold and E be a vector bundle on X. Let  $X_0$  be a Zariski open set in X with  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_0) \ge 2 + i$ . Then the morphism induced by the restriction

$$H^{j}(X, E) \to H^{j}(X_{0}, E)$$

is an isomorphism for any  $j \leq i$ .

PROOF. The proof is given by the standard argument in terms of ample hypersurfaces and the induction on dimension.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Theorem 5.2.5, which is a slight generalization of [CM], heavily depends on the theory of admissible hermitian-Einstein metrics developed in [BS94].

THEOREM 5.2.5 (=Theorem 5.1.2, cf.  $[\mathbf{CM}]$ ). Let X be a projective manifold and let  $\mathcal{E}$  be a reflexive coherent sheaf. If  $\mathcal{E}$  is pseudo-effective and the first Chen class  $c_1(\mathcal{E})$  is zero, then  $\mathcal{E}$  is locally free and numerically flat.

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.2.5. The induction on the rank r of  $\mathcal{E}$  will give the proof. Reflexive coherent sheaves of rank one are always line bundles (see [Har80]), and thus the conclusion is obvious in the case of r = 1. It is not so difficult to check the numerical flatness of  $\mathcal{E}$  if  $\mathcal{E}$  is shown to be locally free (see the proof in [DPS94, Theorem 1.18] or the argument below). We will focus on the proof of local freeness.

In the proof, we fix an ample line bundle A on X. In the case of r > 1, we take a coherent subsheaf S with the minimal rank among coherent subsheaves of  $\mathcal{E}$  satisfying that  $\int_X c_1(S) \cdot c_1(A)^{n-1} \ge 0$ . We may assume that S is reflexive by taking the double dual if necessary. Now we consider the following exact sequence of sheaves:

$$(5.2.1) 0 \to \mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q} := \mathcal{E}/\mathcal{S} \to 0.$$

The quotient sheaf  $\mathcal{Q} := \mathcal{E}/\mathcal{S}$  is pseudo-effective. In particular, the first Chern class  $c_1(\mathcal{Q})$  is also pseudo-effective. On the other hand, we have

$$0 = c_1(\mathcal{E}) = c_1(\mathcal{S}) + c_1(\mathcal{Q}).$$

Then it follows that  $c_1(\mathcal{S}) = c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$  since  $c_1(\mathcal{Q})$  is pseudo-effective and we have

$$\int_X c_1(\mathcal{Q}) \cdot c_1(A)^{n-1} = -\int_X c_1(\mathcal{S}) \cdot c_1(A)^{n-1} \le 0.$$

By applying Lemma 5.2.2 to  $\mathcal{Q}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$ , we can see that  $\mathcal{Q}$  (and thus  $\mathcal{S}$ ) is a vector bundle on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  and the above morphism is a bundle morphism on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$ .

We first consider the case where the rank of S is equal to  $r = \operatorname{rank} \mathcal{E}$ . In this case, we obtain  $S = \mathcal{E}$ . Indeed, it follows that  $S \cong \mathcal{E}$  on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  since the bundle morphism  $S \to \mathcal{E}$  on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  is an isomorphism. Then we can easily check  $S = \mathcal{E}$  by the reflexivity and  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_{\mathcal{E}}) \geq 3$ . Further we can prove that

$$\int_X c_2(\mathcal{E}) \cdot c_1(A)^{n-2} = 0.$$

Indeed, for a surface  $S := H_1 \cap H_2 \cap \cdots \cap H_{n-2}$  in X constructed by general members  $H_i$  of a complete linear system A, it follows that  $\mathcal{E}|_S$  is a pseudo-effective vector bundle from  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_{\mathcal{E}}) \geq 3$ . Hence  $\mathcal{E}|_S$  is numerically flat on S, and thus  $c_2(\mathcal{E}|_S) = 0$  (see **[DPS94]** or **[CH17**, Corollary 2.12]). We can easily check that

$$\int_X c_2(\mathcal{E}) \cdot c_1(A)^{n-2} = \int_S c_2(\mathcal{E}|_S) = 0$$

By the assumption of  $c_1(\mathcal{E}) = 0$  and the result of [**BS94**, Corollary 3], we can conclude that  $\mathcal{E}$  is a hermitian flat vector bundle on X from the stability of the reflexive sheaf  $\mathcal{S} = \mathcal{E}$ . Therefore  $\mathcal{E}$  is locally free and numerically flat.

It remains to consider the case of rank  $\mathcal{S} < \operatorname{rank} \mathcal{E}$ . In this case, we consider the surjective bundle morphism

$$\Lambda^{m+1}\mathcal{E}\otimes\det\mathcal{Q}^\vee\to\mathcal{S}$$

on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$ . By  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_{\mathcal{E}}) \geq 3$  and  $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$ , the reflexive sheaf  $\mathcal{S}$  is pseudo-effective. Therefore we can conclude that  $\mathcal{S}$  is a numerically flat vector bundle on X by the induction hypothesis.

On the other hand, the sheaf  $\mathcal{Q}$  itself may not be a vector bundle, but, the reflexive hull  $\mathcal{Q}^{\vee\vee}$  is a vector bundle on X by the induction hypothesis. The extension class obtained from the exact sequence (5.2.1) on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  can be extended to the extension class (defined on X) of  $\mathcal{S}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}^{\vee\vee}$  by Lemma 5.2.4. The extended class determines the vector bundle whose restriction to  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  corresponds to  $\mathcal{E}$ . This implies that  $\mathcal{E}$  is a vector bundle by the reflexivity of  $\mathcal{E}$ .

5.2.2. Splitting theorem for positively curved vector bundles. In this subsection, we prove Theorem 5.1.3 and Theorem 5.1.4.

LEMMA 5.2.6. Let  $\mathcal{Q}$  be a reflexive coherent sheaf on a compact complex manifold X. If  $\mathcal{Q}$  admits a positively curved singular hermitian metric  $g_{\mathcal{Q}}$  and  $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$ , then we have:

- (1)  $(\mathcal{Q}, g_{\mathcal{Q}})$  is hermitian flat on  $X_{\mathcal{Q}}$ .
- (2) If we further assume that X is Kähler, then  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a locally free sheaf on X and  $g_{\mathcal{Q}}$  extends to a hermitian flat metric on X.

PROOF. (1) We follow the argument in [CP17]. The following lemma proved by Raufi [Rau15] is essential:

LEMMA 5.2.7 ([**Rau15**, Thm 1.6]). Let E be a holomorphic vector bundle and  $h_E$  be a positively curved singular hermitian metric on E. If the induced metric det  $h_E$  on the determinant bundle det E is non-singular (that is, smooth metric), then the curvature current  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{h_E}$  of  $h_E$  is well-defined as an End(E)-valued (1, 1)-form with measure coefficients.

In our situation det  $g_{\mathcal{Q}}$  is a positively curved singular hermitian metric on the determinant bundle det  $\mathcal{Q}$ . By  $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$ , the curvature  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{\det g_{\mathcal{Q}}}$  of det  $g_{\mathcal{Q}}$  is identically zero on  $X_{\mathcal{Q}}$ . In particular, it can be seen that det  $g_{\mathcal{Q}}$  is non-singular. Then, by Raufi's result, the curvature current  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta = \sqrt{-1}\Theta_{g_{\mathcal{Q}}}$  of  $g_{\mathcal{Q}}$  is well-defined on  $X_{\mathcal{Q}}$ .

We locally write the curvature  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta$  as

$$\sqrt{-1}\Theta = \sum_{j,k,\alpha,\beta} \mu_{j\overline{k}\alpha\overline{\beta}} dz^j \wedge d\overline{z}^k e_\alpha \otimes e_\beta^\vee,$$

where  $(z_1, \ldots, z_n)$  denotes a local coordinate and  $e_1, \ldots, e_r$  denotes a local frame of  $\mathcal{Q}$ . Then, by  $0 = \sqrt{-1}\Theta_{\det g_{\mathcal{Q}}} = \sqrt{-1}tr\Theta_{g_{\mathcal{Q}}}$ , we obtain

$$\sum_{j,k} \sum_{\alpha} \mu_{j\overline{k}\alpha\overline{\alpha}} dz^j \wedge d\overline{z}^k = 0.$$

Since  $g_{\mathcal{Q}}$  is positively curved,

$$\sum_{j,k} \mu_{j\overline{k}\alpha\overline{\alpha}} dz^j \wedge d\overline{z}^k \ge 0$$

for every  $\alpha$ . Then we have that  $\mu_{i\overline{k}\alpha\overline{\alpha}} = 0$  for every  $j, k, \alpha$ .

For every  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , we have that

$$\operatorname{Re}(\xi^{\alpha}\overline{\xi}^{\beta}\sum_{j,k}\mu_{j\overline{k}\alpha\overline{\beta}}v^{j}\overline{v}^{k}) \geq 0.$$

From this we can conclude that  $\mu_{i\bar{k}\alpha\bar{\beta}} = 0$  for every  $j, k, \alpha, \beta$  and thus  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{g_{\alpha}} = 0$ .

(2) It follows that  $\mathcal{Q}$  is polystable from (1) and [**BS94**, Theorem 3]. We have  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_{\mathcal{Q}}) \geq 3$  and  $(\mathcal{Q}, g_{\mathcal{Q}})$  is hermitian flat on  $X_{\mathcal{Q}}$ . Hence it can be shown that  $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$  and  $c_2(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$ . We can see that  $\mathcal{Q}$  is actually locally free and hermitian flat by [**BS94**, Theorem 4].

We prepare the following lemma for the proof of Theorem 5.1.3.

LEMMA 5.2.8. Let (E, h) be a hermitian flat vector bundle on a complex manifold X. Then for any point  $x \in X$  and a basis  $e_{1,x}, \ldots, e_{r,x}$  on the fiber  $E_x$ , there exists a local holomorphic frame  $e_1, \ldots, e_r$  near x such that  $e_j(x) = e_{j,x}$  and  $\langle e_i, e_j \rangle_h$  is constant.

PROOF. Let D be the Chern connection associated to (E, h). Then, by flatness, we can take a local frame  $\{e_j\}$  around x such that  $De_j \equiv 0$ . We can assume that  $e_j(x) = e_{j,x}$ . Since D is compatible with h, we have that  $d\langle e_i, e_j \rangle_h = \{De_i, e_j\}_h + \{e_i, De_j\}_h = 0$ , thus  $\langle e_i, e_j \rangle_h$  is constant. Moreover, taking the (0, 1)-part of  $De_j \equiv 0$ , we obtain that  $\overline{\partial}e_j \equiv 0$ , which shows that  $e_j$  is holomorphic.

### 60 5. ON PROJECTIVE MANIFOLDS WITH PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE TANGENT BUNDLE

THEOREM 5.2.9. (=Theorem 5.1.3) Let E be a vector bundle with positively curved (singular) hermitian metric g on a (not necessarily compact) complex manifold X. Let

$$0 \to S \to E \to Q \to 0$$

be an exact sequence of vector bundles on X. If the first Chern class  $c_1(Q)$  is zero, the above exact sequence splits.

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.2.9. The following proof is a generalization of [Hos17, Theorem 5.1]. We will work on dual bundles. By taking the dual, we have the following exact sequence

$$(5.2.2) 0 \to Q^{\vee} \to E^{\vee} \to S^{\vee} \to 0.$$

Then we have a negatively curved singular hermitian metric  $h^{\vee}$  whose restriction to  $Q^{\vee}$  is flat by (the dual of) Lemma 5.2.6 (1). Therefore, by Lemma 5.2.8, we can take a holomorphic orthonormal frame  $(\kappa_1^{\alpha}, \ldots, \kappa_q^{\alpha})$  of  $Q^{\vee}$  on a small open set  $U^{\alpha}$ . Let  $\epsilon_j^{\alpha}$  be the image of  $\kappa_j^{\alpha}$  in  $E^{\vee}$ . Take  $\epsilon_{q+1}^{\alpha}, \ldots, \epsilon_{q+s}^{\alpha}$  such that  $(\epsilon_1^{\alpha}, \ldots, \epsilon_{q+s}^{\alpha})$  is a local frame of  $E^{\vee}$ . Let  $\sigma_j^{\alpha}$  be the image of  $\epsilon_j^{\alpha}$  in  $S^{\vee}$ . We remark that  $(\sigma_{q+1}^{\alpha}, \ldots, \sigma_{q+s}^{\alpha})$  is a local frame of  $S^{\vee}$ . We will write the transition function of  $Q^{\vee}$  and  $S^{\vee}$  as follows:

$$\kappa_{1}^{\alpha} = \Phi_{1,1}^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\kappa_{1}^{\beta} + \dots + \Phi_{1,q}^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\kappa_{q}^{\beta},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\kappa_{q}^{\alpha} = \Phi_{q,1}^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\kappa_{1}^{\beta} + \dots + \Phi_{q,q}^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\kappa_{q}^{\beta},$$

$$\sigma_{q+1}^{\alpha} = \Phi_{q+1,q+1}^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\sigma_{q+1}^{\beta} + \dots + \Phi_{q+1,q+s}^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\sigma_{q+s}^{\beta},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\sigma_{q+s}^{\alpha} = \Phi_{q+s,q+1}^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\sigma_{q+1}^{\beta} + \dots + \Phi_{q+s,q+s}^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\sigma_{q+s}^{\beta}.$$

The transition functions for  $E^{\vee}$  can be written as

$$\begin{split} \epsilon_{1}^{\alpha} &= \Phi_{11}^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{1}^{\beta} + \cdots + \Phi_{1q}^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{q}^{\beta}, \\ \vdots \\ \epsilon_{q}^{\alpha} &= \Phi_{q1}^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{1}^{\beta} + \cdots + \Phi_{qq}^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{q}^{\beta}, \\ \epsilon_{q+1}^{\alpha} &= \Phi_{q+1,1}^{E^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{1}^{\beta} + \cdots + \Phi_{q+1,q}^{E^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{q}^{\beta} + \Phi_{q+1,q+1}^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{q+1}^{\beta} + \cdots + \Phi_{q+1,q+s}^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{r}^{\beta}, \\ \vdots \\ \epsilon_{q+s}^{\alpha} &= \Phi_{q+s,1}^{E^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{1}^{\beta} + \cdots + \Phi_{q+s,q}^{E^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{q}^{\beta} + \Phi_{q+s,q+1}^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{q+1}^{\beta} + \cdots + \Phi_{q+s,q+s}^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\epsilon_{q+s}^{\beta}. \end{split}$$

For short we will write the coefficient matrix as

$$\Phi^{E^{\vee},\alpha\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta} & 0\\ \Psi^{\alpha\beta} & \Phi^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Next, let  $h^{\alpha}$  be the matrix

$$h^{\alpha} := \begin{pmatrix} \langle \epsilon_{1}^{\alpha}, \epsilon_{1}^{\alpha} \rangle_{h} & \langle \epsilon_{1}^{\alpha}, \epsilon_{2}^{\alpha} \rangle_{h} & \cdots & \langle \epsilon_{1}^{\alpha}, \epsilon_{q+s}^{\alpha} \rangle_{h} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \langle \epsilon_{q+s}^{\alpha}, \epsilon_{1}^{\alpha} \rangle_{h} & \cdots & \langle \epsilon_{q+s}^{\alpha}, \epsilon_{q+s}^{\alpha} \rangle_{h} \end{pmatrix}$$

Note that the upper-left  $q \times q$  -matrix is constant by the choice of  $\epsilon_1^{\alpha}, \ldots, \epsilon_q^{\alpha}$ . Since *h* is negatively curved, by [**Hos17**, Proposition 5.2], coefficients of the lower-left  $s \times q$ -matrix is holomorphic (say  $\phi^{\alpha}$ ). Then we can write as

$$h^{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} C^{\alpha} & \overline{\phi}^{\alpha} \\ \phi^{\alpha} & * \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $C^{\alpha}$  is a  $q \times q$ -matrix whose coefficients are constant on  $U^{\alpha}$ . By the equality

$$h^{\alpha} = \Phi^{E^{\vee},\alpha\beta} h^{\beta} (\overline{{}^{t} \Phi^{E^{\vee},\alpha\beta}}),$$

we have

$$\begin{split} C^{\alpha} &= \Phi^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta} C^{\beta}(\overline{{}^{t}\Phi^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}}), \\ \phi^{\alpha} &= \Psi^{\alpha\beta} C^{\beta}(\overline{{}^{t}\Phi^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}}) + \Phi^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta} \phi^{\beta}(\overline{{}^{t}\Phi^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta}}) \end{split}$$

From these equalities, it follows that

$$\phi^{\alpha}(C^{\alpha})^{-1} = \Psi^{\alpha\beta}(\Phi^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta})^{-1} + \Phi^{S^{\vee},\alpha\beta}\phi^{\beta}(C^{\beta})^{-1}(\Phi^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta})^{-1}.$$

On the other hand, the extension class of the given exact sequence can be calculated as the cohomology class of the Čech 1-cocycle

$$\left\{\sum_{\lambda=q+1}^{q+s}\sum_{\mu=1}^{q}\Psi_{\lambda,\mu}^{\alpha\beta}\kappa_{\mu}^{\beta}\otimes(\sigma_{\lambda}^{\alpha})^{\vee}\in H^{0}(U_{\alpha\beta},\mathcal{O}(Q^{\vee}\otimes S))\right\}_{\alpha\beta}$$
$$=\left\{\sum_{\lambda=q+1}^{q+s}\sum_{\mu=1}^{q}\sum_{\nu=1}^{q}\Psi_{\lambda,\mu}^{\alpha\beta}((\Phi^{Q^{\vee},\alpha\beta})^{-1})_{\mu\nu}\kappa_{\nu}^{\alpha}\otimes(\sigma_{\lambda}^{\alpha})^{\vee}\right\}_{\alpha\beta}.$$

It is the differential of the following Čech 0-cochain

$$\left\{\sum_{\nu=1}^{q}\sum_{\lambda=q+1}^{q+s}(\phi^{\alpha}(C^{\alpha})^{-1})_{\lambda\nu}\kappa_{\nu}^{\alpha}\otimes(\sigma_{\lambda}^{\alpha})^{\vee}\in H^{0}(U_{\alpha},\mathcal{O}(Q^{\vee}\otimes S))\right\}_{\alpha},$$

thus the extension class is zero. Therefore the given sequence (5.2.2) splits.

THEOREM 5.2.10 (=Theorem 5.1.4). Let X be a compact complex manifold and let

$$0 \to \mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q} \to 0$$

be an exact sequence of reflexive coherent sheaves S,  $\mathcal{E}$ , and  $\mathcal{Q}$  on X. If  $\mathcal{E}$  admits a positively curved (singular) hermitian metric and the first Chen class  $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$ , then we have:

- (1)  $\mathcal{Q}$  is locally free and hermitian flat.
- (2)  $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q}$  is a surjective bundle morphism on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$ .
- (3) The above exact sequence splits on X.

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.2.10. The conclusion (1) follows from Lemma 5.2.6 and the conclusion (2) follows from Lemma 5.2.2. Also, from Theorem 5.2.9, it follows that there exists a bundle morphism  $j : \mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{E}$  on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$  such that

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{S} \oplus j(\mathcal{Q})$$
 on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$ 

By taking the pushforward  $i_*$  by the natural inclusion  $i: X_{\mathcal{E}} \to X$  and the double dual, we obtain

$$(i_*\mathcal{E})^{\vee\vee} = (i_*\mathcal{S})^{\vee\vee} \oplus (i_*j(\mathcal{Q}))^{\vee\vee}$$
 on X.

By  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_{\mathcal{E}}) \geq 3$  and the reflexivity, we have  $\mathcal{E} \cong (i_*\mathcal{E})^{\vee\vee}$ ,  $\mathcal{S} \cong (i_*\mathcal{S})^{\vee\vee}$ , and  $\mathcal{Q} \cong (i_*j(\mathcal{Q}))^{\vee\vee}$ . This finishes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**5.2.3.** Pseudo-effective tangent bundles. This subsection is devoted to the proof of Theorem 5.1.1.

THEOREM 5.2.11 (=Theorem 5.1.1). Let X be a projective manifold with pseudoeffective tangent bundle. Then X admits a morphism  $\phi : X \to Y$  with connected fiber to a smooth manifold Y with the following properties:

- (1) The morphism  $\phi: X \to Y$  is smooth (that is, all the fibers are smooth).
- (2) The image Y admits a finite étale cover  $A \to Y$  by an abelian variety A.
- (3) A general fiber F of  $\phi$  is rationally connected.
- (4) A general fiber F of  $\phi$  also has the pseudo-effective tangent bundle.

Moreover, if we further assume that  $T_X$  admits a positively curved singular hermitian metric, then

(5) The following exact sequence splits:

$$0 \longrightarrow T_{X/Y} \longrightarrow T_X \longrightarrow \phi^* T_Y \longrightarrow 0.$$

(6) The morphism  $\phi : X \to Y$  is locally trivial (that is, all the fibers are smooth and isomorphic).

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.2.11. For a projective manifold X with the pseudo-effective tangent bundle  $T_X$ , we consider an MRC fibration  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Y$  to a projective manifold Y, and take a resolution  $\pi: \overline{X} \to X$  of the indeterminacy locus of  $\phi$ . Here we have the

following commutative diagram:



(1) To prove the conclusion (1) (and also (3)) by using [Hör07, Corollary 2.11], we will construct a foliation on X (that is, an integrable subbundle of  $T_X$ ) whose general leaf is rationally connected. We will show that the relative tangent bundle  $T_{X/Y} \subset T_X$  (which is defined only on a Zariski open set of X) can be extended to a subbundle of  $T_X$  on X. If it can be shown, it is not so difficult to check that this subbundle is integrable and its general leaf is rationally connected (that is, all the assumptions in [Hör07, Corollary 2.11] are satisfied).

Now we have the exact sequence of coherent sheaves

$$0 \longrightarrow \bar{\phi}^* \Omega_Y \longrightarrow \Omega_{\bar{X}} \longrightarrow \Omega_{\bar{X}/Y} := \Omega_{\bar{X}}/\bar{\phi}^* \Omega_Y \longrightarrow 0.$$

Then we obtain the injective sheaf morphism  $0 \to \pi_* \bar{\phi}^* \Omega_Y \to \Omega_X$  by taking the pushforward. Here we used the formula  $\pi_* \Omega_{\bar{X}} = \Omega_X$ . By taking the dual, we obtain the exact sequence

(5.2.3) 
$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{S} := \operatorname{Ker} r \longrightarrow T_X \xrightarrow{r} \mathcal{Q} := (\pi_* \bar{\phi}^* \Omega_Y)^{\vee}$$

We remark that the above sequence corresponds to the standard exact sequence of tangent bundles on a Zariski open set where  $\phi$  is a smooth morphism.

The morphism r is generically surjective, and thus the reflexive sheaf Q is also pseudo-effective. In particular, the first Chern class  $c_1(Q)$  is also pseudo-effective. On the other hand, it follows that the image Y of MRC fibrations has the pseudo-effective canonical bundle  $K_Y$  from [**BDPP13**] and [**GHS03**]. Further Q coincides with the usual pullback of  $T_Y$  on  $X_0$ . Here  $X_0$  is the maximal Zariski open set where  $\phi$  is a morphism. Hence, by  $\operatorname{codim}(X \setminus X_0) \geq 2$ , it can be shown that

$$-c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = c_1(\pi_*\phi^*\Omega_Y) = c_1(\pi_*\phi^*K_Y)$$

is pseudo-effective.

By the above argument, we can see that  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a pseudo-effective reflexive sheaf with  $c_1(\mathcal{Q}) = 0$ , and thus we can conclude that  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a numerically flat vector bundle on X by Theorem 5.1.2. By applying Lemma 5.2.2 to  $0 \to \mathcal{Q}^{\vee} \to \Omega_X$  induced by (5.2.3), it can be seen that the sequence (5.2.3) is a bundle morphism on X. In particular, we can see that  $\phi$  is smooth on  $X_0$  (since the sequence (5.2.3) is not a bundle morphism on the non-smooth locus of  $\phi$ ). The subbundle  $\mathcal{S}$  defined by the kernel corresponds to the relative tangent bundle  $T_{X/Y}$  defined on  $X_0$ . Hence  $\mathcal{S}$  determines the foliation on X since  $T_{X/Y}$  is integrable on  $X_0$  (for example, see [Mat18b, subsection 2.2]). Further, its general leaf is rationally connected. Indeed, there exists a Zariski open set  $Y_1$  in Y

such that  $\phi: X_1 := \phi^{-1}(Y_1) \to Y_1$  is a proper morphism since  $\phi: X \dashrightarrow Y$  is an almost holomorphic map (that is, general fibers are compact). A general leaf of  $\mathcal{S}$  corresponds to a general fiber of  $\phi$  by  $\mathcal{S} = T_{X/Y}$  on  $X_1$ , and thus it is rationally connected. Therefore we can choose an MRC fibration to be holomorphic and smooth by [Hör07, Corollary 2.11]. We use the same notation  $\phi: X \to Y$  for the smooth MRC fibration.

(2) By (1), we have the standard exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T_{X/Y} \longrightarrow T_X \longrightarrow \phi^* T_Y \longrightarrow 0,$$

and also we have already checked that  $\phi^*T_Y$  is pseudo-effective and  $c_1(\phi^*T_Y) = 0$ . The pull-back  $\phi^*T_Y$  is numerically flat by Theorem 5.1.2, and thus  $T_Y$  is also numerically flat. The Beauville-Bogomolov decomposition (see [**Bea83**]) asserts that there exists a finite étale cover  $Y' \to Y$  such that Y' is the product of hyperkähler manifolds, Calabi-Yau manifolds, and abelian varieties. Let Z be a component of Y' of hyperkähler manifolds or Calabi-Yau manifolds. We remark that  $T_Z$  is also numerically flat. In general, numerically flat vector bundles are local systems (for example see [**DPS94**]). Hence  $T_Z$  should be a trivial vector bundle on Z since Z is simply connected and  $T_Z$  is also numerically flat. This is a contradiction to the definition of hyperkähler manifolds or Calabi-Yau manifolds. Hence the image Y admits a finite étale cover  $A \to Y$  by an abelian variety A.

(4) We prove the conclusion (4). By considering the restriction of the standard exact sequence of the tangent bundle to a general fiber F, we obtain

$$0 \longrightarrow T_{X/Y}|_F = T_F \longrightarrow T_X|_F \longrightarrow \phi^* T_Y|_F = N_{F/X} = \mathcal{O}_F^{\oplus m} \longrightarrow 0$$

When we consider the projective space bundle  $f : \mathbb{P}(T_X) \to X$  and the non-nef locus  $B \subset \mathbb{P}(T_X)$  of  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(T_X)}(1)$ , it can be seen that f(B) is a proper subvariety of X by pseudo-effectivity of  $T_X$ . By considering the commutative diagram

$$\mathbb{P}(T_X|_F) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}(T_X)$$

$$\downarrow^f \qquad \qquad \downarrow^f$$

$$F \longrightarrow X$$

we can see that the image of the non-nef locus of  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(T_X|_F)}(1)$  is contained in  $f(B \cap F)$ . For a general fiber F, the image  $f(B \cap F)$  is still a proper subvariety of F. Hence  $T_X|_F$  is pseudo-effective. The surjective bundle morphism

$$\Lambda^{m+1}(T_X|_F) \to T_F$$

induced by the above exact sequence implies that  $T_F$  is pseudo-effective.

We finally show that the MRC fibration  $\phi : X \to Y$  is locally trivial if we further assume X admits a positively curved singular hermitian metric. Under the assumption of such a metric, the exact sequence of the tangent bundle splits (that is,  $T_X \cong T_{X/Y} \oplus$   $\phi^*T_Y$ ) by Theorem 5.1.4. Then, by Ehrensmann's theorem (see also [Hör07, Lemma 3.19]), we can see that  $\phi: X \to Y$  is locally trivial.

THEOREM 5.2.12. Let X be a compact Kähler manifold with pseudo-effective tangent bundle and  $\phi : X \to Y := \text{Alb}(X)$  be its Albanese map. Then the Albanese map  $\phi$  is a surjective smooth morphism and satisfies all the conclusions in Theorem 5.2.11 except for (3) and (6) by replacing an abelian variety in (2) with a compact complex torus.

PROOF. In the proof of Theorem 5.1.1, the assumption of the projectivity was used only for the proof of (1) and (6). The other arguments except for (1) and (6) work even if we replace MRC fibrations with the Albanese map. Hence it is sufficient to prove that the Albanese map  $\phi$  is a surjective smooth morphism. It is easy to check it. Indeed, for a basis  $\{\eta_k\}_{k=1}^q$  of  $H^0(X, \Omega_X)$ , it follows that any non-trivial linear combination of them is non-vanishing by Lemma 5.2.3. This implies that  $\phi$  is a surjective smooth morphism (for example see [**CP91**]).

In [**DPS94**], it was proved that X is a Fano manifold when  $T_X$  is nef and X is rationally connected. As an analog of this result, we suggest the following problem. We remark that the geometry of a general fiber F in Theorem 5.1.1 can be determined if the problem can be affirmatively solved.

PROBLEM 5.2.13. If a projective manifold X is rationally connected and has the pseudo-effective tangent bundle, then is the anti-canonical bundle  $-K_X$  big?

# 5.3. Surfaces with pseudo-effective tangent bundle

Toward the classification of surfaces with pseudo-effective tangent bundle, we study minimal ruled surfaces in subsection 5.3.1 and their blow-ups in subsection 5.3.2, which provide interesting examples of positively curved vector bundles.

**5.3.1. On minimal ruled surfaces.** In this subsection, we consider a ruled surface  $\phi : X \to C$  over a smooth curve C. When  $T_X$  is pseudo-effective, the base C should be either the projective line or an elliptic curve by Theorem 5.1.1. Conversely, it follows that any minimal ruled surfaces  $\phi : X \to \mathbb{P}^1$  over  $\mathbb{P}^1$  (that is, Hirzebruch surfaces) have the pseudo-effective tangent bundle from the following proposition. However, they do not have nef tangent bundle except for the case of  $X = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ , since they have a curve with negative self-intersection.

PROPOSITION 5.3.1. If X is a projective toric manifold, then  $T_X$  is generically globally generated. In particular, any Hirzebruch surfaces have pseudo-effective tangent bundle.

PROOF. For a toric manifold X, we have an inclusion  $(\mathbb{C}^*)^n \subset X$  as a Zariski open dense subset and an action  $(\mathbb{C}^*)^n \curvearrowright X$ . Consider a family of actions  $(e^{i\theta}, 1, \dots, 1)$ .

Differentiate it by  $\theta$  at  $\theta = 0$ , we obtain a holomorphic vector field on X. Similarly, we can construct n vector fields which generate  $T_X|_{(\mathbb{C}^*)^n}$ , and thus  $T_X$  is generically globally generated.

Now we consider a ruled surface  $\phi: X \to C$  over an elliptic curve C. Thanks to Theorem 5.1.1, we can see that the ruling  $\phi: X \to C$  should be a smooth morphism when X has the pseudo-effective tangent bundle. The minimal ruled surface X over C can be classified by [Ati55], [Ati57], and [Suw69]: X is isomorphic to  $S_n, A_0$ ,  $A_{-1}$ , or a surface in  $S_0$ . Here a surface X in  $S_0$  means the projective space bundle  $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_C \oplus L)$  for some  $L \in Pic^0(C)$  and  $A_0$  (resp.  $A_{-1}$ ) is the projective space bundle associated with a vector bundle of rank 2 that is the non-split extension of  $\mathcal{O}_C$  by  $\mathcal{O}_C$ (resp.  $\mathcal{O}_C(p)$ ), where p is a point in C. It can be seen that  $A_0, A_{-1}$ , and surfaces in  $S_0$ have the nef tangent bundle by [CP91], and thus the remaining problem is the case of  $X = S_n$ . The ruled surface  $S_n$  is the projective space bundle associated with the vector bundle  $\mathcal{O}_C \oplus \mathcal{O}_C(np)$ . Note that the tangent bundle of  $S_0 = \mathbb{P}^1 \times C$  is nef. By the above observation, it is enough for our purpose to investigate  $X = S_n$  in the case of  $n \ge 1$ . By the following proposition, we can see that  $S_n$  has the pseudo-effective tangent bundle (which is not nef), and further that it admits no positively curved singular hermitian metric.

PROPOSITION 5.3.2. Let  $\phi : X \to C$  be a minimal ruled surface over an elliptic curve C. Then we have:

- (1) The tangent bundle of  $S_n$  is pseudo-effective, but it does not admit positively curved singular hermitian metrics when  $n \ge 1$ .
- (2) The tangent bundle of  $S_0$ ,  $A_0$ ,  $A_{-1}$ , and a surface in  $\mathcal{S}_0$  is nef.

PROOF. All the ruled surfaces with neft angent bundle are classified in [CP91], which implies that the conclusion (2) holds and the tangent bundle of  $S_n$  is not nef for  $n \ge 1$ .

From now on, let X be the projective space bundle  $S_n$  associated with the vector bundle  $E_n := \mathcal{O}_C \oplus \mathcal{O}_C(np)$ . We first check the latter statement in the conclusion (1). If  $X = S_n$  admits a positively curved singular hermitian metric, the exact sequence

$$0 \to T_{X/C} \to T_X \to \phi^* T_C \to 0$$

splits by Theorem 5.1.4, and thus we have

(5.3.1) 
$$h^{0}(X, T_{X}) = h^{0}(X, T_{X/C}) + h^{0}(X, \phi^{*}T_{C}).$$

On the other hand, we have  $h^0(X, T_X) = n + 1$  from [Suw69, Theorem 3]. Also we can easily check that

$$\phi_*(T_{X/C}) = \phi_*(-K_X) = \operatorname{Sym}^2(E_n) \otimes \det E_n^{\vee}.$$

This implies that

$$h^0(X, T_{X/C}) = h^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(-np) \oplus \mathcal{O}_C \oplus \mathcal{O}_C(np)) = n+1.$$

This is a contradiction to (5.3.1).

We will prove that  $T_X$  is pseudo-effective. For this purpose, it is sufficient to prove that  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$  is generically globally generated for any  $m \ge 0$ . Our strategy is to observe a gluing condition of  $X = S_n$  carefully to construct holomorphic sections that generate  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$  at general points.

Let v be a local coordinate centered at p and let  $V \subset C$  be a sufficiently small open neighborhood of p. Further, let U be the open set  $U := C \setminus \{p\}$  and u be the standard coordinate of the universal cover  $\mathbb{C} \to C$ . The ruled surface X can be constructed by gluing  $(u, \zeta) \in U \times \mathbb{P}^1$  and  $(v, \eta) \in V \times \mathbb{P}^1$  with the following identification:

(5.3.2) 
$$\zeta = v^n \eta \quad \text{and} \quad [u] = p + v,$$

where  $\zeta$  and  $\eta$  are the inhomogeneous coordinates of  $\mathbb{P}^1$ .

Let  $\theta$  be a meromorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X)$  with pole along the fiber  $\phi^{-1}(p)$  of p. Our strategy is as follows: We first look for a sufficient condition for the pole of  $\theta$  being of order at most 2. Then we concretely construct  $\theta$  satisfying this condition, which can be regarded as a holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$ , and we show that such sections generate  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$  on a Zariski open set.

Now  $\theta$  is a meromorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X)$  whose pole appears only along the fiber  $\phi^{-1}(p)$ . Hence, by expanding  $\theta$  on  $U \times \mathbb{P}^1$ , we have the following equality

(5.3.3) 
$$\theta = \sum_{p=0}^{m} a_p(u,\zeta) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\zeta}\right)^{m-p} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\right)^p \text{ on } U \times \mathbb{P}^1.$$

Here  $a_p$  is a meromorphic function on X. The gluing condition (5.3.2) yields that

(5.3.4) 
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta} = \frac{1}{v^n} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial u} = -n \frac{\eta}{v} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} + \frac{\partial}{\partial v}$$

Then we can obtain the following expansion of  $\theta$  on  $V \times \mathbb{P}^1$ 

(5.3.5) 
$$\theta = \sum_{\ell=0}^{m} \left\{ \sum_{p=\ell}^{m} d_{p,\ell} a_p(v,\eta) \frac{\eta^{p-\ell}}{v^{n(m-p)+p-\ell}} \right\} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \eta}\right)^{m-\ell} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial v}\right)^{\ell} \text{ on } V \times \mathbb{P}^1$$

by an involved, but straightforward computation. Here  $d_{p,\ell}$  is the non-zero constant defined by  $d_{p,\ell} := (-n)^{p-\ell} {p \choose p-\ell}$ . The ruling  $X \to C$  is locally trivial and sections of  $\operatorname{Sym}^p(T_F)$  on a fiber F are polynomials of degree (at most) 2p. This implies that the meromorphic function  $a_{m-k}(u,\zeta)$  is a polynomial of degree 2k with respect to  $\zeta$ , and thus we can write  $a_{m-k}$  as

(5.3.6) 
$$a_{m-k}(v,\eta) = \sum_{q=0}^{2k} a_{m-k}^{(q)}(v) \zeta^q = \sum_{q=0}^{2k} a_{m-k}^{(q)}(v) v^{nq} \eta^q \quad \text{for any } 0 \le k \le m$$

for some meromorphic function  $a_{m-k}^{(q)}(v)$  on C with pole only at p. Here we used (5.3.2) again.

We will find a sufficient condition for  $a_{m-k}^{(q)}(v)$  for guaranteeing that the coefficients in (5.3.5) have the pole of order at most 2. We remark that the section  $\theta$  satisfying this condition determines the holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$ . By substituting (5.3.6) for (5.3.5) and rearranging it concerning the powers of  $\eta$ , a sufficient and necessary condition can be obtained, but this method needs so complicated computation that we want to avoid to write down it. Here, to improve our prospect, we focus only on a sufficient condition by considering the restricted situation where  $a_{m-k}^{(q)} = 0$  for  $q \neq k$ . In this situation, it is not so difficult to show that  $\theta$  determines the holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$  if  $a_{m-q}^{(q)}$  satisfies that

(5.3.7) 
$$\sum_{p=0}^{q} d_{m-p,m-q} a_{m-p}^{(p)}(v) \frac{1}{v^{q-p}}$$
 has the pole of order  $\leq 2$  at  $p$  for any  $0 \leq q \leq m$ .

For an explanation, we prepare the table where we write down them for q = 0, 1, 2.

| q = q | coeff.of $(\partial/\partial \eta)^q (\partial/\partial v)^{m-q}$  | $\sum_{p=0}^{q} d_{m-p,m-q} a_{m-p}^{(p)} / v^{q-p}$                             |
|-------|--|--|
| q = 0 | coeff. of $(\partial/\partial \eta)^0 (\partial/\partial v)^m$     | $d_{m,m}a_m^{(0)}$   |
| q = 1 | coeff. of $(\partial/\partial \eta)^1 (\partial/\partial v)^{m-1}$ | $d_{m,m-1}a_m^{(0)}/v + d_{m-1,m-1}a_{m-1}^{(1)}$                                |
| q=2   | coeff. of $(\partial/\partial \eta)^2 (\partial/\partial v)^{m-2}$ | $d_{m,m-2}a_m^{(0)}/v^2 + d_{m-1,m-2}a_{m-1}^{(1)}/v + d_{m-2,m-2}a_{m-2}^{(2)}$ |

To construct meromorphic functions  $a_{m-p}^{(p)}$  on C satisfying (5.3.7), for every  $n \ge 2$ , we take meromorphic functions  $P_n$  on the elliptic curve C such that  $P_n$  has the pole only at p and its Laurent expansion at p can be written as follows:

$$P_n(v) = \frac{1}{v^n} + \sum_{k \ge n+1} \frac{a_k}{v^k}$$

Note that we can easily find them by using Weierstrass's elliptic functions and their differential.

We first put  $a_m^{(0)} := P_2/d_{m,m}$ . Then the second line from the top in the table satisfies (5.3.7) (that is, it has the pole of order at most 2) if we define  $a_{m-1}^{(1)}$  by  $a_{m-1}^{(1)} := -d_{m,m-1}/d_{m-1,m-1}P_3$ . By the same way, the third line also satisfies (5.3.7) if we define  $a_{m-2}^{(2)}$  by an appropriate linear combination of  $P_3$  and  $P_4$ . By repeating this process, we can construct meromorphic functions  $a_{m-p}^{(p)}$  on C satisfying (5.3.7) by a linear combination of  $\{P_3\}_{k=3}^{p+2}$ . We denote by  $\theta_0$  the holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$  obtained from the above construction. The section  $\theta_0$  generates the vector  $(\partial/\partial \eta)^0 (\partial/\partial v)^m$  on a Zariski open set, since  $a_m^{(0)} = P_2/d_{m,m}$  is non-zero. Now we put  $a_m^{(0)} := 0$  and  $a_{m-1}^{(1)} := P_2/d_{m-1,m-1}$ , so that the first and the second line in the table have pole of order at most 2. Then, by the same argument as above, we can construct meromorphic functions  $a_{m-p}^{(p)}$  satisfying (5.3.7) by defining them by an appropriate linear combination of  $\{P_k\}_{k=3}^{p+2}$  (for example  $a_{m-2}^{(2)} := -d_{m-1,m-2}/d_{m-2,m-2}P_3$ ). We denote by  $\theta_1$  the obtained holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$ . By the construction, the function  $a_m^{(0)}$  is zero and  $a_{m-1}^{(1)}$  is non-zero. Hence it follows the sections  $\theta_0$  and  $\theta_1$  generate the vectors  $(\partial/\partial \eta)^0 (\partial/\partial v)^m$  and  $(\partial/\partial \eta)^1 (\partial/\partial v)^{m-1}$  on a Zariski open set.

By repeating this process, we can construct holomorphic sections  $\{\theta_p\}_{p=0}^m$  of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$  generating  $\operatorname{Sym}^m(T_X) \otimes \phi^* \mathcal{O}(2p)$  on a Zariski open set.  $\Box$ 

In the rest of this subsection, we suggest the following problem to investigate a gap between almost nefness and pseudo-effectivity of vector bundles.

PROBLEM 5.3.3. We consider an exact sequence of vector bundles

$$0 \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow E \longrightarrow Q \longrightarrow 0.$$

When S and Q are pseudo-effective, then is E pseudo-effective?

REMARK 5.3.4. When S and Q are nef, its extension E is also nef (see [**DPS94**, Proposition 1.15]). Hence we can easily show that E is almost nef if S and Q are almost nef. In particular, it can be shown that  $\mathcal{O}_E(1)$  is pseudo-effective by [**BDPP13**], but we do not know whether or not E itself is pseudo-effective. The difficulty is to show that the image of the non-nef locus  $\mathcal{O}_E(1)$  to X is properly contained in X. If Problem 5.3.3 can be affirmatively solved, the pseudo-effectivity of the tangent bundle of  $X = S_n$ is easily obtained, by applying it to the standard exact sequence of the tangent bundle. In fact, we tried some methods in [**Suw69**], [**DPS94**], and [**Har70**] to solve Problem 5.3.3, but it did not succeed. This problem seems to be subtle since we do not know whether there is a gap between almost nefness and pseudo-effectivity.

**5.3.2.** On rational surfaces. By the results in Subsection 5.3.1, it is enough for the classification of the surfaces to determine when the blow-up of the Hirzebruch surface has pseudo-effective tangent bundle. However, it seems to be a too hard problem to classify all the blow-ups completely since X delicately depends on the position and the number of blow-up points. In this subsection, we study only blow-ups along *general points*. The complete classification can not be achieved even in this case, but we obtain an interesting relation between positivity of tangent bundle and the geometry of Hirzebruch surfaces. The following proposition gives the requirement for the blow-up having pseudo-effective tangent bundle.

PROPOSITION 5.3.5. Let  $\phi : \mathbb{F}_n \to \mathbb{P}^1$  be the Hirzebruch surface and let  $\pi : X \to \mathbb{F}_n$  be the blow-up along the set  $\Sigma$  of general points on  $\mathbb{F}_n$ . Then we have:

(1) If the tangent bundle  $T_X$  of X is generically globally generated, then  $\sharp \Sigma \leq 2$ .

#### 70 5. ON PROJECTIVE MANIFOLDS WITH PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE TANGENT BUNDLE

(2) If the tangent bundle  $T_X$  of X is pseudo-effective, then  $\sharp \Sigma \leq 4$ .

REMARK 5.3.6. The interesting point here is that the conclusion of  $\sharp \Sigma \leq 2$  in (1) is optimal, and further the generic global generation and pseudo-effectivity differently behave for  $\sharp \Sigma$ . Indeed, it follows that the tangent bundle  $T_X$  in the case of  $\sharp \Sigma \leq 3$  is pseudo-effective, but not generically globally generated from Proposition 5.3.8.

PROOF. (1) Fix a holomorphic vector field  $\xi$  on X. We shall define a holomorphic vector field  $\theta_{\xi}$  on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  as follows. Let t be a local holomorphic coordinate on  $U \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ . By pulling back dt, we obtain a holomorphic 1-form  $\pi^*\phi^*dt$  on  $\widetilde{U} := (\pi \circ \phi)^{-1}(U)$ . Then  $\langle \xi, \pi^*\phi^*dt \rangle$  is a holomorphic function on  $\widetilde{U}$ . Thus it is constant along each fiber and defines a holomorphic function on U. Now we define the holomorphic vector field  $\theta_{\xi}$  on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  to be

$$\theta_{\xi} := \langle \theta_{\xi}, dt \rangle \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \quad \text{and} \quad \langle \theta_{\xi}, dt \rangle := \langle \xi, \pi^* \phi^* dt \rangle.$$

Since we assumed that  $T_X$  is generically globally generated, we can choose  $\xi$  with  $\theta_{\xi} \neq 0$  on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ .

We claim that  $\theta_{\xi}$  has zeros on the set  $\phi(\Sigma) \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ . To prove the claim, we take a local coordinate (t, s) on  $\mathbb{F}_n$  centered at a point in  $\Sigma$  such that t is the pull-back of a local coordinate on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . If we put v := t/s, then (v, s) is a coordinate on X. Then we have

$$\langle \xi, \pi^* \phi^* dt \rangle = \langle \xi, d(vs) \rangle = \langle \xi, sdv + vds \rangle.$$

The last term vanishes at (v, s) = (0, 0), and thus  $\langle \theta_{\xi}, dt \rangle = 0$  at t = 0. This shows the claim.

In the case of  $\sharp \Sigma \geq 3$ , the vector field  $\theta_{\xi}$  has at least three zeros on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . It contradicts to the fact of deg  $T_{\mathbb{P}^1} = 2$ , thus we have  $\sharp \Sigma \leq 2$ .

(2) Since  $T_X$  is pseudo-effective, we can choose an ample line bundle A and a sequence of positively curved singular hermitian metrics  $h_m$  on  $(\operatorname{Sym}^m T_X) \otimes A$ . Fix a smooth hermitian metric  $h_A$  on A with positive curvature. Then  $h_m \otimes h_A^{-1}$  is a (possibly not positively curved) singular hermitian metric on  $\operatorname{Sym}^m T_X$ . Define a singular hermitian metric  $g_m$  on  $\pi^* \phi^* T_{\mathbb{P}^1}$  by the *m*-th root of the quotient metric of  $h_m \otimes h_A^{-1}$  induced by the morphism  $\operatorname{Sym}^m T_X \to (\pi^* \phi^* T_{\mathbb{P}^1})^{\otimes m}$ . Since  $(h_m \otimes h_A^{-1}) \otimes h_A$  is positively curved, the metric  $g_m^m \otimes h_A$  is also positively curved. The curvature current  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{g_m}$  of  $g_m$  satisfies that

$$\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{g_m} \ge -\frac{1}{m}\omega_A.$$

Then by taking a subsequence (if necessary), we can assume that  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{g_m}$  weakly converges to a positive current  $T \in c_1(\pi^*\phi^*T_{\mathbb{P}^1})$ . By the argument similar to (1), we obtain a *d*-closed positive (1, 1)-current *S* in  $c_1(T_{\mathbb{P}^1})$  such that  $T = \phi^*\pi^*S$ . Hence we have

$$\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{g_m} \to \pi^* \phi^* S = T \in c_1(\phi^* \pi^* T_{\mathbb{P}^1}).$$

We take a point  $p \in \Sigma$  and put  $p_0 := \phi(p)$ . We claim that the following bound of the Lelong number

(5.3.8) 
$$\nu(S, p_0) \ge \frac{1}{2}.$$

We fix a local coordinate t near  $p_0 \in \mathbb{P}^1$ . Let (t, s) be a coordinate on  $\mathbb{F}_n$  centered at p. As before, by putting v = t/s, (v, s) is a coordinate on X. Let  $p' \in X$  be a point defined by (v, s) = (0, 0). Let C be a (local) holomorphic curve on X defined by  $\{v = s\}$ . We will denote  $\overline{C} := \pi(C)$ . The defining equation of  $\overline{C}$  is  $\{t/s = s\} = \{t = s^2\}$ . Then we have

(5.3.9) 
$$\nu(S, p_0) = \frac{1}{2}\nu(\phi^* S|_{\overline{C}}, p).$$

Indeed, the function  $\phi^*\gamma$  is a local potential of  $\phi^*S$  for a local potential  $\gamma$  of S. Note that s is a local coordinate on  $\overline{C}$  while  $t = s^2$  is a local coordinate on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ . We can calculate each Lelong number by the formula

$$\nu(S, p_0) = \liminf_{t \to 0} \frac{\gamma(t)}{\log |t|},$$

and thus

$$\nu(\phi^*S|_{\overline{C}}, p) = \liminf_{s \to 0} \frac{\phi^*\gamma(s^2, s)}{\log|s|} = \liminf_{s \to 0} \frac{\gamma(s^2)}{\log|s|} = 2\nu(S, p_0).$$

This proves (5.3.9). Since the Lelong number will increase after taking restriction, we have

$$\nu(\phi^*S|_{\overline{C}}, p) = \nu(T|_C, p') \ge \nu(T, p').$$

Lelong numbers will also increase after taking a weak limit of currents, thus we obtain

$$\nu(T, p') \ge \limsup_{m \to +\infty} \nu(\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{g_m}, p').$$

The local weight of  $g_m$  is written as

$$\frac{1}{2m} \log |(\pi^* \phi^* (dt))^m|^2_{h_m^{-1} \otimes h_A}.$$

Since t = vs on X, we can calculate as follows:

(5.3.10) 
$$|(\pi^*\phi^*(dt))^m|^2_{h_m^{-1}\otimes h_A} = |(vds + sdv)^m|^2_{h_m^{-1}\otimes h_A}$$

Since  $h_m^{-1}$  is negatively curved and  $h_A$  is smooth, it follows that

$$|\cdot|_{h_m^{-1}\otimes h_A}^2 \le C_0|\cdot|_{h_{\mathrm{sm}}}^2$$

for a smooth hermitian metric  $h_{\rm sm}$  and some constant  $C_0 > 0$  (both depending on m). Then the right-hand side of (5.3.10) is bounded as

$$\leq C_0 |(vds + sdv)^m|_{h_{\rm sm}}^2 \\ \leq C_0 |(v,s)|^{2m}.$$
Thus, the Lelong number of  $\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{q_m}$  is bounded as

$$\nu(\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{g_m}, p') \ge \frac{1}{2m} \liminf_{(v,s)\to 0} \frac{C_0|(v,s)|^{2m}}{\log|(v,s)|} = 1$$

This proves (5.3.8). Since deg  $T_{\mathbb{P}^1} = 2$ , there must be at most four points where S has the Lelong number greater than or equal to 1/2. Therefore  $\sharp \Sigma \leq 4$ .

We finally prove Proposition 5.3.8 by applying the following lemma. The lemma is useful when we compare a vector field on a given manifold with its blow-up.

LEMMA 5.3.7. Let  $\pi : Y \to \mathbb{C}^2$  be the blow-up at  $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{C}^2$  with the exceptional divisor E, and let (x, y) be the standard coordinate of  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . We consider a holomorphic section  $\theta$  of Sym<sup>m</sup>  $T_{\mathbb{C}^2}$  and its expansion

$$\theta = \sum_{k=0}^{m} f_k(x, y) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^k \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^{m-k}.$$

Then the pull-back  $(\pi|_{Y\setminus E})^*\theta$  by the isomorphism  $\pi|_{Y\setminus E}$  on  $Y\setminus E$  can be extended to the holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m T_Y$  if and only if

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} f_k(s+\alpha, st+\beta) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s} - \frac{t}{s}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)^k \left(\frac{1}{s}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)^{m-k}.$$

is holomorphic with respect to  $(s, t) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ .

PROOF. We first remark that any holomorphic section  $\xi$  of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m T_Y$  determines the section  $\theta_{\xi}$  of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m T_{\mathbb{C}^2}$ . Indeed, a given section  $\xi$  induces the section  $\theta_{\xi}$  of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m T_{\mathbb{C}^2}$ on  $\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{(\alpha, \beta)\}$  via the isomorphism  $\pi|_{Y \setminus E}$ , which can be extended on  $\mathbb{C}^2$  since the blow-up center has codimension two.

We consider the descriptions:

$$Y = \{ (x, y, [z : w]) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^1 | (x - \alpha)w = (y - \beta)z \},\$$
  
$$E = \{ (\alpha, \beta, [z : w]) | [z : w] \in \mathbb{P}^1 \}.$$

and put the Zariski open set  $Y' := Y \cap \{w \neq 0\}$ . The following map r gives a coordinate of Y' and  $\pi|_{Y'}$  can be written as follows:

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} r: \mathbb{C}^2 & \to & Y' & \pi|_{Y'}: Y' & \to & \mathbb{C}^2 \\ (s,t) & \mapsto & (s+\alpha, st+\beta, [1:t]) & (x,y, [z:w]) & \mapsto & (x,y) \end{array}$$

If  $(\pi \circ r)^* \theta$  is holomorphic on  $\mathbb{C}^2$ , then  $(\pi|_{Y \setminus E})^* \theta$  can be extended to the holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m T_Y$ . Indeed, in this case, the section  $(\pi|_{Y \setminus E})^* \theta$  can be extended to the holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^m T_{Y'}$ . Hence it can also be extended on Y since the codimension of  $E \cap \{w = 0\}$  is two.

By calculation, we obtain

$$(\pi \circ r)^* \theta = \sum_{k=0}^m f_k(s+\alpha, st+\beta) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s} - \frac{t}{s}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)^k \left(\frac{1}{s}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right)^{m-k}$$

Hence  $(\pi \circ r)^* \theta$  is holomorphic on  $\mathbb{C}^2$  if and only if the right hand side is holomorphic in  $(s,t) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ , which completes the proof.

**PROPOSITION 5.3.8.** We have:

- (1) The blow-up of the Hirzebruch surface  $\mathbb{F}_n$  along general one or two points has the generically globally generated tangent bundle.
- (2) The blow-up of the Hirzebruch surface  $\mathbb{F}_n$  along general three points has the pseudo-effective tangent bundle.

Because the general case is tedious, we first show Proposition 5.3.8 in the simplest case n = 0.

PROOF OF (1) FOR  $\mathbb{F}_0$ . In general, for a birational morphism  $f: Y \to Z$  between projective manifolds, we have the natural inclusion  $f_*T_Y \subset T_Z$ . Since the natural inclusion is of course generically isomorphism,  $T_Z$  is generically globally generated if the tangent bundle  $T_Y$  is so. Therefore it is sufficient for the proof of (1) to treat only the blow-up  $\pi: X \to \mathbb{F}_0$  along general two points  $p_1, p_2$ .

We take a Zariski open set  $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C} = W_0 \subset \mathbb{F}_0$  with the local coordinate (x, y). We may assume that  $p_1 = (0, 0)$  and  $p_2 = (1, 1)$  by using the action of the automorphism group of  $\mathbb{F}_0$ . We define the set of holomorphic vector fields on  $W_0$ 

$$\mathcal{T} := \Big\{ \sum_{k=0}^{2} a_k x^k \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum_{l=0}^{2} b_l y^l \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \, \Big| \, a_k, b_l \in \mathbb{C} \Big\}.$$

We remark that any  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}$  can be extended to a global holomorphic section of  $T_{\mathbb{F}_0}$ . From Lemma 5.3.7, for a holomorphic vector field

$$\theta := a(x)\partial/\partial x + b(y)\partial/\partial y \in \mathcal{T}$$

it follows that  $\theta$  can be lifted to the holomorphic section of  $T_Y$  if and only if

$$\frac{1}{3}(-a(s+\alpha)t+b(st+\beta))$$
 is holomorphic with respect to  $(s,t)$ 

for  $(\alpha, \beta) = (0, 0)$  and  $(\alpha, \beta) = (1, 1)$ . We choose  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  in  $\mathcal{T}$  as follows:

$$\theta_1 = (x^2 - x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}$$
 and  $\theta_2 = (y^2 - y)\frac{\partial}{\partial y}$ .

Then we can easily see that  $\pi^*\theta_1$  and  $\pi^*\theta_2$  can be extended to the global holomorphic sections of  $T_X$ . For a point  $q = (x, y) \in W_0$  such that  $x \neq 0, 1$  and  $y \neq 0, 1$ , the vectors  $\theta_1(q)$  and  $\theta_2(q)$  at q give a basis of  $T_{W_0,q}$ . Therefore  $T_X$  is generically globally generated.

### 5. ON PROJECTIVE MANIFOLDS WITH PSEUDO-EFFECTIVE TANGENT BUNDLE

PROOF OF (2) FOR  $\mathbb{F}_0$ . We use the same notations as in the proof of (1). Let  $\pi : X \to \mathbb{F}_0$  be a blow-up of  $\mathbb{F}_0$  along general three points  $p_1, p_2, p_3$ . Our goal in this proof is to show that  $\operatorname{Sym}^2(T_X)$  is generically globally generated. Since  $p_1, p_2, p_3$  are in general position, we may assume  $p_1, p_2, p_3 \in W_0$ ,  $p_1 = (0,0)$ ,  $p_2 = (1,1)$ , and  $p_3 = (-1,-1)$  by the action of the automorphism group of  $\mathbb{F}_0$ .

We define  $\mathcal{T}$  by

$$\mathcal{T} := \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{4} a_k x^k \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^2 + \sum_{0 \le k, l \le 2} b_{kl} x^k y^l \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \sum_{k=0}^{4} c_k y^k \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^2 \Big| a_k, b_{kl}, c_k \in \mathbb{C} \right\}.$$

It is easy to show that any  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}$  can be extended to a holomorphic global section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{\mathbb{F}_0}$ .

By Lemma 5.3.7, we can see that, for a holomorphic section

$$\theta = a(x) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^2 + b(x, y) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + c(y) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^2 \in \mathcal{T},$$

the section  $\theta$  can be lifted to the section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{\mathbb{F}_0}$  if and only if the followings are holomorphic with respect to  $(s,t) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}$ :

$$\frac{1}{s} \Big( -2a(s+\alpha, st+\beta)t + b(s+\alpha, st+\beta) \Big), \\ \frac{1}{s^2} \Big( a(s+\alpha, st+\beta)t^2 - b(s+\alpha, st+\beta)t + c(s+\alpha, st+\beta) \Big),$$

for  $(\alpha, \beta) = (0, 0), (1, 1), (-1, -1).$ 

Here we put

$$\theta_1 = y^2 (x^2 - 1) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + y^2 (y^2 - 1) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^2,$$
  

$$\theta_2 = x^2 (x^2 - 1) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^2 + x^2 (y^2 - 1) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial y},$$
  

$$\theta_3 = (x - y)^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial y}.$$

Then we can easily show that  $\pi^*\theta_1$ ,  $\pi^*\theta_2$ , and  $\pi^*\theta_3$  can be extended to global holomorphic sections of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_X$ . For a general point  $q \in W_0$ , it is easy to see that  $\theta_1(q)$ ,  $\theta_2(q)$ , and  $\theta_3(q)$  give a basis of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{W_0,q}$ . Therefore  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_X$  is generically globally generated.

As a preliminary of the proof for  $\mathbb{F}_n$ , we prove the following claim. We regard the Hirzebruch surface  $\mathbb{F}_n$  for  $n \geq 1$  as the hypersurface in  $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^2$ 

$$\mathbb{F}_n = \{ ([X_1 : X_2], [Y_0 : Y_1 : Y_2]) \in \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^2 \mid Y_1 X_2^n = Y_2 X_1^n \}.$$

We set  $U = \{Y_1 \neq 0 \text{ or } Y_2 \neq 0\}$ . We first observe the automorphism group of  $\mathbb{F}_n$  so that general three points move to specific points, which makes our computation not so hard.

CLAIM 5.3.9. General three points  $p_1, p_2, p_3 \in U$  move to  $([1:0], [1:1:0]), ([1:1], [1:1:1]), ([1:-1], [1:1:(-1)^n])$  by the action of the automorphism group of  $\mathbb{F}_n$ .

PROOF. Let S, T be variables and  $P_n$  be a vector subspace of homogeneous polynomials of degree n in  $\mathbb{C}[S, T]$ . The linear group  $\operatorname{GL}(2, \mathbb{C})$  acts on  $P_n$  as follows: For any  $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}(2, \mathbb{C})$  and any  $\sum_{k=0}^n a_k S^k T^{n-k} \in P_n$ , we define the action by  $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \bullet \left(\sum_{k=0}^n a_k S^k T^{n-k}\right) := \sum_{k=0}^n a_k (aS + bT)^k (cS + dT)^{n-k}.$ 

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \bullet \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k S^k T^{n-k}\right) := \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k (aS+bT)^k (cS+dT)^{n-k}.$$

This induces the semidirect product  $G_n := P_n \rtimes \operatorname{GL}(2, \mathbb{C}).$ 

For any  $g = (\sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k S^k T^{n-k}, \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}) \in G_n$ , we define the action of  $\mathbb{F}_n$  as follows: For any  $q = ([X_1 : X_2], [Y_0 : Y_1 : Y_2]) \in \mathbb{F}_n$ , we define g(q) by

$$([aX_1+bX_2:cX_1+dX_2],[Y_0X_1^n+Y_1\sum_{k=0}^n a_kX_1^kX_2^{n-k}:Y_1(aX_1+bX_2)^n:Y_1(cX_1+dX_2)^n]),$$

if  $X_1 \neq 0$  and by

$$([aX_1+bX_2:cX_1+dX_2],[Y_0X_2^n+Y_2\sum_{k=0}^n a_kX_1^kX_2^{n-k}:Y_2(aX_1+bX_2)^n:Y_2(cX_1+dX_2)^n])$$

if  $X_2 \neq 0$  (see [**DI09**, Theorem 4.10] or [**Bla12**, Section 6.1]).

Note that the ruling  $\phi : \mathbb{F}_n \to \mathbb{P}^1$  coincides with the first projection. We may assume that  $p_1, p_2$  and  $p_3$  are in U and also that the images of them in  $\mathbb{P}^1$  are different from each other. By the action of  $g = (0, \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix})$ , we obtain

$$\phi(g(p_1)) = [1:0], \quad \phi(g(p_2)) = [1:1], \quad \phi(g(p_3)) = [1:-1]$$

if we properly choose g. Therefore we may assume

$$p_1 = ([1:0], [x_1:y_1:0]), p_2 = ([1:1], [x_2:y_2:y_2]), p_3 = ([1:-1], [x_3:y_3:(-1)^n y_3]).$$

It follows that  $y_k \neq 0$  for k = 1, 2, 3 since we have  $g \cdot U \subset U$  for any  $g \in G_n$ . In the case of n = 1 we put

$$a = \frac{x_1}{y_1} - \frac{x_2}{2y_2} - \frac{x_3}{2y_3}, \quad a_0 = -\frac{x_2}{2y_2} - \frac{x_3}{2y_3}, \quad a_1 = \frac{x_1}{y_1} - \frac{x_2}{y_2}$$

Then  $p_1$ ,  $p_2$ ,  $p_3$  respectively move to  $([1:0], [1:1:0]), ([1:1], [1:1:1]), ([1:-1], [1:1:1]), ([1:-1], [1:1:(-1)^n])$  by the action of  $(a_0S + a_1T, \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}) \in G_1$ , since we may assume  $x_1/y_1 - x_2/2y_2 - x_3/2y_3 \neq 0$  since  $p_1, p_2, p_3$  are general points.

In the case of  $n \ge 2$ , we put  $m = 2\lfloor n/2 \rfloor$ ,

$$a_0 = \frac{x_1 - y_1}{y_1}, \quad a_1 = -\frac{x_2 - y_2}{2y_2} + \frac{x_3 + y_3}{2y_3}, \quad a_m = -\frac{x_1 - y_1}{y_1} - \frac{x_2 - y_2}{2y_2} - \frac{x_3 + y_3}{2y_3},$$

and  $a_k = 0$  for  $k \neq 0, 1, m$ . Then  $p_1, p_2, p_3$  respectively move to  $([1:0], [1:1:0]), ([1:1], [1:1:1]), ([1:-1], [1:1:(-1)^n])$  by the action of  $(\sum_{k=0}^n a_k S^k T^{n-k}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}) \in G_n.$ 

PROOF OF (1) FOR  $\mathbb{F}_n$ . We define the Zariski open sets  $W_k \cong \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}$  in  $\mathbb{F}_n$  for k = 1, 2, 3 as follows:

We take  $\theta = a(x, y)\partial/\partial x + b(x, y)\partial/\partial y \in H^0(W_1, T_{W_1})$ . The section  $\theta$  extends to a holomorphic global section of  $T_{\mathbb{F}_n}$  if and only if  $\theta$  is holomorphic on  $W_2$  and  $W_3$ , since the codimension of  $\mathbb{F}_n \setminus \bigcup_{k=1,2,3} W_k$  is two. A straightforward computation yields

$$\theta = a(u, 1/v) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} - v^2 b(u, 1/v) \frac{\partial}{\partial v} \quad \text{on } W_1 \cap W_2,$$
  
$$\theta = -\zeta^2 a(1/\zeta, \zeta^n \eta) \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta} + \left( n\zeta \eta a(1/\zeta, \zeta^n \eta) + \frac{b(1/\zeta, \zeta^n \eta)}{\zeta^n} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \quad \text{on } W_1 \cap W_3.$$

Hence it can be seen that the section  $\theta$  can be extended to a global holomorphic section of  $T_{\mathbb{F}_n}$  if and only if we define a(x, y) and b(x, y) to be

$$a(x,y) = a_0 + a_1x + a_2x^2$$
 and  $b(x,y) = (b_0 - na_2x)y + b_1(x)y^2$ 

for some  $a_0, a_1, a_2, b_0 \in \mathbb{C}$  and for some  $b_1(x) \in \mathbb{C}[x]$  with  $\deg(b_1) \leq n$ . We define

$$\mathcal{T} := \left\{ (a_0 + a_1 x + a_2 x^2) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + (b_0 y - na_2 x y + b_1 y^2 + b_2 x y^2) \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \, \Big| \, a_0, a_1, a_2, b_0, b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{C} \right\}.$$

Then, by the above observation, it can be seen that any  $\theta \in \mathcal{T}$  extends to a holomorphic global section of  $T_{\mathbb{F}_n}$ .

Let  $\pi : X \to \mathbb{F}_n$  be the blow-up of  $\mathbb{F}_n$  along general two points  $p_1, p_2$ . By Claim 5.3.9, we may assume  $p_1, p_2 \in W_1$ ,  $p_1 = (0, 1)$  and  $p_1 = (1, 1)$ . We choose  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  in

 $\mathcal{T}$  as follows:

$$\theta_1 = y(y-1)\frac{\partial}{\partial y}$$
 and  $\theta_2 = x(x-1)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + nxy(y-1)\frac{\partial}{\partial y}$ 

By Lemma 5.3.7, the sections  $\theta_1$  and  $\theta_2$  can be lifted to holomorphic global sections of  $T_X$ . For any point  $q = (x, y) \in W_1$  such that  $x \neq 0, 1$  and  $y \neq 0, 1, (\theta_1)_q$  and  $(\theta_2)_q$  give a basis of  $T_{W_{1,q}}$ . Therefore  $T_X$  is generically globally generated. 

PROOF OF (2) FOR  $\mathbb{F}_n$ . Let  $\pi : X \to \mathbb{F}_n$  be a blow-up of  $\mathbb{F}_n$  along general three points  $p_1, p_2, p_3$ . We show that  $\text{Sym}^2(T_X)$  is generically globally generated. By Claim 5.3.9, we may assume  $p_1, p_2, p_3 \in W_1$ ,  $p_1 = (0, 1)$ ,  $p_2 = (1, 1)$ , and  $p_3 = (-1, -1)$ .

We take

$$\theta = a(x,y) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^2 + b(x,y) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + c(x,y) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^2 \in H^0(W_1, \operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{W_1}).$$

First we investigate the condition when  $\theta$  extends to a global holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{\mathbb{F}_n}$ . We have

$$\theta = a(u, 1/v) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\right)^2 - v^2 b(u, 1/v) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \frac{\partial}{\partial v} + v^4 c(u, 1/v) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial v}\right)^2 \text{ on } W_1 \cap W_2 \text{ and},$$

$$\theta = \zeta^4 a(1/\zeta, \zeta^n \eta) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta}\right)^2 + \left(-2n\zeta^3 \eta a(1/\zeta, \zeta^n \eta) - \frac{1}{\zeta^{n-2}}b(\zeta, \zeta^n \eta)\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \\ + \left(n^2 \zeta^2 \eta^2 a(1/\zeta, \zeta^n \eta) + \frac{n\eta}{\zeta^{n-1}}b(1/\zeta, \zeta^n \eta) + \frac{1}{\zeta^{2n}}c(1/\zeta, \zeta^n \eta)\right) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \eta}\right)^2 \text{ on } W_1 \cap W_3.$$

In the case of n = 1, the section  $\theta$  extends to a global holomorphic section of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{\mathbb{F}_n}$  if we have

- $a(x,y) = a_0 + a_1x + a_2x^2 + a_3x^3 + a_4x^4$ ,
- $b(x,y) = (b_0 + b_1x + b_2x^2 2a_4x^3)y + (b_3 + b_4x + b_5x^2 + b_6x^3)y^2$ ,  $c(x,y) = (c_0 (a_3 + b_2)x + a_4x^2)y^2 + (c_1 + c_2x b_6x^2)y^3 + (c_3 + c_4x + c_5x^2 + c_6x^3 + c_7x^4)y^4$ ,

where all coefficients are constant. Here we put

• 
$$\theta_1 = x(x^2 - 1)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^2 + y\left(-3x^2 + y(x^3 + x^2 + x - 1) + 1\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial y}$$
  
+  $y^2\left(2x + y^2(x^2 + 1) - y(x + 1)^2\right)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^2$ ,  
•  $\theta_2 = x^2(-x^2 + 1)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^2 + 2x^2y(x - y)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + x^2y^2(y^2 - 1)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^2$ ,  
•  $\theta_3 = x(-x^2 + 1)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^2 + y\left(3x^2 + y(-x^2 - 2x + 1) - 1\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial y}$   
+  $y^2\left(-2x + y^2(2x - 1) + 1\right)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^2$ .

Then, by using Lemma 5.3.7 again, the sections  $\pi^*\theta_1$ ,  $\pi^*\theta_2$  and  $\pi^*\theta_3$  extend to holomorphic global sections of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_X$ . For a general point  $q \in W_1$ ,  $\theta_1(q)$ ,  $\theta_2(q)$ , and  $\theta_3(q)$  give basis of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{W_{1,q}}$ . Therefore  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_X$  is generically globally generated. In the case of  $n \geq 2$ , the section  $\theta$  extends to a holomorphic global section of

 $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{\mathbb{F}_n}$  if

- $a(x,y) = a_0 + a_1x + a_2x^2 + a_3x^3 + a_4x^4$ ,
- $b(x,y) = (b_0 + b_1x + b_2x^2 2na_4x^3)y + (b_3 + b_4x + b_5x^2 + b_6x^3)y^2$ ,  $c(x,y) = (c_0 (n^2a_3 + nb_2)x + n^2a_4x^2)y^2 + (c_1 + c_2x + c_3x^2)y^3 + (c_4 + c_5x + c_6x^2 + c_7x^3 + c_8x^4)y^4$ ,

where all coefficients are constant. We put

• 
$$\theta_1 = xy^2(x^2 - 1)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + y^3\Big(-3x^2 + y(-x^4 + 2x^3 + 2x^2 - 1) + 1\Big)\Big(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\Big)^2$$
,  
•  $\theta_2 = xy^2(x^2 - 1)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + y^2\Big(xy^2(x + 2) - y(x + 1)^2 + 1\Big)\Big(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\Big)^2$ ,

• 
$$\theta_3 = x(x^3 - 2x^2 - x + 2)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right)^2$$
  
+  $y\left(-2nx^3 + 6x^2 + 2x(n-1) - 2 + y(nx(n-6) + x^3(-n^2 + 6n - 4) + 2)\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial y}$   
+  $y^2\left(nx(nx + 2n - 6) + 2n + 1 + y(-n^2(x+1)^2 + y(n^2 + 6nx - 2n - 1))\right)\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)^2$ .

Then  $\pi^*\theta_1$ ,  $\pi^*\theta_2$  and  $\pi^*\theta_3$  extend to holomorphic global sections of Sym<sup>2</sup> T<sub>X</sub>. For a general point  $q \in W_1$ ,  $\theta_1(q)$ ,  $\theta_2(q)$  and  $\theta_3(q)$  give basis of  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_{W_1,q}$ . Therefore  $\operatorname{Sym}^2 T_X$  is generically globally generated. 

## CHAPTER 6

## **Miscellanies**

### 6.1. Lelong number and non Kähler locus

The Lelong number of a singular hermitian metric on a vector bundle was defined by Berndtsson [Ber17]. Based on the Berndtsson work, we define a new Lelong number.

Let U be a unit ball in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $E = U \times \mathbb{C}^r$ , h be a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric. We take a standard frame  $e_1, \dots, e_r$  of E. Then we have  $\mathbb{P}(E) = U \times \mathbb{P}^{r-1}$  and  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  can be endowed with a singular hermitian metric g with semipositive curvature current induced by h. We have  $g = e^{-\varphi(z,W)}$ , where  $\varphi(z,W)$  is a quasiplurisubharmonic function on  $U \times \mathbb{P}^{r-1}$ .

DEFINITION 6.1.1. We will denote by  $\nu(\varphi, (0, W))$  the Lelong number  $\varphi$  at (0, W). We define the folloing number.

$$\nu_{\sup}(h,0) := \sup_{W \in \mathbb{P}^{r-1}} \nu(\varphi,(0,W)), \quad \nu_{\inf}(h,0) := \inf_{W \in \mathbb{P}^{r-1}} \nu(\varphi,(0,W))$$

We explain more explicitly. Let  $h^* = (h_{ij}^*)$  be the dual metric of h on E. We take the chart  $\{[W_1 : \cdots : W_r] \in \mathbb{P}^{r-1} : W_r \neq 0\}$  of  $\mathbb{P}(E)$ . As in Lemma 4.2.2, we define the isomorphism by

$$\begin{array}{ccc} U \times \{W_r \neq 0\} & \to & U \times \mathbb{C}^{r-1} \\ (z, [W_1 : \cdots : W_r]) & \to & (z, \frac{W_1}{W_r}, \cdots, \frac{W_{r-1}}{W_r}) \end{array}$$

and we may regard  $U \times \{W_r \neq 0\}$  as  $U \times \mathbb{C}^{r-1}$ . Put  $\eta_l := \frac{W_l}{W_r}$  for  $1 \leq l \leq r-1$  and  $\eta_r := 1$ . In this setting, we have

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(-1)|_{U\times\mathbb{C}^{r-1}} = \{(z,\eta,\xi)\in U\times\mathbb{C}^{r-1}\times\mathbb{C}^r\colon \eta_i\xi_j = \eta_j\xi_i\}$$

and the local section

$$e_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(-1)}(z,(\eta_1,\cdots,\eta_{r-1})):=(z,(\eta_1,\cdots,\eta_{r-1}),(\eta_1,\cdots,\eta_{r-1},1)).$$

Then the dual metric  $g^* = e^{\varphi}$  on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(-1)$  is written by

$$g^*(z,\eta) = |(\eta_1, \cdots, \eta_{r-1}, 1)|_{h^*}^2 = \sum_{1 \le i,j \le r} h^*_{ij}(z)\eta_i\bar{\eta_j} = \frac{\sum_{1 \le i,j \le r} h^*_{ij}(z)W_iW_j}{|W_r|^2}.$$

Therefore we have

$$\varphi(z,W) = \log(\sum_{1 \le i,j \le r} h_{ij}^*(z)W_i\bar{W}_j) - 2\log|W_r|$$

and

$$\nu(\varphi, (0, W)) = \nu(\log(\sum_{1 \le i, j \le r} h_{ij}^*(z) W_i \bar{W}_j), (0, W)).$$

for any  $W \in \{W_r \neq 0\}$ .

In this setting, we explain the relationship with the Lelong number defined by Berndtsson [Ber17]. For any  $a = (a_1, \dots, a_r) \in \mathbb{C}^r \setminus \{0\}$ , we write  $u_a = \sum_{1 \leq i \leq r} a_i e_i^*$ . The Lelong number of  $h^*$  at 0 in the direction  $u_a$  is defined by

$$\gamma_{h^*}(u_a, 0) = \liminf_{z \to 0} \frac{\log |u_a|_{h^*}^2}{\log |z|}.$$

From  $\log |u_a|_{h^*}^2 = \log(\sum_{1 \le i,j \le r} h_{ij}^*(z)a_i\bar{a}_j)$ , we have the following corollary.

COROLLARY 6.1.2. In the above setting, the following hold.

- (1)  $\gamma_{h^*}(u_a, 0) = \nu(\varphi|_{U \times \{[a_1:\dots:a_r]\}}, 0) \ge \nu(\varphi, (0, [a_1:\dots:a_r])) \text{ for any } a = (a_1, \dots, a_r) \in \mathbb{C}^r \setminus \{0\}.$
- (2)  $\gamma_{h^*}(u_a, 0) = \nu(\varphi, (0, [a_1 : \dots : a_r]))$  for general  $a = (a_1, \dots, a_r) \in \mathbb{C}^r \setminus \{0\}.$
- (3)  $\nu_{\inf}(h,0) = \inf_{(a_1,\cdots,a_r) \in \mathbb{C}^r \setminus \{0\}} \gamma_{h^*}(u_a,0).$

PROOF. The first equality of (1) is clear. By [**Dembook**, Theorem 7.13] we have the second inequality of (1) and (2).

We prove (3). By (1), we have  $\nu_{\inf}(h, 0) \leq \inf_{(a_1, \dots, a_r) \in \mathbb{C}^r \setminus \{0\}} \gamma_{h^*}(u_a, 0)$ . By [**Dem12**, Lemma 2.17], we have

$$\nu_{\inf}(h,0) = \nu(\varphi,\{0\} \times \mathbb{P}^{r-1}) = \nu(\varphi,(0,[a_1:\cdots:a_r]))$$

for general  $a = (a_1, \dots, a_r) \in \mathbb{C}^r \setminus \{0\}$ . Therefore by using (2), the proof is complete.  $\Box$ 

We introduce the non-Kähler locus on vector bundles.

DEFINITION 6.1.3. Let X be a smooth projective *n*-dimensional variety and E be a holomorphic vector bundle of rank r on X.

(1) For any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and any ample line buundle, we set

 $\mathcal{H}_{k,A}^+ = \{h \colon h \text{ is a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric of } \operatorname{Sym}^k(E) \otimes A^{-1}\}$ 

(2) If E is V-big, the non-Kähler locus  $L_{nK}(E)$  is defined by

$$L_{nK}(E) := \bigcap_{k,A} \bigcap_{h \in \mathcal{H}_{k,A}^+} \{ x \in X \colon \nu_{\sup}(h, x) > 0 \},$$

where the cap is taken over all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and all ample line bundle A. By Theorem 4.1.2, this locus is well-defined.

This is a higher rank analogy of Boucksom's non-Kähler locus [Bou04]. In this section, we prove the following theorem.

THEOREM 6.1.4. If E is big,  $L_{nK}(E) = \mathbb{B}_+(E)$  holds.

Therefore, we give a characterization of the augumented base locus by using singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles and the Lelong number.

Before the proof, we recall a singular hermitian metric induced by holomorphic sections, proposed by Hosono [**Hos17**, Chapter 4]. We assume that E is a globally generated at general point. Let  $s_1, \ldots, s_N \in H^0(X, E)$  be holomorphic sections. We take a local coordinate U and take a local holomorphic frame  $e_1, \ldots, e_r$  of E on U. Write  $s_{\alpha} = \sum_{1 \leq j \leq r} f_{\alpha j} e_j$ , where  $f_{\alpha j}$  are holomorphic functions on U. A singular hermitian metric  $h_s$  induced by  $s_1, \ldots, s_N$  is given by

$$(h_s^*)_{jk} := \sum_{1 \le \alpha \le N} f_{\alpha j} \bar{f_{\alpha k}}.$$

By [Hos17, Example 3.6 and Proposition 4.1],  $h_s$  is Griffiths semipositive.

PROPOSITION 6.1.5. In this setting,  $\{x \in X : \nu_{\sup}(h_s, x) > 0\} \subset Bs(E)$  holds.

PROOF. The  $N \times r$  matrix A is defined by  $A_{\alpha j} = f_{\alpha j}$  as in Lemma 4.2.2. By the standard linear algebra, we have  $Bs(E) \cap U = \{x \in U : \text{rank } A(x) < r\}$ .

Let  $g = e^{-\varphi}$  be a singular hermitian metric with semipositive curvature current on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(1)$  induced by  $h_s$ . By the above argument, we have

$$\nu(\varphi, (z, W)) = \nu(\log(\sum_{1 \le j, k \le r, 1 \le \alpha \le N} f_{\alpha j} W_j \overline{f_{\alpha k} W_k}), (0, W)).$$

If  $\nu_{\sup}(h_s, x) > 0$ , there exists  $a \in \mathbb{P}^{r-1}$  such that  $\nu(\varphi, (x, a)) > 0$ . We obtain

$$\sum_{1 \le j,k \le r, 1 \le \alpha \le N} f_{\alpha j}(x) a_j \overline{f_{\alpha k}(x) a_k} = 0,$$

and consequently we have  $\sum_{1 \le j \le r} f_{\alpha j}(x) a_j = 0$  for any  $1 \le \alpha \le N$ . Hence we have rank A(x) < r, therefore  $x \in Bs(E)$  holds.

Now, we prove the Theorem 6.1.4.

PROOF. First, we show that  $L_{nK}(E) \subset \mathbb{B}_+(E)$ . We take a sufficiently ample line bundle A such that  $\mathbb{B}_+(E) = \bigcap_{q \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}} \mathbb{B}(\operatorname{Sym}^q(E) \otimes A^{-1})$  by  $[\mathbf{BKK+15}, \operatorname{Remark} 2.7]$ . It is enough to show that  $L_{nK}(E) \subset \mathbb{B}(\operatorname{Sym}^q(E) \otimes A^{-1})$  for any  $q \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\mathbb{B}(\operatorname{Sym}^q(E) \otimes A^{-1}) \neq X$ . We fix  $q \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and take  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\mathbb{B}(\operatorname{Sym}^q(E) \otimes A^{-1}) = Bs(\operatorname{Sym}^{qm}(E) \otimes A^{-m})$ . From  $Bs(\operatorname{Sym}^{qm}(E) \otimes A^{-m}) \neq X$ ,  $\operatorname{Sym}^{qm}(E) \otimes A^{-m}$  can be endow with a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h induced by global sections and  $\{x \in X : \nu_{\sup}(h, x) > 0\} \subset Bs(\operatorname{Sym}^{qm}(E) \otimes A^{-m})$  holds. By  $h \in \mathcal{H}^+_{qm,A^m}$ and the definition of  $L_{nK}(E)$ , the proof is complete.

### 6. MISCELLANIES

For inverse inclusion, we take a point  $x \notin L_{nK}(E)$ . There exist  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , an ample line bundle H, and a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric h on  $\operatorname{Sym}^{k}(E) \otimes$  $H^{-1}$  such that  $\nu_{\text{sup}}(h, x) = 0$ . We will show that  $x \notin \mathbb{B}_+(E)$ , more precisely, there exists  $q \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $\operatorname{Sym}^{q}(E) \otimes A^{-1}$  is globally generated at x. This proof is similar to the proof of Theorem 4.3.1.

We take a local coordinate  $(U; z_1, \dots, z_n)$  near x. Let  $\phi = \eta(n+1) \log |z-x|^2$ , where  $\eta$  is a cut-off function such that  $\eta \equiv 1$  near x. and we put  $\psi := \frac{n}{n+1}\pi^*\phi$ . Let  $h_H$ be a positive smooth hermitian metric on H. We take a positive integer m such that

- (1)  $m\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{h_H,H} + \sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\eta \geq 0$  holds in the sense of current, and (2)  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(r) \otimes \pi^*(A^{-1} \otimes K_X^{-1} \otimes \det E^{\vee} \otimes H^m)$  is ample.

We will denote by g the singular hermitian metric with semipositive curvature current on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(k) \otimes H^{-1}$  induced by h. From  $\nu_{\sup}(h, x) = 0$ , there exists a open set  $x \in V \subset U$  such that  $g^{2m}$  is integrable on  $\pi^{-1}(V)$  by Skoda's Theorem and the definition of  $\nu_{sup}$ .

We put  $\widetilde{L} := \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2km) \otimes \pi^* H^{-2m} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(r) \otimes \pi^* (A \otimes K_X^{-1} \otimes \det E^{\vee} \otimes H^m)$ . Then we have

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2km) \otimes A^{-1} = K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(2km) \otimes \pi^* H^{-2m} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(E)}(r) \otimes \pi^* (A \otimes K_X^{-1} \otimes \det E^{\vee} \otimes H^m)$$
$$= K_{\mathbb{P}(E)} \otimes \widetilde{L}$$

By the same argument of Theorem 4.3.1,  $\tilde{L}$  has a singular hermitian metric  $\tilde{h}$  with semipositive curvature current such that

$$\sqrt{-1}\Theta_{\widetilde{L},\widetilde{h}} + (1 + \frac{\alpha}{n})\sqrt{-1}\partial\overline{\partial}\psi \ge 0$$
 in the sense of current

for any  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ .

In this setting, the same proof as in Step 3 of Theorem 4.3.1 (C)  $\Rightarrow$  (A) works. The details left to the reader.

Unlike the non-Kähler locus, the non-nef locus is difficult. For any  $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  and any ample line bundle A, we set

 $\mathcal{H}_{k,A}^{-} = \{h \colon h \text{ is a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric of } S^{k}(E) \otimes A\}.$ and set  $\mathcal{H}_k^- := \bigcup_A \mathcal{H}_{k,A}^-$ . For any point x, we write

$$\alpha_k(x) := \inf_{h \in \mathcal{H}_k^-} (\nu_{\sup}(h, x)).$$

Since we have  $h^l \in \mathcal{H}_{kl}^-$  for any  $h \in \mathcal{H}_k^-$ , we obtain  $l\alpha_k(x) \ge \alpha_{kl}(x)$ . Therefore we define

$$\nu_{met}(E, x) := \inf_k \frac{\alpha_k}{k},$$

which is a higher rank analogy of the minimal multiplicities  $\nu(\gamma, x)$  at x for any pseudoeffective cohomology class  $\gamma$  in [Bou04, Definition 3.1].

In this setting, we can easily to show that

$$\{x \in X \colon \nu_{met}(E, x) > 0\} \subset \bigcup_{k} \{x \in X \colon \alpha_k(x) > 0\} \subset \mathbb{B}_{-}(E)$$

by using the method in Theorem 6.1.4. However the inverse inclusion is unknown. It is difficult since there is no canonical way to give a singular hermitian metric to E by using a metric  $h_k$  on  $S^k(E)$ .

Moreover it is unknown that there exists a minimal singular hermitian metric on a pseudo-effective vector bundle, which is a higher rank analogy of a minimal singular hermitian metric defined by Demailly, Peternell and Schneider [DPS94] (see also [**Dem12**, Chapter 6]). It is also an interesting question.

## 6.2. An example of a rationally connected manifold.

CONJECTURE 6.2.1. [NZ18, Conjecture 1.6] Any compact Kähler manifold with negative scalar curvature cannot be rationally connected.

We give a partial answer of this conjecture.

THEOREM 6.2.2. Let X be a blow up  $\mathbb{P}^2$  at general 14 points. Then X has a hermitian metric with negative scalar curvature and X is rationally connected.

We don't know whether X has a Kähler metric with negative scalar curvature.

**PROOF.** We use the following theorem.

THEOREM 6.2.3. [Yan17, Theorem 1.3] Let Y be a compact complex manifold. The following are equivalent.

(1)  $K_Y^{-1}$  is not pseudo-effective.

(2) Y has a hermitian metric with negative scalar curvature.

It is enough to give a example such that  $K_X^{-1}$  is not pseudo-effective and X is rationally connected. Since rationally conectedness is birational property, X is rationally connected. We show that  $K_X^{-1}$  is not pseudo-effective. We denote by  $H = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$  and by  $\pi \colon X \to \mathbb{P}^2$  the blow up morphism. Let  $\{E_i\}_{i=1}^{14}$ 

be exceptional divisors. We have

$$K_X = \pi^*(K_{\mathbb{P}^2}) + \sum_{i=1}^{14} E_i = \pi^*(-3H) + \sum_{i=1}^{14} E_i$$

By [Ku94],

$$A := \pi^*(4H) - \sum_{i=1}^{14} E_i$$

is ample divisor on X.

To obtain a contradiction, suppose that  $K_X^{-1}$  is pseudo-effective. Then for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  there exists a  $n \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$  such that  $n(-mK_X + A)$  has a section. Therefore for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we have  $A(-mK_X + A) > 0$ . We point out  $(-mK_X + A) = (3m + 4)\pi^*(H) - (m + 1)\sum_{i=1}^{14} E_i$ .

However, we have

$$A(-mK_X + A) = (\pi^*(4H) - \sum_{i=1}^{14} E_i)((3m+4)\pi^*(H) - (m+1)\sum_{i=1}^{14} E_i)$$
  
= 12m + 16 - 14(m+1) = -2m + 2,

this is a contradiction. Therefore,  $K_X^{-1}$  is not pseudo-effective.

## 6.3. Higher Fujita's decomposition

DEFINITION 6.3.1. [KM98] Let X be a smooth projective manifold.

- (1) A *1-cycle* is a formal linear combination of irreducible reduced and proper curves  $C = \sum a_i C_i$ .
- (2) Two 1-cycle C, C' is numerically equivalent if D.C = D.C' for any Cartier divisor D.
- (3)  $N_1(X)_{\mathbb{R}}$  is a  $\mathbb{R}$ -vector space of 1-cycles with real coefficients modulo numerical equivalence.

DEFINITION 6.3.2. [Lazi] A class  $\alpha \in N_1(X)_{\mathbb{R}}$  is *movable* if  $D.\alpha \geq 0$  for any effective Cartier divisor D. The set of movable classes forms a closed convex cone  $Mov(X) \subset N_1(X)_{\mathbb{R}}$ , called the movable cone.

*C* is a strongly movable curve if  $C = \pi_*(A_1 \cap \cdots \cap A_{n-1})$  for some proper modification  $\pi : X \to Y$  and some ample divisors  $A_1 \cdots A_{n-1}$ . By [**BDPP13**], Mov(X) is the closure of the cone spanned by strongly movable curves.

Let X be a smooth projective manifold and  $\mathcal{E} \neq 0$  be a torsion-free coherent sheaf on X. For any  $\alpha \in Mov(X)$ , the slope of  $\mathcal{E}$  with respect to  $\alpha$  is defined by

$$\mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{E}) := \frac{c_1(\mathcal{E}).\alpha}{rk\mathcal{E}}$$

 $\mathcal{E}$  is  $\alpha$ -semistable if  $\mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}) \leq \mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{E})$  for any nonzero coherent subsheaf  $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{E}$ .  $\mathcal{E}$  is  $\alpha$ -stable if  $\mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}) < \mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{E})$  for any nonzero coherent subsheaf  $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{E}$  and  $\mathcal{F} \neq \mathcal{E}$ .

 $\mu_{\alpha}^{max}(\mathcal{E})$  is define by supremum of  $\mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F})$  for nonzero coherent subsheaf  $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{E}$ .  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{E})$  is define by infimum of  $\mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{Q})$  for nonzero torsion-free coherent quotient sheaf  $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q}$ . By [Lazi], there exists a subsheaf  $\mathcal{F}_{max} \subset \mathcal{E}$  and such that  $\mu_{\alpha}^{max}(\mathcal{E}) = \mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{F}_{max})$ and there exists a torsion-free coherent quotient sheaf  $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q}_{min}$  such that  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{E}) = \mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{Q}_{min})$ .  $\mathcal{F}_{max}$  is called maximal  $\alpha$ -destabilizing subsheaf of  $\mathcal{E}$ .

In this section, we prove the following theorems.

84

THEOREM 6.3.3. Let X be a smooth projective manifold,  $\mathcal{E}$  be a reflexive coherent sheaf and  $\alpha = A^{n-1}$  for some ample line bundles A. If  $\mathcal{E}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric, then there exists a decomposition  $\mathcal{E} \cong \mathcal{Q} \oplus \mathcal{G}$  such that

- Q is a hermitian flat vector bundle.
- $\mathcal{G}$  is a reflexive coherent sheaf and  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{G}) > 0$ .

PROOF. We point out  $\mu_{\alpha}^{\min}(\mathcal{E}) \geq 0$  since  $\mathcal{E}$  is pseudo-effective.

The proof is by induction. If  $rk\mathcal{E} = 1$  and  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{E}) = 0$ , then  $\mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{E}) = 0$ . Hence  $c_1(\mathcal{E})A_1 \cdots A_{n-1} = 0$ , we have  $c_1(\mathcal{E}) = 0$ . Since  $\mathcal{E}$  is pseudo-effective,  $\mathcal{E}$  is hermitian flat.

If  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{E}) = 0$ , then we have a torsion-free coherent quotient sheaf  $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{Q}_{min}$  such that  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{E}) = \mu_{\alpha}(\mathcal{Q}_{min}) = 0$ .  $\mathcal{Q}_{min}$  is a reflexive coherent sheaf such that  $c_1(\mathcal{Q}_{min}) = 0$  and  $\mathcal{Q}_{min}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric. By Theorem 5.2.5,  $\mathcal{Q}_{min}$  is a hermitian flat vector bundle. We put  $r' := rk\mathcal{Q}_{min} < rk\mathcal{E}$ . By taking duals, we have

$$0 \to \mathcal{Q}_{\min}^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\phi} \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{K} \to 0,$$

where  $\mathcal{K}$  is a cokernel of  $\phi : \mathcal{Q}_{min}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$ . We have  $\wedge^{r'} \phi \in \operatorname{Hom}(\det(\mathcal{Q}_{min}^{\vee}), \wedge^{r'} \mathcal{E}^{\vee}) \cong H^0(X, (\det(\mathcal{Q}_{min}^{\vee}) \otimes \wedge^{r'} \mathcal{E})^{\vee})$ . Since  $\det(\mathcal{Q}_{min}^{\vee}) \otimes \wedge^{r'} \mathcal{E}$  is pseudo-effective,  $\wedge^{r'} \phi$  is non vanishing on  $X_{\mathcal{E}}$ . Therefore  $\phi|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}} : \mathcal{Q}_{min}^{\vee}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}} \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}$  is an injective bundle morphism and we have  $\mathcal{K}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}$  is a vector bundle. By Theorem 5.1.3 we have

$$\mathcal{E}^{ee}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}\cong\mathcal{Q}^{ee}_{min}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}\oplus\mathcal{K}|_{X_{\mathcal{E}}}$$

From  $codim(X_{\mathcal{E}}) \geq 2$ , we have

$$\mathcal{E}\cong\mathcal{Q}_{min}\oplus\mathcal{K}^{\vee},$$

by taking duals. Since  $rk\mathcal{K}^{\vee} < r$ ,  $\mathcal{K}^{\vee}$  is a reflexive coherent sheaf and  $\mathcal{K}^{\vee}$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric, by induction hypothesis, we have

$$\mathcal{K}^{\vee} \cong \mathcal{Q}' \oplus \mathcal{G},$$

where  $\mathcal{Q}'$  is a hermitian flat vector bundle and  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{G}) > 0$ . Therefore we put  $\mathcal{Q} := \mathcal{Q}_{min} \oplus \mathcal{Q}'$ , which complete the proof.

PROPOSITION 6.3.4. Let X be a smooth projective manifold,  $\mathcal{G}$  be a reflexive coherent sheaf and  $\alpha = A^{n-1}$  for some ample line bundles A. If  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{G}) > 0$ , then  $\mathcal{G}$  is generically ample, i.e.  $\mathcal{G}|_C$  is ample on C for a general curve  $C = D_1 \cap \cdots \cap D_{n-1}$  for general  $D_i \in |m_i A|$  and  $m_i >> 0$ .

**PROOF.** This is a well known to expert. We prove for the readers. We use the following Mehta-Ramanathan's theorem.

THEOREM 6.3.5. [MR82][Miy87] Let X be a smooth projective manifold,  $\mathcal{E}$  be a reflexive coherent sheaf and  $\alpha = A^{n-1}$  for some ample line bundles A For large integer m and general  $Y \in |mA|$ , the maximal  $\alpha_Y$ -destabilizing subsheaf of  $\mathcal{E}|_Y$  extends

### 6. MISCELLANIES

to a saturated subsheaf of  $\mathcal{E}$ , where  $\alpha_Y := (A|_Y)^{n-2}$ . In particular  $\mathcal{E}$  is  $\alpha$ -semistable iff  $\mathcal{E}|_Y$  is  $\alpha_Y$ -semistable.

For any  $1 \leq i \leq n-1$ , we define  $C_i := D_1 \cap \cdots \cap D_i$ . We have  $C_{n-1} = C$  and we put  $C_0 = X$ . For any  $0 \leq i \leq n-1$ , we put  $\alpha_{C_i} := (A|_{C_i})^{n-1-i}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_i$  is defined by a maximal  $\alpha_{C_i}$ -destabilizing subsheaf of  $\mathcal{G}^{\vee}|_{C_i}$ . By Mehta-Ramanathan's theorem, we have  $\mu_{\alpha_{C_i}}(\mathcal{F}_i) \leq \mu_{\alpha_{C_{i-1}}}(\mathcal{F}_{i-1})$  for any  $1 \leq i \leq n-1$ . Hence we have

$$\mu_{\alpha}^{max}(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}|_{C}) = \mu_{\alpha_{C_{n-1}}}(\mathcal{F}_{n-1}) \le \mu_{\alpha_{C_{0}}}(\mathcal{F}_{0}) = \mu_{\alpha}^{max}(\mathcal{G}^{\vee}) < 0$$

Therefore we have  $\mu_{\alpha}^{min}(\mathcal{G}|_C) > 0, \ \mathcal{G}|_C$  is ample.

In particular, we obtain a higher Fujita's decomposition of a direct image sheaf of relative pluricanonical line bundle.

THEOREM 6.3.6. (cf. [Fuj77][CK19]) Let X be a compact Kähler manifold, Y be a smooth projective manifold and  $f: X \to Y$  be a proper surjective morphism with connected fibres. For any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ , we have a higher Fujita's decomposition

$$(f_*(mK_{X/Y}))^{\vee\vee} \cong Q \oplus G,$$

where Q is a hermitian flat vector bundle and G is a generically ample reflexive coherent sheaf.

In particular if Y is a curve, for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ . we have a Fujita's decomposition

$$f_*(mK_{X/Y}) \cong Q \oplus G,$$

where Q is a hermitian flat vector bundle and G is an ample vector bundle.

PROOF. By [Wang19, Theorem B](or [PT18], [HPS18] in case when f is projective),  $f_*(mK_{X/Y})$  has a Griffiths semipositive singular hermitian metric, which completes the proof by Theorem 6.3.3 and Proposition 6.3.4

# Bibliography

- [AS95] U. Angehrn, Y.-T. Siu. Effective freeness and point separation for adjoint bundles. Invent. Math. 122 (1995), no. 2, 291-308.
- [Ati55] M. F. Atiyah. Complex fibre bundles and ruled surfaces, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 5 (1955), 407–434.
- [Ati57] M. F. Atiyah. Vector bundles over an elliptic curve, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 7 (1957), 414–452.
- [BS94] S. Bando, Y.-T. Siu. Stable sheaves and Einstein-hermitian metrics, Geometry and analysis on complex manifolds, 39–50, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1994.
- [BKK+15] T. Bauer, S. J Kovács, A. Küronya, E. C. Mistretta, T. Szemberg, S. Urbinati. On positivity and base loci of vector bundles. Eur. J. Math. 1 (2015), no. 2, 229–249.
- [Bea83] A. Beauville. Variétés Kähleriennes dont la première classe de Chern est nulle, Geometry and analysis on complex manifolds, 39–50, J. Differential Geom. 18 (1983), no. 4, 755–782 (1984).
- [Bea96] A. Beauville. Complex algebraic surfaces. Translated from the 1978 French original by R. Barlow, with assistance from N. I. Shepherd-Barron and M. Reid. Second edition. London Mathematical Society Student Texts. 34 Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (1996). x+132.
- [Ber09] B. Berndtsson. Curvature of vector bundles associated to holomorphic fibrations. Ann. of Math. (2) 169 (2009), no. 2, 531–560.
- [Ber17] B. Berndtsson. Lelong numbers and vector bundles arXiv:1708.06972v1
- [BP08] B. Berndtsson, M. Păun. Bergman kernels and the pseudoeffectivity of relative canonical bundles. Duke Math. J. 145 (2008), no. 2, 341-378.
- [Bla12] J. Blanc. Finite subgroups of the Cremona group of the plane, Autumn School in Algebraic Geometry, Lukecin, Poland, 2012.
- Available at https://www.mimuw.edu.pl/~jarekw/EAGER/pdf/FiniteSubgroupsCremona.pdf
- [Bou04] S. Boucksom. Divisorial Zariski decompositions on compact complex manifolds. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 37 (2004), no. 1, 45–76.
- [BDPP13] S. Boucksom, J.-P. Demailly, M. Păun, T. Peternell. The pseudo-effective cone of a compact Kähler manifold and varieties of negative Kodaira dimension. J. Algebraic Geom. 22 (2013), no. 2, 201–248.
- [Cam92] F. Campana. Connexité rationnelle des variétés de Fano, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 25 (1992), no. 5, 539–545.
- [CP91] F. Campana, T. Peternell. Projective manifolds whose tangent bundles are numerically effective, Math. Ann., 289 (1991), 169–187.
- [Cao17] J.-Y. Cao. Ohsawa-Takegoshi extension theorem for compact Kähler manifolds and applications. Springer INdAM Ser., 21 (2017), 19–38.
- [Cao16] J. Cao. Albanese maps of projective manifolds with nef anticanonical bundles, to appear in Annales Scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, arXiv:1612.05921v3.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [CDM17] J.-Y. Cao, J.-P. Demailly, S. Matsumura. A general extension theorem for cohomology classes on non reduced analytic subspaces. Sci. China Math. 60 (2017), no. 6, 949-962.
- [CH17] J. Cao, A. Höring. A decomposition theorem for projective manifolds with nef anticanonical bundle, to appear in Journal of Algebraic Geometry, arXiv:1706.08814v1.
- [CP17] J. Cao, M. Păun. Kodaira dimension of algebraic fiber spaces over abelian varieties. Invent. Math. 207 (2017), no. 1, 345–387.
- [CM] J. Cao, S. Matsumura. *Projective klt pairs with nef anti-canonical divisor and rationally connected fibrations*, in preparation.
- [CK19] F. Catanese, Y. Kawamata. Fujita decomposition over higher dimensional base. Eur. J. Math. 5 (2019), no. 3, 720–728.
- [CMSB02] K. Cho, Y. Miyaoka, N. I. Shepherd-Barron. Characterizations of projective space and applications to complex symplectic manifolds, Higher dimensional birational geometry. Adv. Stud. Pure Math. Math. Soc. Japan. 35 (2002), 1–88.
- [deC98] M. A. A. de Cataldo. Singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles. J. Reine Angew. Math. 502 (1998), 93–122.
- [Dem82] J.-P. Demailly. Estimations L<sup>2</sup> pour l'opérateur ∂ d'un fibré vectoriel holomorphe semi-positif au-dessus d'une variété kählérienne compléte. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 15 (1982), no. 3, 457–511.
- [Dem92] J.-P. Demailly. Singular hermitian metrics on positive line bundles. Lecture Notes in Math. 1507 (1992), Springer, Berlin. 87–104.
- [Dembook] J.-P. Demailly. Complex analytic and differential geometry. https://www-fourier.ujfgrenoble.fr/ demailly/manuscripts/agbook.pdf
- [Dem12] J.-P. Demailly. Analytic methods in algebraic geometry, Surveys of Modern Mathematics, 1, International Press, Somerville, Higher Education Press, Beijing, (2012).
- [DPS94] J.-P. Demailly, T. Peternell, M. Schneider. Compact complex manifolds with numerically effective tangent bundles. J. Algebraic Geom. 3 (1994), no. 2, 295–345.
- [DPS01] J-P. Demailly, T. Peternell, M. Schneider. Pseudo-effective line bundles on compact Kähler manifolds, Internat. J. Math. 12 (2001), no. 6, 689–741.
- [Deng17] Y. Deng. Applications of the Ohsawa-Takegoshi Extension Theorem to Direct Image Problems. arXiv:1703.07279v2
- [DI09] I. V. Dolgachev, V.A. Iskovskikh. Finite subgroups of the plane Cremona group, Algebra, arithmetic, and geometry, 1, (2009), 443–548.
- [Dut17] Y. Dutta. On the effective freeness of the direct images of pluricanonical bundles. to appear in Annales de l'institut Fourier.
- [DM17] Y. Dutta, T. Murayama. Effective generation and twisted weak positivity of direct images. to appear Algebra and Number Theory.
- [Fuj12] O. Fujino. A transcendental approach to Kollár's injectivity theorem. Osaka J. Math. 49 (2012), no. 3, 833–852.
- [Fuj13] O. Fujino. A transcendental approach to Kollár's injectivity theorem II. J. Reine Angew. Math. 681 (2013), 149–174.
- [Fuj19] O. Fujino. On mixed- $\omega$ -sheaves . arXiv:1908.00171v
- [FujM16] O. Fujino, S. Matsumura. Injectivity theorem for pseudo-effective line bundles and its applications. arXiv:1605.02284v
- [Fuj77] T. Fujita. Some remarks on Kodaira dimensions of fiber spaces. Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. 53 (1977), no. 1, 28–30.
- [FulM19] M. Fulger, T. Murayama. Seshadri constants for vector bundles. arXiv:1903.00610v2

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [GHS03] T. Graber, J. Harris, J. Starr. Families of rationally connected varieties, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (2003), no. 1, 57–67.
- [GR84] H. Grauert, R. Remmert. Coherent analytic sheaves. 265 Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984. xviii+249 pp. ISBN: 3-540-13178-7
- [Gri69] P. A. Griffiths. hermitian differential geometry, Chern classes, and positive vector bundles. 1969 Global Analysis (Papers in Honor of K. Kodaira) pp. 185–251 Univ. Tokyo Press, Tokyo
- [HPS18] C. Hacon, M. Popa, C. Schnell. Algebraic fiber spaces over abelian varieties: around a recent theorem by Cao and Păun, Local and global methods in algebraic geometry, 143–195, Contemp. Math., 712, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2018.
- [Har70] R. Hartshorne. Ample subvarieties of algebraic varieties, Notes written in collaboration with C. Musili. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 156 Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York 1970 xiv+256 pp.
- [Har80] R. Hartshorne. Stable reflexive sheaves, Math. Ann. 254 (1980), no. 2, 121–176.
- [Hör07] A. Höring. Uniruled varieties with split tangent bundle, Math. Z., 256 (2007), no.3, 465–479.
- [Hos17] G. Hosono. Approximations and examples of singular hermitian metrics on vector bundles. Ark. Mat. 55 (2017), no. 1, 131–153.
- [HIM19] G. Hosono, M. Iwai, S. Matsumura. On projective manifolds with pseudo-effective tangent bundle Preprint, arXiv:1908.06421
- [HSW81] A. Howard, B. Smyth, H. Wu. On compact Kähler manifolds of nonnegative bisectional curvature I and II, Acta Math. 147 (1981), no. 1-2, 51–70
- [Iwa17] M. Iwai. On the global generation of direct images of pluri-adjoint line bundles to appear Mathematische Zeitschrift.
- [Iwa18a] M. Iwai. Nadel-Nakano vanishing theorems of vector bundles with singular hermitian metrics to appear Annales -Mathématiques- de la Faculté des sciences de Toulouse.
- [Iwa18b] M. Iwai. Characterization of pseudo-effective vector bundles by singular hermitian metrics, Preprint, arXiv:1804.02146.
- [Kod54] K. Kodaira. On Kähler varieties of restricted type (an intrinsic characterization of algebraic varieties). Ann. of Math. (2) 60 (1954), 28–48.
- [KoMM92] J. Kollár, Y. Miyaoka, S. Mori. Rationally connected varieties, J. Algebraic Geom. 1 (1992), no. 3, 429–448.
- [KM98] J. Kollár, S. Mori. Birational geometry of algebraic varieties. With the collaboration of C. H. Clemens and A. Corti. Translated from the 1998 Japanese original. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. 134 Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. (1998), viii+254.
- [Ku94] O. Kuchle. Ample line bundles on blown up surfaces. Math. Ann. 304 (1996), no. 1, 151–155.
- [Laz04a] R. Lazarsfeld. Positivity in algebraic geometry. I. Classical setting: line bundles and linear series. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics], 48. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (2004), xviii+387.
- [Laz04b] R. Lazarsfeld. Positivity in algebraic geometry. II. Positivity for vector bundles, and multiplier ideals. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics. [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics], 49 Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (2004), xviii+385.
- [Lazi] V. Lazić. Selected Topics in Algebraic Geometry Foliations Available at https://www.math.uni-sb.de/ag/lazic/teach/foliation.pdf
- [Les14] J. Lesieutre. The diminished base locus is not always closed. Compos. Math. 150 (2014), no. 10, 1729–1741.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [LSY13] K. Liu, X. Sun, X. Yang. Positivity and vanishing theorems for ample vector bundles. J. Algebraic Geom. 22 (2013), no. 2, 303–331.
- [Mat16] S. Matsumura. A vanishing theorem of Kollár-Ohsawa type. Math. Ann. 366 (2016), no. 3-4, 1451–1465.
- [Mat18a] S. Matsumura. On morphisms of compact Kähler manifolds with semi-positive holomorphic sectional curvature, Preprint, arXiv:1809.08859v1.
- [Mat18b] S. Matsumura. On the image of MRC fibrations of projective manifolds with semi-positive holomorphic sectional curvature, Preprint, arXiv:1801.09081v1.
- [MR82] V.B. Mehta, A. Ramanathan. Semistable sheaves on projective varieties and their restriction to curves. Math. Ann. 258 (1981/82), no. 3, 213–224.
- [Miy87] Y. Miyaoka. The Chern classes and Kodaira dimension of a minimal variety. Algebraic geometry, Sendai, 1985, 449–476, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 10, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1987.
- [Mok88] N. Mok. The uniformization theorem for compact Kähler manifolds of nonnegative holomorphic bisectional curvature, J. Differential Geom. 27 (1988), no. 2, 179–214.
- [Mor79] S. Mori. Projective manifolds with ample tangent bundles, Ann. of Math. (2) 110 (1979), no. 3, 593–606.
- [MOS+15] R. Muõz, G. Occhetta, L. D. Solá Conde, K. Watanabe, J. A.Wiśniewski. A survey on the Campana-Peternell conjecture, Rend. Istit. Mat. Univ. Trieste 47 (2015), 127–185.
- [Nak04] N. Nakayama. Zariski-decomposition and abundance, MSJ Memoirs, 14. Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 2004. xiv+277 pp. ISBN: 4-931469-31-0.
- [NZ18] L. NI, F. Zheng. Positivity and Kodaira embedding theorem arXiv:1804.09696
- [Ohs84] T. Ohsawa. Vanishing theorems on complete Kähler manifolds. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 20 (1984), no. 1, 21–38.
- [PS14] M. Popa, C. Schnell. On direct images of pluricanonical bundles. Algebra Number Theory. 8 (2014), no. 9, 2273-2295.
- [Pau16] M. Păun. Singular hermitian metrics and positivity of direct images of pluricanonical bundles. arXiv:1606.00174v1
- [PT18] M. Păun, S. Takayama. Positivity of twisted relative pluricanonical divisors and their direct images, J. Algebraic Geom. 27 (2018), 211–272.
- [Rau15] H. Raufi. Singular hermitian metrics on holomorphic vector bundles. Ark. Mat. 53 (2015), no. 2, 359–382.
- [Suw69] T. Suwa. On ruled surfaces of genus 1, J. Math. Soc. Japan 21 (1969) 291–311.
- [SY80] Y.-T. Siu, S.-T. Yau. Compact Kähler manifolds of positive bisectional curvature, Invent. Math. 59 (1980), no. 2, 189–204.
- [Vie83a] E. Viehweg. Weak positivity and the additivity of the Kodaira dimension for certain fibre spaces. Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 1, (1983), North-Holland, Amsterdam. 329–353.
- [Vie83b] E. Viehweg. Weak positivity and the additivity of the Kodaira dimension. II. The local Torelli map. Progr. Math., 39, (1983), Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA. 567–589.
- [Wang19] J. Wang. On the Iitaka Conjecture  $C_{n,m}$  for Kähler Fibre Spaces Preprint, arXiv:1907.06705
- [Yan17] X. Yang. Scalar curvature on compact complex manifolds arXiv:1705.02672